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1.
1.1.

The Performance Report
Overview

The following section provides a brief overview of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, its purpose, the key
risks to the achievement of its objectives and how it has performed during 2019/20. More detailed
information on the performance and activities of the CCG are contained in the subsequent
Performance Analysis section.

1.1.1

Statement from the Chief Executive and Clinical Chair

CCGs have a responsibility to ensure that local people have access to the care and services they
need to stay healthy, receive treatment promptly and to be treated with dignity and compassion.
Our Annual Report details the work that we have done and highlights the areas where we feel we
have made a difference. We are pleased to present this report to you.
Within the document you will find the Performance Report, the Accountability Report and the
Financial Statements. These reports cover the important aspects of what we are trying to do –
namely to ensure excellent care is in place, to do so with good governance and to live within our
financial means.
It is worth noting that the Performance Report comes first, and reminds us that the patient needs to
be at the forefront of all our plans and projects. This is what we are about; this is what we are here
for - to work to improve the health of the people of Eastern Cheshire.
The Performance Report highlights many of the significant achievements of the past year:
 Patients are now able to access appointments with their GP practice seven days a week outside
normal opening hours, thanks to joint working by our practices, GP federations and other
providers.
 We have met the national Mental Health Investment Standard and been named a trailblazer by
NHS England for our work with local authorities and the third sector to support schoolchildren
with significant mental health needs.
 We have helped some of the most vulnerable people in our communities by outstripping all
national targets for the assessment of eligibility for Continuing Healthcare Funding.
 We have hit our targets to tackle antimicrobial resistance by reducing the inappropriate
prescribing of antibiotics.
 Conscious of our environmental responsibilities, our Governing Body voted to treat climate
change as an emergency and to work with partners to develop a five-year Sustainability
Development Plan.
These are just a few examples of the work that has been done and that is ongoing. The full report
provides much more detail and many more examples. We are continually proud of all that we are
doing for the people of Eastern Cheshire.
A hugely significant decision was taken in September 2019 when the Governing Bodies of NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS West Cheshire
CCG agreed to the dissolution of the four organisations and the formation of a single, strategic
commissioning organisation called NHS Cheshire CCG with effect from 1 April 2020. This decision
was made following overwhelming support from Cheshire’s GP practices and from members of the
public who took part in an extensive engagement exercise. The proposed merger was subsequently
approved by NHS England.
We are convinced that the creation of NHS Cheshire CCG is the best way to support the delivery of
more consistent, joined-up care across the county and to give Cheshire a more powerful voice in
championing the needs of local people at regional and national level.
1

In March 2020 the CCG moved quickly to co-ordinate the Cheshire system response to the
Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak to help support and protect local people. As part of the early
response, an Incident Management Team was quickly established containing a number of “cells” each focusing on different, but equally important, areas of the pandemic response.
CCG staff were supported to work from home and a range of system-wide communications were coordinated to ensure GPs, staff, partner organisations and key stakeholders were both able to stay
connected and kept up to date with the Cheshire system response.
I commend to you the final Annual Report of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and look forward to
working with communities, patients and carers across Cheshire to plan and buy outstanding care
that meets your needs.

Clare Watson

Andrew Wilson

Clare Watson
Accountable Officer

Dr Andrew Wilson
Clinical Chair

1.1.2

Purpose and Activities of the Organisation

NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have been responsible for planning, buying and
monitoring local health services since April 2013. CCGs combine the expertise of clinicians including
family doctors (GPs), nurses and NHS managers – putting local doctors and nurses at the heart of
decision-making.
The CCG was responsible for planning, buying and monitoring:
•
GP (family doctor) services – sometimes referred to as “primary care”
•
Planned (or elective) hospital care
•
Urgent and emergency care including “blue light” ambulance services, Accident and Emergency
(A&E) services, NHS 111 (nonemergency line) and out-of-hours services which operate when
GP practices are closed
•
Community health services (e.g. district nursing)
•
Maternity services
•
Older people’s healthcare services
•
Healthcare services for children, including those with complex healthcare needs
•
Rehabilitation services
•
Healthcare services for people with mental health conditions
•
Healthcare services for people with learning disabilities and autism
•
Continuing Healthcare and Funded Nursing Care support for people with complex needs who
require specialist nursing support.
Our aim was to ensure high-quality, affordable patient care which met local need. When making
funding decisions we considered the following key objectives:
•
Improving clinical outcomes
•
Providing joined-up care
•
Caring for patients closer to home
•
Reducing variation in the quality of care from one area to another
We were a membership organisation comprised of 23 member practices. The CCG covered five
“localities”: Alderley Edge, Chelford, Handforth and Wilmslow; Bollington, Disley and Poynton;
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Congleton and Holmes Chapel; Knutsford; and Macclesfield. The total population was circa 210,000
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG’s geographic area fell entirely within the boundary of Cheshire East
Council.
There was one District General Hospital in Macclesfield and two community hospitals (Congleton
and Knutsford). In the main, general acute hospital and community health services including some
public health improvement services were delivered within Eastern Cheshire by East Cheshire NHS
Trust and mental health services by Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
Children’s, families and adult social care services and public health services were commissioned by
Cheshire East Council. The proximity of Eastern Cheshire to Greater Manchester and Staffordshire
provides the Eastern Cheshire population with significant access and choice of general acute
services and access to a range of specialist care providers. There was an innovative model of
providing specialist services locally with larger, specialist hospitals like The Christie Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust enabling chemotherapy to be administered at East Cheshire NHS Trust.
Close relationships existed between the four Cheshire CCGs, NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG, and NHS West
Cheshire CCG which shared a management team and a common Governing Body membership.

1.1.3

Key Issues and Risks

Risks and issues facing the CCG during the year were captured in the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) and were monitored as described in the Corporate Governance section of the
Accountability Report. The key risks outlined in the Board Assurance Framework at March
2020 related to:
 Delivering financial balance
 Quality and sustainability of services
 Commissioning
 Statutory Duties
 Learning Disabilities, Transforming Care
 Adults and Children’s Safeguarding
 Engagement and partnership working
The highest rated risk related to delivering financial balance – “The agreed financial plans present
considerable challenge across the local system because of increasing demand and costs compared
to the resources available. As a result we did not meet our agreed system-wide control total in year
and the overall financial trajectory will not be complied with, meaning statutory financial duties will
not be met.”
At the March 2020 meeting of the Governing Body it was also agreed that an additional risk relating
to the Covid-19 pandemic response be added to the GBAF. The level or risk of each entry on the
GBAF has also been reviewed in light of the impact of the pandemic.

Going concern
The accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. Public sector bodies are assumed to
be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will
continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining
whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having
joined with NHS South Cheshire, NHS Vale Royal and NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Groups with effect from 1 April 2020. This followed confirmation from the Regional Director, NHS
3

North West on 6 March 2020 that the conditions of merger applied when the North West Regional
Support Group approved in principle the CCGs’ application to dissolve and create NHS Cheshire
CCG.

1.1.4

Performance Summary

NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS West
Cheshire CCG jointly produced Working together across Cheshire - Our Plan 2019/20.
This was the first time that the four NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) across Cheshire
had developed a joint plan to bring together the commissioning (planning, buying and monitoring) of
health services across the county. This symbolises our determination to ensure that the people of
Cheshire are able to access consistently good care – wherever they live – and to work together to
deliver the priorities outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan. Delivery against key areas of the Plan is
outlined in the following Performance Summary.

Urgent and Emergency Care
In 2019/20 we said we would:
• Work closely with Cheshire’s two local authorities and three A&E Delivery Boards to help improve
performance.
• Develop alternatives to A&E to help reduce bed occupancy, delayed transfers of care and the
number of “stranded” patients (i.e. patients who have been in hospital for seven days or more).
• Work collaboratively with commissioners across the region to help improve ambulance
performance.
During 2019/20 the local health care system continued to operate within the Capped Expenditure
Process (CEP) principles supported by NHS England (NHSE) and NHS Improvement (NHSI).
Throughout 2019/20 the local urgent care system has experienced an increase of 5% in demand for
Type 1 attends, compared to the previous year.
 Increased attendances are mainly from adult and frail age groups. Local health economy
partners have worked together to remove barriers; deliver efficiencies and financial savings
whilst maintaining consistent levels of quality.
 The national 4-hour target for Emergency Departments (ED) has remained a challenge,
particularly during the winter months with performance for 19-20 achieving 74.5% compared to
the 95% national target. Streaming is undertaken in ED, directing people to the most
appropriate resource to deal with their needs.
 The national target for Delays in Transfer of Care (DTOC) is 3.5%. Partners have worked
together to facilitate timely discharges achieving performance for the year to date of 5.8%.
 The A&E Delivery Board is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of East Cheshire NHS Trust
along with executive level managers from organisations within the local health and social care
system. This includes NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group, East Cheshire
NHS Trust (Macclesfield District General Hospital), Cheshire East Council (Social Care),
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (Mental Health) and North West
Ambulance Service (Emergency Paramedic Transport & NHS 111). Primary care (GPs), NHS
England and NHS Improvement are also represented.
 Partners across the health and social care system are working together on the Urgent and
Emergency Care Improvement Plan to improve the national 4-hour A&E Standard and reduce
the time that people are delayed in hospital. The plan is focused on four key areas:
(1) Care Communities
 Flu Immunisation, Pulmonary Rehabilitation, & Smoking Cessation
 National Early Warning Signs
 Living well for longer
(2) Assessment prior to admission
 Alternatives to attendance/conveyance to A&E
 Same Day Emergency Care
 Time to speciality review in A&E
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(3) Doing Todays Work today
 Implementing the Improving Patient Flow guidance
 Hospital staff continue to work with ECIST (Emergency Care Intensive Support Team) to
review admissions of 21 days or more to ensure discharge planning is underway, barriers are
addressed early and home first is focused on.
(4) Home First
 Working towards a joined-up approach to hospital discharge arrangements with agreed
pathways and processes.
 Rapid response to home care - Working in partnership with Cheshire East Council we have
commissioned Independent Transfer of Care Co-ordinators. This team provides additional
resource for Care Homes to access, enabling trusted assessments to be undertaken on
current and new admissions to facilitate timely care home admissions.

Planned (or elective) Care
In 2019/20 we said we would:
• Use nationally-available benchmarking data to develop and implement plans which improve
performance against national targets.
• Work together across Cheshire to share examples of best practice and support each other to help
manage demand.
During the year:
 Work took place using data produced by RightCare to identify five priority areas across Cheshire
where we are currently underperforming against our peers across the Country; these include
Cardiology, Gastroenterology, Neurology, Respiratory and Trauma & Injuries.
 Work took place across Primary, Secondary and Community care to identify schemes that will
increase efficiency, improve performance and provide a better quality experience for our
patients. This work will continue into 2020/21.
 Work also took place on the Musculoskeletal (MSK) pathway across Cheshire to understand the
models currently in place as well as looking at national best practice to redesign a new service
which will provide a single approach to service delivery across Cheshire, reducing inequality in
access to services.
 Discussions are taking place with the Trusts across Cheshire to reduce the number of face to
face outpatient appointments and follow up appointments in line with the Long Term Plan. West
Cheshire has been working closely with the Cheshire and Merseyside Elective Care
Transformation Group to identify innovative ways of working within the areas of Ophthalmology,
Rheumatology, Cardiology and Urology. Learning gained from this work will be combined with
learning across the wider Cheshire footprint in order to roll out this where applicable. This will
continue into 2020/21.

Cancer
In 2019/20 we said we would:
• Develop and implement a Cheshire Cancer Strategy which includes screening programmes and
empowers people to present earlier with cancer signs and symptoms.
• Promote, encourage and empower people to adopt healthier lifestyles.
During the year we continued to deliver on the Eastern Cheshire Cancer Strategy 2016 – 2020 and
are beginning to formulate a Cancer Strategy for Cheshire for 2021 - 2026. Cancer outcomes and
patient experience have remained very good over the year. Cancer performance has been
challenged but with some focus and transformation is beginning now to improve. These can be
viewed within the constitutional standards and NHS Oversight Framework sections. Cancer will
affect 1 in 2 people.
 We have locally seen a significant increase in the number of people being diagnosed early with
cancer where quality of life and survival are significantly better.
 We were among the 20 most improved CCGs in England for the fourth consecutive year in
relation to 1 year survival from cancer.
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Much work has been carried out over the last year to improve cancer outcomes further. This has
included:
Cancer Prevention and Early Diagnosis
 The Action on Cancer Programme in the Central area of Cheshire is beginning to work in Eastern
Cheshire to engage, educate and work with our local population, community and local
professionals to recognise and act on earlier signs and symptoms of cancer and engage with
cancer screening programmes. A bid has been approved by the Cancer Alliance to extend this
fully to Eastern and West Cheshire.
 We delivered specific information and support to primary care to enable earlier recognition and
diagnosis of cancer.
 We worked alongside our GP practices to contact people who have not participated in bowel
screening to provide further information on bowel screening, answer any questions they may
have and explain the importance of this screening programme.
 We are implementing a text messaging service to ladies who have not participated in the cervical
screening programme to encourage their engagement.
Faster Diagnosis
 We are working with the Cancer Alliance and local hospital to develop a Rapid Diagnostic Centre
for people with significant but non-specific symptoms that could be cancer.
 We have worked with the Cancer Alliance and our local hospital to put in place best practice
pathways (optimal pathways) to enable people to have the right tests to be able to either
diagnose or rule out a cancer quicker.
 We put in place a pilot to test new posts, cancer navigators, to support patients while they are
having the right tests to either diagnose or rule out a cancer.
 We are about to implement Faecal Immunochemical Tests for people with low risk bowel cancer
symptoms for GPs to support clinical management and rule out cancer.
 We updated all the referral forms that GPs use when referring a patient they suspect could have
cancer. This has supported GP decision making and enables the hospital to manage the patient
in the best way, some now able to go straight to a test to understand the risk of cancer.
Better Treatment
 We implemented a service to deliver adjuvant bisphosphonates to post-menopausal, early staged
breast cancer women to support good bone health and reduce the risk of secondary disease.
 We are working with the Christie in the plans to open a new cancer centre in Macclesfield. This
will provide Radiotherapy, more chemotherapy, oncology trials and more outpatient support. This
is due to be open in September 2021.
Personalised Care
 We developed supported self-management pathways for breast, colorectal and prostate cancer
patients following treatment.
 We are working with Macmillan to introduce holistic needs assessments, care plans and health
and wellbeing support for all cancer patients around care communities. This includes upskilling
more community professionals and volunteer networks on cancer and introducing cancer nurse
specialist skills into primary care.

End of Life (EOL) Care
We are working with the NHS, the local authority, a third sector partner and local people to transform
End of Life (EOL) Care; improving patient and carer experience as well as supporting the clinicians
across all care settings to deliver high quality, effective, co-ordinated and timely care and to support
and evaluate a change in public knowledge, attitude and behaviour towards death, dying and loss.
Embracing the national strategy, Ambitions for End of Life and Palliative Care, our local Cheshire
Collaborative Plan for EOL has delivered Year 3 of an ambitious work plan to improve end of life
care including:
 Increasing the number of conversations with people at EOL to understand their personal needs
and preferences (Advanced Care Planning)
 Better care co-ordination and shared electronic information for people at End of life including,
with consent, electronic sharing of important needs and wishes across care settings.
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 Enabling more people to die in the Preferred Place of Care.
 Flexible, resilient and compassionate workforce delivering End of life Care across all care
settings. A large number of short courses, education modules and accredited study provided on
EOL to local professionals.
 Carer support and carers engagement with opportunities of events / courses offered to bereaved
carers.
 Developing communities to care. A number of Compassionate Communities with befriending
schemes have been established across the CCG areas.
 A new EOL care at home partnership has been formed and proven to deliver timely and high
quality care at home for people who are eligible for Fast Track (EOL) Continuing Healthcare
Funding whose preferred place of death is their own home. There are plans in place to put this
single model of coordinated care for people at EOL in place across Cheshire.
 e-Paige is a one-stop electronic platform bringing together resources, including education
modules, on EOL Care gathered from a wide network of local, regional and national sources and
aligned to individual stages of the patient pathway. Documentation is available that is always up
to date for Advanced Care Planning, Resuscitation, Anticipatory Prescribing, Referral forms for
local services and Patient information. This has been updated and is about to launch patient and
public access to helpful information about EOL Care.
 We are about to launch a revised EOL collaborative plan for Cheshire for 2020 – 2025. This
includes some ambitious plans that will support all partners and our community to work together
to support improved EOL Care for our local people.
 We worked with the Local Authority and Public Health to develop a Population Needs
Assessment for EOL Care. This is published in the Joint Strategic Needs assessment for both
Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council.
Long-term conditions
In 2019/20 we said we would:
• Ensure services are available to support early detection and ongoing management of long-term
conditions.
• Promote self-care, self-management and prevention.
Diabetes
 We worked with NHSE across Cheshire and Merseyside to improve screening for people at risk
of diabetes and onward referral to the National Diabetes Prevention programme.
 We have continued to offer education programmes for people at risk of developing diabetes and
for people diagnosed with type 1 and type 2 diabetes.
 We have worked with partners to continue to improve patient experience when admitted to acute
care by:
1. Supporting the recruitment of a diabetes in patient specialist nurse, reducing medication errors
and supporting patients to self-medicate whilst an inpatient.
2. Improved pathways to reduce the length of stay for diabetic patients
3. Improved acute staff education and training by in-patients diabetes specialist nurses
 We worked with practice nurses and primary care to improve treatment and care with more
robust monitoring in line with NICE clinical guidance.
 Patient engagement events have also been an invaluable resource in the work around the review
our Cheshire wide Insulin Pump services for 20/21
Respiratory
 Following the provision of RightCare data, we are working with our Primary Care Networks and
partners to develop plans to meet local needs and target areas of inequality which will continue in
2020/21 and includes:
1. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) case finding and accurate diagnosis - We are
currently reviewing and piloting schemes to support improvements in the diagnosis of
respiratory disease through improved testing.
2. Medicines optimisation - We have worked with primary care to makes sure people are on the
right treatment for their condition.
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3. Improved access to pulmonary rehabilitation - We are working with health partners and leisure
services to consider different approaches to improve access and reduce waiting times and
support patients to self-manage their condition.
4. Access to smoking cessation support - We have worked in partnership with Cheshire East
Council to re-procure lifestyle services and developed associated pathways that support long
term self-care.
5. Increasing skills of the workforce to support patient review in primary care.
6. Self-care - We have been working with leisure services to improve access to activity
programmes that are suitable for those with long term conditions.

Women and Children
Women and children’s health services include maternity services and services which support young
carers and disabled children and young people. The NHS Long Term Plan calls for action to be
accelerated to help halve stillbirths, maternal mortality, neo-natal mortality and serious brain injury.
In 2019/20 we said we would:
 Work with partners to implement the recommendations of The National Maternity Review: Better
Births – Improving Outcomes of maternity services in England (NHS England, 2016).
 Continue to focus on Public Health outcomes, such as smoking, obesity and breastfeeding, as
part of our ongoing “fit for pregnancy” work.
 Build on our previous work to ensure young carers are not negatively impacted by their caring
role.
 Work closely with the two Cheshire local authorities and key health providers to ensure the
needs of disabled children and young people and those with special educational needs are met.
 Work to ensure health services for children and young people are age-appropriate, close to
home and bring together physical and mental health.
Some of the developments we have achieved in 2019/20, often working in partnership with our two
Local Authorities, voluntary and third sector, parents/ carers and children and young people have
included the following:
 Following the Joint Area SEND Inspection in Cheshire East there has been significant
development work in the past 12 months, which has included the publication of an Integrated
Autism Service Specification and Autism Pathway. This was informed by the publication of an
Autism Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and an All Age Autism Strategy. There has
been focussed work to reduce waiting times for an autism assessment, working collectively with
partners, young people and families to ensure a single equitable offer across Cheshire East. So
that:
 All children/young people waiting in March 2018 in Eastern Cheshire have now been seen.
 Across Eastern Cheshire for the 4-19 service as at 23rd January 2020 there were a total of 65
children/young people waiting less than 12-weeks.
 We are able to demonstrate positive outcomes for children, young people and their
parents/families through the completion and monitoring of satisfaction questionnaires following
the assessment process and diagnostic feedback.
 We worked with local charities to bring in more specialist support and training for parents and
carers of children either awaiting diagnosis or with a confirmed autism diagnosis. Two of the
staff in the assessment team have been nominated by parents for the Autism Professionals
Award 2020.
 Feedback from parents and families who attended the training programme(s) is very positive
(questionnaires are completed pre and post training).
 There was a great deal of work to support the delivery of Priority 4 of the Cheshire East Children
and Young People’s Plan: Being Healthy and Making Positive Choices
 On 21st August over 40 children and young people attended the Summer Activity Day to learn
about the new Cheshire East Children and Young People’s Plan and have their say about
each outcome of the plan. During the morning activities children and young people worked
with outcome leads of the plan on canvases to draw, write, paint and discuss.
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 The children and young discussed and articulated what positive choices they could make to
lead a balanced and healthy life.
 Some of the work across Cheshire over the past year to support this has included:
 0-19 Health and Wellbeing Service - enables children and young people across Cheshire
East to access a range of services quickly to ensure they achieve their full potential as
adults, including:
• support from health visiting and family nurse partnership team including supporting the
transition to parenthood
• Parenting Journey - regular health reviews at key points during the child's development
• Cherubs infant feeding support
• Managing minor illness and prevention of accidents
• School nursing and immunisations
• Work with primary and secondary schools on nutrition, oral health and contraception
• Advice on weight management support for children, young people and their families and
refer on to appropriate services
• Awareness raising around drugs, alcohol and smoking
• Support for young carers
 Smoking in Pregnancy – Local Action:
• Identify champions
• Communication strategy: share success
• Pharmacy pathway
• Ease referral pathway
• Maternity voices: feedback
• VBA training for all staff (every 2yrs)
• Maternity Units: gap analysis
 Successful bid awarded in 2019/20 to deliver a Mental Health Trailblazer Programme, to
provide:
 A comprehensive training programme to provide signposting; delivery of focused and
evidence based mental health and wellbeing interventions
 2 x Mental health support teams (MHSTs) to work with identified primary and secondary
Schools across the West Cheshire and Cheshire East.
 The service will cover a total pupil population size of 6,000 – 8,000 children across each
patch.
 Recruited trainees will start in their placements from spring 2020.
 Wider stakeholder engagement is ongoing in order to establish joined up pathways.
 Improved collaboration between schools and mental health services.

Mental Health
In the Working together across Cheshire “Our Plan 2019/20” the Cheshire CCGs set out to continue
the commitment to delivering the aims of the Mental Health Five Year Forward View and Mental
Health Investment Standard.
 This year saw the introduction of the NHS England Long Term Plan for Mental Health, a
continuation of the planning in the Five Year Forward View, which Cheshire CCGs continued to
work closely with system partners to develop plans to ensure the ambitious targets, set out by
NHS England are delivered.
 Despite a challenging economic position locally, as well as nationally, the Cheshire CCGs all met
the Mental Health Investment Standard, making key investment across a range of partners from
our acute mental health trust to innovative community partners.
 Collectively as Cheshire CCGs, we met the nationally mandated targets for Early Intervention
Psychosis Services, and been successful in securing further additional funding to enhance these
services to provide additional employment support.
 Cheshire CCGs continued to support the development of community services which offer care
and support closer to home.
 During January 2020 Mulberry and Silk Wards were opened in Macclesfield. The opening of the
two units forms part of wider local improvements, which means local people can now access
9










enhanced community mental health services and 24/7 mental health crisis care. These new
services will support more people to continue their lives, with support, in the community whilst
providing high quality hospital care when needed.
During 2019/20 Cheshire CCGs built on the progress of Cheshire and Merseyside Health and
Care Partnership on services best commissioned at regional level by developing New Care
Models for Personality Disorder and CAMHS Tier 4 (inpatient) services. Both of these
developments will impact how we plan and deliver care during 2020/21.
A central part of the Cheshire CCGs plans for 2019/20 has been providing better access to highquality care with a particular focus on Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) and
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services.
The work on planning for faster access to IAPT services continues into 2020, within significant
investments being made into strengthening the workforce, aligned to NHS England’s workforce
plan. Within Cheshire, this will look and feel like the development of Wellbeing Hubs, so ensure
fast access to a range of psychological support.
Cheshire CCGs are working in partnership with Local Authority colleagues and many teams from
the third sector to further develop and enhance access to children and young people’s mental
health and wellbeing services. This year the Cheshire CCGs were particularly delighted to
become a Trailblazer for NHS England’s Mental Health Support Teams, which will support
schools where Cheshire young people have the greatest need.
Going into 2020/21 work continues on focused early interventions and ensuring that services are
joined up, across care pathways and with physical health.

Learning Disabilities, Autism and Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
In 2019/20 we said we would:
• Develop and implement a Cheshire Learning Disability and Autism Strategy.
• Improve diagnostic services and ensure increasingly holistic care for children and young people
with autism.
• Continue to work closely with local authority partners and key health providers to support a
joined-up approach to meet the needs of disabled children and young people and those with
special educational needs.
During the year:
 We developed and implemented both a Cheshire East Learning Disability Strategy and Cheshire
East and all age Autism Strategy in 2019/20.
 We agreed a single Autism Assessment Diagnostic Pathway across the whole of Cheshire. This
pathway and specification has been agreed by all providers who are commissioned to deliver an
Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC) assessment.
 Additional investment into this ASC Assessment was secured and the following posts were
recruited to:
 Specialist Speech and Language Therapy resource into the multidisciplinary team (MDT) and
some additional administration resource. This has ensured that the ASC assessment is NICE
compliant. This resource has ensured there is a co-ordinated response around assessment
and diagnosis and the development of monthly data returns against some Key performance
Indicators. This ensures we have a clear picture of prevalence and any waiting time for
diagnosis.
 A holistic approach was implemented through significant funding to community 3rd sector
providers who are now delivering robust pre/post diagnostic training and support programmes
which are receiving very positive feedback from families.
 Investment was secured to commission a pre and post diagnostic service across the area.
Parents were involved in the procurement exercise. The pre and post diagnostic support has
been in operation since February 2020. Initial feedback is already positive. Further work to
communicate this offer is being undertaken.
 The Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) for SEND is an integral part of the local areas offer to
ensure the needs of disabled children and those with special educational needs are identified
early and their needs met. The DCO co-locates within the local authority to support a joined-up
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approach. The DCO monitors timeliness and quality of health input into Education, health and
Care plans, ensuring the needs of the whole child are met.
 Annual health checks for children and young people with a learning disability are reported on
monthly. Parental and young people awareness of their eligibility for an annual health check has
been communicated through the Parent Carer Forums and Transition events. The percentage of
young people receiving an annual health check is rising.
 We continued to work closely with local authority partners and key health providers to support a
joined-up approach to meet the needs of disabled children and young people and those with
special educational needs. The SEND inspection revisit for Cheshire East is currently anticipated
to take place in 2020. NHS England and Department for Education representatives have noted
that much progress has been made against the Written Statement of Action issued after the
inspection in 2018. They noted accelerated progress particularly over the last 6 months and that
partnership working has improved and developed and this has supported improvement to the
SEND system.
You said – We Did
1. Parents asked for training around Sensory processing – We delivered 2 information sessions
around sensory processing at the Parent Carer Forum (PCF) events.
2. Parents asked for updates on their PCF survey - CAMHS attended the event in October and
presented updates and answered questions.

Primary Care and Community Health
In 2019/20 we said we would:
• Support GP practices to come together as Primary Care Networks to explore the benefits of
collaborative working.
• Improve access to primary care and the range of services available both during and outside
normal opening hours.
• Work to ensure GP practice buildings enable a greater range of services to be delivered and are
able to meet the demands of a growing population.
During the year:
 CCG primary care staff were aligned to support both Cheshire West and Cheshire East
Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs), as well as some staff remaining within the CCG to deliver
the core contract delivery priorities. Those aligned staff are now an important and integrated part
of the ICP’s Primary Care Development delivery priorities. This commitment and integration will
continue to deepen during the next 12 months, with staff remaining within the CCG continuing to
commission and ensure the commissioning of high quality primary care (general practice
services).
 All 4 CCGs commissioned extended access to primary care services 7 days a week outside of
usual opening hours. This is an effective collaborative approach to delivery involving a mixture of
local practices, GP Federations and other providers. We continue to work to evolve this model to
reflect a single approach to extended access to the new Cheshire CCG.
Primary Care Development – East Place
 The CCG Primary Care Development Team in East continued to support the 9 Primary Care
Networks (PCNs) across East place which were all successfully authorised during 2019/20.
 All Cheshire East PCNs continued to make good progress. PCNs are developing plans that align
to the Cheshire East Integrated Care Partnership (CEICP) strategic priorities, namely,
Respiratory disease, Cardiovascular Health and Mental Health and wellbeing including social
prescribing. Work is ongoing to firm up the details of these areas as well as ensuring alignment of
priorities with Local authority and other provider partners.
 In addition, local projects to support local population health needs continued to progress. In
February the Crewe Care Community successfully launched their Lyndsey Leg Club. This is a
multi-disciplinary service that supports local patients in a community based setting with lower leg
conditions. The club is run by volunteers from the Crewe community and is provided for by district
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and practice nursing teams. The aim is to increase the healing rate for lower leg conditions and
reduce the social isolation that many people experience.
 Across South Cheshire all 4 PCNs had social prescribing link workers (SPLWs) in post who were
working in partnership with the practices to support and sign post patients appropriately through
alternative services. A further 2 SPLWs were in post or were being recruited to across Eastern
Cheshire PCNs.
 PCNs are now in the planning phase for additional workforce roles for the second year of the
DES. The outcomes of these conversations will be dependent on the publication of the final DES
(Direct Enhanced Services Contract) specifications for 2020/21.
 The CCG secured a package of PCN Development support from the Advancing Quality Alliance
(AQuA) for practices and PCNs across the Cheshire East ICP footprint. This offer includes
facilitated staff engagement support, relationship building, leadership coaching and developing
PCN culture. This offer has now been taken up by a number of PCNs and runs until April 2020.
Other PCNs have accessed support via Primary Care Commissioning (PCC) or Primary Care
Direct.
PPG Quick Start Programme
 GP Practices across the Eastern Cheshire CCG foot print completed wave 9 Productive GP
Practice Quick Start programme, which forms part of NHS England’s “Time to Care” package of
support to GP practices. The benefits for practices in undertaking the programme are releasing
time; creating headspace; build capacity and confidence to address current and future pressures;
introduce tools and techniques which can be put into practice again and again. Practices carried
out either practice or PCN based projects looking at appropriate appointments, frequent
attenders, clear job standards and efficient processes. As a result of the 3 month programme,
changes have been made in practice.

Continuing Healthcare and Complex Care
In 2019/20 we said we would:
 Work with partners, including local authority teams, to ensure all patients are assessed,
reviewed and case-managed in line with national targets.
 Ensure all key performance metrics are achieved.
In 2019/20 the Cheshire & Wirral NHS Continuing Healthcare Services continued its transformation
journey as 1 of 10 CCGs acting as a development partner in NHS England’s Strategic Improvement
Programme (SIP) the service was involved in 4 work streams:
1. The initial care pathway – considering when and how to screen individuals for NHS CHC
assessment.
2. Digitalisation - The service has informed the development of the Digital Service Specification
(unpublished). The service is a NHSE best practice case study for its innovation and
implementation of digital tools and work towards an end to end digital system this includes a
digital workflow management system electronic case management system. In early 2020 the
service launched the ability to process fast Track applications though this as well. The digital
domain of the Maturity Matrix is informing the future developments of digital infrastructure for the
future.
3. Development model – the service have been involved in the production of the development
model, a one stop shop for all things NHS CHC, this links to the Maturity Matrix that was released
in 2019/20.
4. Workforce development. The service has introduced the NHS England CHC competency
Framework, and is working with NHS England as a pilot to refine and revise this.
 The service was successful in securing funding to develop a patient portal which will allow
patients access to their application and assessment information and provide a direct route to
appeal, this is being developed as a partnership through NHS England Digital Pioneers.
 Through co-creation and design at two all staff events a Strategic Plan was produced.
 A Service Specification was also developed in 2019.
 The service worked to achieve the NHS England Quality Premium targets of:
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Less than 15% of CHC assessments taking place within an acute trust. This has been
achieved across all 4 Cheshire CCG’s within the service consistently for the past 28 months.
 A minimum of 80% of NHS CHC assessments to be completed within 28 days. NHS England
activity assurance for Quarter 3 showed all Cheshire CCG’s to be meeting this target at 80%
or above.
 No patients waiting over 12 weeks for a decision on CHC eligibility. NHS England activity
assurance for Quarter 3 showed all Cheshire CCG’s to be meeting this target with no patients
waiting over 12 weeks for a decision on CHC eligibility. Average waiting time has reduced to
28 days from the average time of 36 days in 2018/19.
Fast track performance ensuring that fast track applications are accepted as eligible was above
90% for all Cheshire CCGs. Fast track applications increased overall by 6% for Eastern Cheshire,
reduced by 9% for South Cheshire, reduced 9% for Vale Royal, increased by 22% for West
Cheshire. Work is ongoing to consider alternative end of life pathways to avoid the use of fast
track CHC funding and provide responsive care at the time of patient need in different ways.
NHS England worked with Deloittes to produce “cluster” groups of CCGs with demographically
similar characteristics, such as disease prevalence, proportion of individuals living in a rural
community, levels of deprivation and ethnic diversity. The Cheshire CCGs are all within cluster
group 2. The assurance metric analysed by cluster is the number eligible for CHC including Fast
Tracks (snapshot) at the end of the Quarter for standard CHC per 50,000 of population. CCGs in
the upper and lower 5% in their Cluster group have been identified and will be investigated further
by NHS England. None of the services within Cheshire CCGs fall into these categories.
Personal Health Budget (PHB) numbers continued to increase. The service has extended the
PHB offer to include section 117 and section 17 Mental Health Act (2007) eligible individuals. The
service have been commended by NHS England for this work and have been asked to provide a
patient story demonstrating the implementation of PHB’s for this client group.
Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes were on track and exceeding
targets across the service.
The service made significant improvements to contracting processes, had revised funding
request procedures and enabled improved negotiation with providers resulting in better value for
money. Benchmarked market rates were informing commercial discussions delivering savings on
exiting packages and new packages of care. Market engagement events were used to shape the
market in order to be able to commission the care the population needs.
The Transforming Care Project had discharged 50% of the original Learning Disabilities Cohort
from independent hospitals into locally based bespoke services. NHS England commended the
work to achieve this.
Student Nurses joined the service on placement for the first time in 2019 from Glyndwr University.
Further student placements are planned for this coming year.














Safeguarding
To ensure the CCG is fulfilling its statutory duties in relation to safeguarding adults, children and
looked after children we said that in 2019/20 we would:
• Continue to provide safeguarding leadership and advice across the local health economies.
• Make arrangements alongside safeguarding partners to identify and review any serious child
safeguarding reviews.
As commissioners our prime responsibility is to protect children and adults within our CCG footprint
by operating in accordance with statutory guidance, and by taking account of our responsibility to
assure ourselves that the organisations that we commission health services from have effective
safeguards in place and provide the highest possible standards of care. We recognise that
safeguarding is a shared responsibility and promotes effective joint working between all agencies
and professionals by sharing and learning from different roles and specialist expertise.
Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance
The duties and standards in relation to safeguarding are set within NHS England Safeguarding
Accountability & Assurance Framework (July 2019),which provides clear safeguarding standards
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against which we monitor healthcare providers to ensure all service users are protected from abuse
and the risk of abuse.
During 2019/20 the CCG continued to drive the safeguarding agenda by ensuring that the services it
commissions have the necessary systems, processes, policies and procedures in place to protect
and safeguard children and adults at risk. This continues to be achieved by:
 Using a single set of commissioning standards for safeguarding children and adults at risk across
the four CCGs and two local authorities (Cheshire West and Chester Council and Cheshire East
Council).
 Increasing our effectiveness in monitoring the quality of care provided in care homes by sharing
information and resources across health and social care.
 Reviewing our safeguarding policies and processes in line with adults and children’s
safeguarding statutory guidance.
 Confirming provider training compliance to ensure that all of our responsibilities are clearly
understood.
 Providing highly specialised advice to the CCG’s, NHS England, Local Authorities, Local
Safeguarding Children Boards, Child Death Overview Panels, Local Safeguarding Adults Board
and the Community Safety Partnerships.
 Providing advice and support for health professionals in provider organisations and our primary
care contractors.
 Working with our GP Safeguarding Leads to undertake a ‘Think Family’ approach to training.
 Educating professionals to understand the challenges of hoarding through a conference
 Harnessing our Adult and Children’s safeguarding knowledge to speak at a NHS England North
Region conference
 Expanding the Adult E-Learning programme and working with Health Education England to
develop a national Level 3 E-Learning platform
 Continuing to strengthen partnerships across the North Region to standardise working practices
in key areas such as Contextualised Safeguarding and PREVENT
 Ensuring that safeguarding processes are robust within the third sector providers commissioned
by the CCG by providing safeguarding advice and support to the provider leads. This provides
assurance of an identification and reporting system along with compliance of the Mental Capacity
Act 2005
 Rewarding staff/public members for their dedication to their role/service by holding an awards
ceremony hosted by Cheshire East Council.
New Safeguarding Children’s Arrangements
2019/20 saw the significant priority of designing the new national safeguarding children
arrangements with a deadline for publication in every area by June 29th 2019. This arrangement
was per recommendations in The Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together 2018.
An agreement was reached to replace the Local Safeguarding Children Boards with Local
Safeguarding Children Partnerships. The three key safeguarding partners of the CCG, Cheshire
Police and Local Authorities now collectively hold responsibility for safeguarding to work together
with relevant agencies for the purpose of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. These
new partnership arrangements were published and implemented successfully.
Serious Case Reviews/Safeguarding Practice Reviews
From June 2019 Serious Case Reviews were renamed Safeguarding Practice Reviews which are to
be conducted in a more locally determined way. A review will not be commissioned where a recent
review has focused on similar themes to avoid duplication. There will be equal emphasis on
ensuring that learning is embedded in practice rather than embarking on repeating the same
learning. Ofsted published guidance on how Safeguarding Children Partnerships should report a
serious incident of child abuse or neglect, or the death of a child who is looked after. From 29th June
2018 there has been a requirement for all areas in England to notify the National Safeguarding
Practice Review Panel within 5 working days of becoming aware of a serious incident; and a review
of the case has to be undertaken with 15 working days of the partners being made aware of the
incident. In order to comply with this requirement the Local Partnership Boards have reviewed their
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process for notification and consideration of serious incidents. This process has been published and
implemented successfully. The process for Domestic Homicide Reviews and Serious Adult Reviews
remains the same.

1.2
1.2.1

Performance Analysis
Performance and discharge of duties

The section below highlights how the CCG has delivered its priorities and statutory duties; how we
have performed against key performance indicators; and our view of the progress to date. This is not
an exhaustive list but seeks to provide the reader with a flavour of our work during 2019/20.

1.2.2

Developments during the Year

To ensure the CCG focussed its efforts and resources in the most efficient and effective way and
deliver maximum impact, we made a number of changes to way we worked during 2019/20. During
the last few weeks of 2019/20 the CCG was instrumental in organising the local response to the
coronavirus pandemic.
The four Cheshire CCGs appointed a single executive management team and worked through a
management of change process to appoint the necessary capacity and capability to delivery
strategic, integrated commissioning across this footprint.
Each of the developing ICPs has had an input to the structures that are being proposed as have
both local authorities. Structures, especially around Strategy & Partnerships, have been created to
enable swift integration with the ultimate aim of pooled budgets, shared outcomes and joint
responsibility for delivery. Plans are in place to develop Joint Commissioning Boards on a place
basis that will hold each ICP to account and use new system wide contractual mechanisms to result
in greater integration and place based delivery.
During the year, the four CCGs worked together collaboratively on a shared organisational
development (OD) agenda to pool available resources and to begin the process of shaping the new
health and care system in Cheshire.
For 2019/20 our approach to developing commissioning intentions for the first time considered these
from a system perspective and is seen as a starting point to becoming a more integrated health and
care system. Therefore, we intend to continue to identify areas where there is benefit in delivering
change on a Cheshire footprint, although implementation may need to be tailored to a community
level, and our system commissioning intentions aim to:
 Set the principles for the development of organisational operational plans;
 Inform the priorities of our enabling programmes; and
 Direct the deployment and management of our resources.
In the last commissioning and contracting cycle decisions were taken collaboratively through our
system wide fora including Programme Boards and Partnership Boards which are made up of
commissioners, providers, voluntary sector and other key partners.
During the year, the memberships of the four Cheshire CCGs - NHS Eastern Cheshire, NHS South
Cheshire, NHS Vale Royal and NHS West Cheshire CCGs – agreed to merge in April 2020 and
applied to NHS England to progress with the merger.
Following NHS England and Improvement’s approval of the merger application, the CCGs reviewed
and aligned the CCGs’ decision making and governance structures to enable a smooth transition to
NHS Cheshire CCG by April 2020. To achieve this, a two phased approach has been implemented:
 Phase 1 - January to March 2020, operating as individual CCGs (but with a shared Governing
Body membership)
 Phase 2 - April 2020 onwards, as NHS Cheshire CCG.
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The revised governance arrangements, which are described in more detail in the Governance
Statement, were developed following extensive engagement, including:
 Committee development workshop with Governing Body members
 Primary Care Committee development workshop with members of the four CCGs’ Primary Care
Commissioning committees
 Workshops with the CCG Memberships
 Workshops with Lay Members to ensure lay member views on a proposed decision making
structure
 Facilitated workshops and discussions with Remuneration Committees and Governance and
Audit Committees
 Regular discussion at Executive Team Meetings and with individual executives
 Regular review by the Governance Workstream that includes lay member representation.
Where new committees were created – a Quality and Safeguarding Committee; a Strategic
Commissioning and Performance Committee; and a Finance Committee – predecessor committees
produced “close-down” reports to retain the CCGs’ corporate memory and ensure legacy issues are
addressed.
There was further engagement with the CCG memberships and others during the development of
the NHS Cheshire CCG constitution.
In the meantime, individual CCGs amended their constitutions to enable them to appoint a shared
Governing Body membership and enable the four Governing Bodies to operate via a “Committees in
Common” approach. Following a rigorous recruitment process, the CCGs operated with a shared
Governing Body membership from January 2020 onwards.
Since the four Governing Bodies have been meeting in common, with the shared membership, each
meeting has ended with a (private) review of the meeting to consider the effectiveness of the
meeting and associated governance arrangements.
As part of its commitment to the development of Integrated care the CCG seconded a senior
manager to work with system partners to deliver the leadership model and structure for the Cheshire
East Integrated Care Partnership (CE ICP) which was established in December 2019.
The CCG began the process of aligning staff across both ICPs beginning with primary care
development and Communications and Engagement as part of an ongoing programme with more
staff aligned as the ICPs develop their tactical commissioning role and take responsible for service
provision allowing the CCG to develop its strategic function.
There was a clear commitment from the CCGs to develop General Practice to have greater
responsibility and management of local health and care decisions and provision of services for a
local population. Building sustainable Primary Care Networks will be the foundation of Care
Communities and central to the growth and development of Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).
The CCG delegated responsibility for the primary care development function to each of the
Integrated Care Partnerships (East Cheshire ICP and Cheshire West ICP) and performance was
measured against a service level agreement (SLA). Work was also undertaken to develop a
Framework Agreement for services setting out the parameters of the ICPs’ responsibilities. The
primary care development teams in the ICPs were responsible for supporting the development of the
Primary Care Networks (PCNs). Progress was reported via the CCG’s Primary Care
Commissioning Committee
From July 2019, all CCG staff with a role in primary care were aligned to either Cheshire East ICP,
Cheshire West ICP or the CCG to oversee delegated functions and offer on the ground support to
practices and PCNs to understand and implement development requirements. The CCG works
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closely with the Local Medical Committee (LMC) to ensure that contractual and development needs
of practices are supported. The CCG primary care staff work closely with patient participation groups
(PPGs), community services and local authority colleagues to support the wider aspirations for PCN
development and system integration.
Primary care staff are accountable to the PCN clinical leads and act to support the operational
aspects of PCN delivery as well as providing strategic leadership support. The Staff also work
closely with the SC and VR GP Alliance who play an important role as advocates and representing
the voice of General Practice and PCNs at a system leadership level.
CCG response to the Coronavirus Pandemic
During late 2019/20, the Cheshire CCGs responded to the very fast moving situation in relation to
the coronavirus pandemic. The CCGs’ current emergency preparedness, resilience and response
(EPRR) was targeted in the following way:
With the scale of the challenge presented by Covid-19 it is important to emphasise the breadth of
work that Cheshire CCGs undertook to lead the local response to help slow the spread of the virus,
support frontline health and care staff, support CCG staff and protect local people. This work was
subsequently taken forward by NHS Cheshire CCG.
An Incident Management Team was established by the CCGs to act as a single point of contact to
co-ordinate the Cheshire system’s response to the Covid-19 outbreak. This team operated in close
collaboration with all system partners, including both local authorities.
The Accountable Officer, with support from a number of senior leaders, led the work of the team
which was split into nine “cells” - each led by senior subject matter experts, with input from across
the Cheshire health and care system. Seven of the nine cells (listed below) also benefit from
designated clinical support:
 Primary Care
 Commissioning and Quality
 CCG Business Continuity
 Information Technology
 People
 Communications and Engagement
 Situation reports
 Emergency Planning
 Vulnerable People
In addition to the work of the Incident Management Team, all CCG staff were supported to comply
with national guidance to work from home and practice social distancing. This transition has been
made smoother because of work in recent months to modernise and improve our working practices
via our New Ways of Working project.
The Governing Body meeting and all Governing Body sub-committees were held virtually from
March onwards to further support this. While this meant that there was no option for members of the
public to attend our Governing Body meetings in person, we continued to encourage people to
submit any questions or comments they had via email to: ccg.corporate@nhs.net
Daily Covid-19 updates were shared with CCG staff and GP members to keep colleagues up-to-date
with the latest local issues and national updates and fortnightly staff webinars led by members of the
executive team help to connect staff as they work in a different way. Weekly webinars are also coordinated to support GPs and primary care colleagues.
Daily Cheshire-wide conference calls were co-ordinated and chaired by the CCG to enable senior
leaders across all Cheshire health and care system partners to flag any issues and to enable
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system-wide solutions to be identified and agreed. Operational reports were produced to ensure all
partners were informed about the issues raised and matters agreed and high-level summaries
prepared daily via the communications and engagement cell to support internal briefing across all
Cheshire system partners.
Separately, our weekly Covid-19 stakeholder bulletin updated system partners and key stakeholders
– including patient groups – about the latest position. This bulletin was pulled together with the
agreement of the Cheshire communications and engagement cell and via collaborative work with
HealthWatch Cheshire. It has been well-received by partners and regulators.

1.2.3

Key Performance Measures – NHS Oversight Framework

The NHS Oversight Framework is a tool that NHS England and Improvement use to gauge how well
organisations in the wider health system are performing. A wide range of indicators are monitored
during the year and, at the end of the year. Performance against the Framework is presented in the
following tables. A number of different rating criteria are used but a consistent colour coding has
been used in the following table:
 PERFORMANCE IN THE TOP QUARTILE (i.e. the best performing 25%); “GREEN” (or “Green
Star”); or “Fully Compliant”
 PERFORMANCE IN THE MID QUARTILES (i.e. the middle 50%); “AMBER”; or “Partially
Compliant”
 PERFOMANCE IN THE LOWEST QUARTILE (i.e. the worst performing 25%); “RED”; or “Not
Compliant”
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Eastern Cheshire
Ref:

Indicator (and associated Clinical Priority Area)

102a
103a
103b
104a
105b
105c
106a
107a
107b
108a
109a
121a
121b
122a
122b
122c
122d
123a
123b
123c
123f
123g
123i
123j
124a
124b
124c
125a
125b
125c
125d
126a
126b
127b
127e
127f
128b
128d
129a
129b
129c
130a
131a
132a
133a
134a
141b
144a
145a
162a
163a
163b
164a
165a
166a

% 10-11 classified overweight /obese
Patients who achieved NICE targets (Diabetes CPA)
Attendance of structured education course (Diabetes CPA)
Injuries from falls in people 65yrs +
Personal health budgets
% of deaths with 3+ emergency admissions in last three months of life
Inequality Chronic UCS and ACS
AMR: appropriate prescribing
AMR: Broad spectrum prescribing
% of Carers with a long term condition who feel supported to manage their condition
Reducing the rate of low priority prescribing
High quality care – acute
High quality care - primary care
Cancers diagnosed at early stage (Cancer CPA)
Cancer 62 days of referral to treatment (Cancer CPA)
One-year survival from all cancers (Cancer CPA)
Cancer patient experience (Cancer CPA)
IAPT recovery rate (MH CPA)
IAPT access (MH CPA)
EIP 2 week referral (MH CPA)
MH - OAP (MH CPA)
Proportion of people on GP severe mental illness register receiving physical health check
MH - investment Standard
MH - Quality of mental health data submitted to NHS Digital (DQMI) (MH CPA)
LD - reliance on specialist IP care (LD CPA)
LD - annual health check (LD CPA)
Completeness of the GP learning disability register (LD CPA)
Neonatal mortality and stillbirths (Maternity CPA)
Experience of maternity services (Maternity CPA)
Choices in maternity services (Maternity CPA)
Maternal smoking at delivery (Maternity CPA)
Dementia diagnosis rate (Dementia CPA)
Dementia post diagnostic support (Dementia CPA)
Emergency admissions for UCS conditions
Delayed transfers of care per 100,000 population
Hospital bed use following emergency admission
Patient experience of GP services
Primary care workforce
18 week RTT
Overall size of the waiting list
Patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment
7 DS - achievement of standards
% NHS CHC assessments taking place in hospital setting
Sepsis awareness
6 week diagnosis
Evidence based intervention
In-year financial performance
Digital interactions - utilisation of e-referral
Expenditure in areas with identified scope for improvement
Probity and corporate governance
Staff engagement index
Progress against WRES
Working relationship effectiveness
Quality of CCG leadership
CCG Compliance with standards of public and patient participation in commissioning
health and care

Reported
National
Position
(7/189)
(36/191)
(158/191)
(52/191)
(57/191)
(20/189)
(52/191)
(76/191)
(43/191)
(120/191)
(30/189)
(122/189)
(23/189)
(46/191)
(21/191)
(142/191)
(136/191)
(158/191)
(134/191)
(46/191)
(91/190)
(186/191)
(102/191)
(11/190)
(126/190)
(98/190)
(51/189)
(111/189)
(46/191)
(29/191)
(96/191)
(18/191)
(145/191)
(114/191)
(16/191)
(39/191)
(77/177)
(48/191)
(1/191)
(8/189)
(154/191)
(50/191)

(130/191)

(32/183)
(38/183)
(53/189)

Performance
(period)
26.38%
42.01%
5.56%
1,756
90
5.10%
1,831
0.927
7.05%
56.0%
Green
65
65
55.85%
83.43%
75.70%
8.7
50.00%
3.90%
72.73%
21
29.6%
Green
84.05%
51
0.44%
4.28
85.0
59.4
7.52%
77.62%
78.46%
1,818
14.1
1,017
87.85%
1.18
85.36%
13,027
0
3
11.29%
Green star
1.52%
Amber
Amber
99.90%
Red
Fully compliant
3.83
0.09
74.6
Green

Green
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1.2.4

Key Performance Measures - NHS Constitution Standards

The NHS Constitution sets out a number of key standards CCGs are required to deliver.
Performance against the NHS Constitution targets is presented in the following tables.
NHS Constitution Measure

Target

Eastern
Cheshire

Ambulance
Category 1 Calls
Time critical and life threatening events requiring immediate attention
Category 2 Calls - Potentially serious conditions that may require rapid
assessment, urgent on-scene clinical attention
Category 3 Calls - Urgent problems (not immediately life threatening) that requires
treatment to relieve suffering
Category 4 calls - Non urgent problem that requires assessment and possibly
transport within a clinically appropriate time.

07:00
mins
18:00
mins
02:00
Hours
03:00
hours

09:20
22:51
02:22
03:27

A&E waits
4-Hour A&E Waiting Time Target (Monthly Aggregate for Total Provider)
% of patients who spent less than four hours in A&E

95%

76.8%

Referral To Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
% of all Incomplete RTT pathways within 18 weeks
Percentage of Incomplete RTT pathways within 18 weeks of referral

92%

86.3%

1%

3.8%

93%

88.0%

93%

56.3%

96%

97.8%

94%

97.1%

98%

99.0%

94%

99.7%

85%

79.7%

90%

82.5%

n/a

87.3%

Diagnostic test waiting times
<1% of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test
The % of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test

Cancer waits – 2 week wait
% Patients seen within two weeks for an urgent GP referral for suspected
cancer - The percentage of patients first seen by a specialist within two weeks
when urgently referred by their GP or dentist with suspected cancer
% of patients seen within 2 weeks for an urgent referral for breast
symptoms** - Two week wait standard for patients referred with 'breast symptoms'
not currently covered by two week waits for suspected breast cancer

Cancer waits – 31 days
% of patients receiving definitive treatment within 1 month of a cancer
diagnosis - The percentage of patients receiving their first definitive treatment
within one month (31 days) of a decision to treat (as a proxy for diagnosis) for
cancer
% of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days
(Surgery) - 31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments where the
treatment function is (Surgery)
% of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days (Drug
Treatments) - 31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments (Drug
Treatments)
% of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days
(Radiotherapy Treatments) - 31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments
where the treatment function is (Radiotherapy)

Cancer waits – 31 days
% of patients receiving 1st definitive treatment for cancer within 2 months (62
days) – The % of patients receiving their first definitive treatment for cancer within
two months (62 days) of GP or dentist urgent referral for suspected cancer
% of patients receiving treatment for cancer within 62 days from an NHS
Cancer Screening Service – Percentage of patients receiving first definitive
treatment following referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service within 62 days
% of patients receiving treatment for cancer within 62 days from a consultant
upgrade – Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment following
referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service within 62 days
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1.2.5

Key Performance Measure – Prescribing and Medicines
Optimisation

The Prescribing and Medicines Optimisation Teams for the Cheshire CCGs have been collaborating
on projects with colleagues in Acute Trusts and the Mental Health Trust, and more widely with
support from the Mersey Internal Audit Agency across Cheshire and Merseyside. While working
towards the delivery of the Cheshire projects, the individual teams have continued to work with
general practice to manage the prescribing budgets and deliver improvements in the quality and
safety of prescribing, including indicators highlighted within the Oversight Framework.
Oversight Framework - Antimicrobial Stewardship
Practices receive monthly benchmarking information and have access to local and national
guidance on antimicrobial prescribing. Prescribing decision software provides point of prescribing
advice on the appropriateness of individual prescriptions, including antibiotics.
 Overall volume of antibiotics prescribing in primary care
The purpose of this indicator is to encourage an improvement in appropriate antibiotic prescribing
in primary care. Antimicrobial resistant infections impact on patient safety and the quality of
patient care. Evidence suggests that antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is driven by over-using
antibiotics and prescribing them inappropriately. Reducing the inappropriate use of antibiotics will
delay the development of antimicrobial resistance that leads to patient harm from infections that
are harder and more costly to treat. Reducing inappropriate antibiotic use will also protect
patients from healthcare acquired infections such as Clostridium Difficile infections and reduce
the risk of Gram-negative blood stream infections.
The table below shows the volume of antibiotic prescribing measured as the number of items per
weighted population for the Cheshire CCGs, compared with the national target and the National
Average (with lower figures representing better performance).
National average
CCG Target
CCG Achievement
(Year to date - Nov 2019)
0.935
0.965
0.927
 Prescribing of Broad Spectrum Antibiotics in primary care
Co-amoxiclav, cephalosporins and quinolones are broad spectrum antibiotics that can be used
when others have failed. It is important that they are used sparingly, to avoid drug-resistant
bacteria developing. This measure looks at the quantity of these prescribed, versus the broad
class of similar antibiotics.
The table below shows the volume of prescribing of the broad spectrum agents as a percentage
of the total volume of antibiotic prescribing for the Cheshire CCGs, compared with the national
target and the National Average (with lower figures representing better performance).
National average
CCG Target
CCG Achievement
(Year to date - Nov 2019)
8.37%
10%
7.03%
Finance and Use of Resources
The Oversight Framework also includes targets for reducing the rate of low priority prescribing. This
indicator includes products in 3 categories:
 Products of low clinical effectiveness, where there is a lack of robust evidence of clinical
effectiveness or there are significant safety concerns;
 Products which are clinically effective but where more cost-effective products are available,
including products that have been subject to excessive price inflation; or
 Products which are clinically effective but, due to the nature of the product, are deemed a low
priority for NHS funding.
Medicines management teams have supported general practice to review patients receiving these
medicines and either stop or reduce prescribing for the conditions involved or switch to more cost
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effective agents. The rate of prescribing of these items has decreased by 15% between April 2019
and December 2019 for Cheshire as a whole.
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plans
In addition to working on the items included in the Oversight Framework, Medicines Management
Teams have supported practices to review other areas of prescribing to reduce the volume and/or
cost of items prescribed where unwarranted variation is identified. Activities have included
medicines switch programmes, supporting repeat prescribing systems and delivering point of care
prescribing decision support.
This work has helped to limit growth in prescribing costs to an overall figure of 5% for Cheshire, in
the face of pressures on the cost of medicines of 3 to 4%.
In addition to the work to manage prescribing budgets, medicines management teams have support
quality initiatives including:
 Medicines optimisation in care homes
 Reducing inappropriate polypharmacy in older people
 Reducing the use of dependence-forming medications, including opioid analgesics and medicines
used for neuropathic pain
 Supporting practices to respond to medicines safety alerts and address medicines safety
indicators such as the risk of gastrointestinal bleeding and acute kidney injury.

1.2.6

Financial Performance

Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended).

The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
Act Section

223H(1)*
223I(2)
223I(3)
223J(1)
223J(2)
223J(3)

Duty

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s)
does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does
not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

Maximum
Performance
£’000s (2019-20)

Duty
Achieved?

318,264

Y

32

Y

317,578

Y

32

Y

4,504

Y
Y

* Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue
and capital in the financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue
resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as receivable in the financial year
(whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).

1.2.7

Working with Partners / Contributing to Joint Strategies

The NHS Long Term Plan states that CCGs are expected to become leaner, more strategic
organisations that support providers to partner with local government and other community
organisations on population health, service redesign and long term plan implementation. We believe
that through merging NHS Eastern Cheshire, NHS South Cheshire, NHS Vale Royal and NHS West
Cheshire CCGs (the four Cheshire CCGs) we will do so much more than merge four CCGs. What
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we want to do is to provide strategic, integrated commissioning to support population health by
transforming the commissioning landscape across Cheshire, and create two Integrated Care
Partnerships (ICPs). This was set out in our “case for change” which informed the CCG merger
application. The CCGs now have both a shared executive team and a shared Governing Body
Membership and decisions are made on a Cheshire-wide basis.
The four Cheshire CCGs have been active members of Cheshire and Merseyside (C&M) Health and
Care Partnership (formerly known as the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership or STP)
since its creation and the Accountable Officer for the CCGs is an active member of the HCP
Partnership Board. The proposed CCG would remain within the current HCP boundary. We believe
that by merging into a single CCG that will cover a population of around 750,000 patients, with a
budget over £1 billion will mean that we have a more powerful national and regional voice allowing
us to shape healthcare for our communities. Representing three quarters of a million people enables
us to have a significant say on the services being discussed and the allocation of resources and we
will be in a much better place to argue for local services for local people that will make a difference.
We received letters of support for the merger from the Cheshire & Merseyside Health & Care
Partnership, Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester local authorities, HealthWatch Cheshire
and a number of CCGs, partners and provider organisations within Cheshire. At its meeting on 25th
June 2019, the Health and Wellbeing Board supported the proposed merger of the Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Groups and the move towards place-based care.
Due to current patient flows there are strong working relationships with partners in other STP
footprints most notably Stockport (NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG), Staffordshire (NHS South Cheshire
CCG) and Greater Manchester for all Cheshire CCGs.
The commissioning and contracting intentions for 2020/21 outline the following “Vision for Cheshire”,
developed in conjunction with partners, including the Health and Wellbeing Board:
• Ambition – ‘best of the best’
• Leading Collaborative Partner
• Engagement – Conversation & Co-production
• Unlock barriers & reduce duplication
• Cheshire £ (repatriation, Specialised Commissioning…)
• All Age Population Health & Wellbeing
• Wider Determinants – Prosperity, Employment, Housing, Leisure…
• Improve outcomes & reduce unwarranted variation
• Single Approach & Standardisation/Equality
• Active & Invested Public & Patients – Help Shape Future
• Commissioning ‘power & influence’ – Size & Resource
• Innovative Market Management & Provider Development
• Support & empower Primary Care Networks, Care Communities & Integrated Care Partnerships
• Sustain, Develop & Transform Primary Care
• Membership Organisation – Accountability
• Values & Leadership
As described at section 1.2.2, the four Cheshire CCGs appointed a single executive management
team and worked through a management of change process to appoint the necessary capacity and
capability to delivery strategic, integrated commissioning across this footprint.
Each of the developing ICPs has had an input to the structures that are being proposed as have
both local authorities. Structures, especially around Strategy & Partnerships, have been created to
enable swift integration with the ultimate aim of pooled budgets, shared outcomes and joint
responsibility for delivery. Plans are in place to develop Joint Commissioning Boards on a place
basis that will hold each ICP to account and use new system wide contractual mechanisms to result
in greater integration and place based delivery.
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The CCGs across Cheshire have worked with the C&M Health and Care Partnership (HCP) to
develop five year implementation plans which describe how the NHS Long Term Plan will be
delivered through the two ‘place footprints’ of Cheshire East and Cheshire West. In addition the
CCG is represented at the highest level on both Cheshire East and Cheshire West Health and
Wellbeing Boards.
In Cheshire East, the Place Partnership Board is the established leadership forum for integrated
care with the CCG represented by the Chief Officer and Executive Director for Strategy and
Partnerships. The place work programme is managed through a well-established PMO function,
providing assurance for Governing bodies of all partners in relation to programme planning and
delivery. The CE Place Board has over seen the development of the Cheshire East ICP which was
established in December 2019 and is currently in a mobilisation phase. The ICP has an SRO drawn
from one Foundation Trust partner providing leadership on behalf of all parties, and an identified
host arrangement via another of the Foundation Trust partners who will provide the legal framework
and governance structure for service panning and delivery
In Cheshire East, a focus on prevention and pro-active care will be delivered through the eight well
established care communities which identified four priority areas including cardio vascular health,
respiratory health, mental health and wellbeing, and the community children’s hubs, drawing on
HCP redesign and best practice models demonstrating how large scale strategic change can be
implemented within local care communities.
To support the development of ICPs the CCGs established a workstream looking at commissioning
for integration with the CCG meeting with the local authority to develop joint strategies and plans.
The following joint strategies were agreed:
 Autism (all age)
 Learning Disabilities
 Mental Health
 Carers
 Local Transformation plan for children

1.2.8

Improving Quality

To ensure that quality is at the heart of the CCG’s oversight and assurance processes, performance
concerns on quality and risks are escalated appropriately and openly. The governing bodies in
common receive a regular quality report and performance report which highlights the exceptions in
these areas. This allows for robust challenge from the Governing Body members on all aspects of
quality that are escalated from the Quality and Safeguarding and Strategic Commissioning and
Performance committees (or predecessor committees). The focus of the papers is to improve quality
and monitor that this happens and is sustained.
In assessing the impact of performance the relevant teams in the CCG, for example Planning and
Delivery and Quality teams work in an integrated way to ensure issues are considered from both a
delivery or performance standards and also quality perspective; as an example we have an
integrated operational group who oversee provision of primary care. This group includes members
of primary care, Quality Teams and Clinical Leads.
The CCG’s governance structure ensures there are clear lines of accountability and reporting and a
line of sight to the Governing Body.
Every programme or service change undergoes a Quality Impact Assessment and Equality Impact
Assessment, further training and development of staff has taken place to ensure that quality is at the
heart of decision making. This process is built into our Programme Management Office processes
and is overseen by the Cheshire Delivery Group meetings, a subgroup of the Strategic
Commissioning and Performance Committee.
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The CCGs have Quality and Safeguarding Strategies that have been ratified by the Governing
Bodies of the four CCGs.
There is an Incidents and Complaints sub-group which reports into the Quality and Safeguarding
Committee. This group consists of a robust panel including clinical and lay members and is
responsible for reviewing all serious incident investigations and approving them for closure once
there is evidence that learning has been embedded. Providers are required to attend and are held to
account for any incidents and the action plans developed to ensure learning is embedded.
Prior to coming to the Incidents and Complaints Group, there is a robust process in place to ensure
quality:
 Senior quality clinical leads attend provider root cause analysis (RCA) panels where appropriate.
 All RCAs are clinically reviewed prior to coming to the sub-group, the reviewer follows set criteria
to review the RCA and robustness of the action plan. Any comments, gaps identified and/or
request for additional information are fed back to the provider.
 The CCGs have agreed an established process with our providers for Post Infection Reviews
(PIR) to ensure optimal learning is attained.
The Safeguarding Governing Body self-directed e-learning was co-produced by the Commissioning
Support Unit and the Designated Nurses for Adult Safeguarding. The awareness covers additional
safeguarding requirements for Governing Body Members and ensures they are abreast of their
responsibilities within Adult Safeguarding.
Governing Body meetings have included patient stories and public speaking time. This reinforces
the centrality of quality and patient experience to every decision made by the Governing Body. The
minutes of the Governing Body and the CCG sub committees clearly demonstrate the continual
challenge around the quality aspects of every aspect of the CCGs business.
Lay Members are active quality champions on the Governing Body and also Chair the Quality and
Safeguarding and Strategic Commissioning and Performance Committee and are members on the
Incidents and Complaints sub-group.
CCG commissioning decisions are informed by patient experience and a range of measures are in
place to ensure quality considerations are central to this:
 Patient experience captured through dedicated events and regular patient engagement
mechanisms are fed into commissioning work and the commissioning cycle.
 A strong and positive relationship exists with HealthWatch who share patient and carer
experience and data through their dedicated programmes of work and also ad hoc qualitative
evidence shared.
 A robust “you said, we did” approach is built into the commissioning cycle.
 The CCG communications and engagement strategy and action plans are considered and
endorsed by the Governing Body.
Analysis from the RightCare packs demonstrates in detail where there are opportunities to improve
patient outcomes and remove duplication and waste.
6 Key Clinical Areas for improvement in 2020/21 have been identified – where there is the greatest
opportunity to improve care and reduce waste:
• Gastroenterology
• Cardio Vascular Disease
• Neurology
• Respiratory
• Trauma & Injuries
• Musculoskeletal conditions
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The CCG wishes to find a single provider per Clinical Area on a place basis to take budgetary
responsibility for the population.
Each provider will organise the whole system which:
• Manages demand
• Treats and manages conditions included within the RightCare area
• Leads on effective prevention
• Ensures that patients receive improved outcomes
Our use of RightCare to deliver quality improvements is also covered in the health inequalities
section of this report. Our focus on performance against key indicators and use of data such as the
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is also covered elsewhere in this report.
The CCG actively and robustly manages contract performance and, where necessary, acts swiftly to
implement actions which ensure patients continue to receive high quality care and that constitutional
standards are met:
 There is a Quality Schedule agreed as part of the contract for each provider. This is reported to
and monitored via the contract and performance meetings held with providers.
 The CCGs use integrated Quality, Finance and Performance meetings for our main providers.
This allows a focus on Quality, including patient experience, when considering performance
against targets.
 The CCG has robust contract management arrangements in place which are overseen by
Executive Directors in each provider meeting as well as an internal meeting to ensure that
contract information is being utilised to effectively manage contracts. The CCG also has a
Performance Sub Group of the Strategic Commissioning and Performance Committee who
review performance against the key national, and local, indicators and ensure we have actions in
place to address gaps in performance.
 We also formed system wide meetings to feature providers of acute and community services in
order that providers work across pathways and assist in responding to issues. It ensures that
issues which cannot be resolved in individual contract meetings are escalated for a system
response and solution. We have a system based approach to working on our planning and
contracting round (including CCG, three Acute Trusts and Community Providers as well as our
Mental Health Provider) and also to ensure that our commissioning intentions are co-produced
with all of our partners. The group has brought about a shared understanding of the issues and a
shared ownership for solutions examples include wound care services and cardiology where we
are seeking all partners to work together to provide the most appropriate care in the right place
regardless of contractual boundaries.
 Supporting the system wide meetings are individual contract quality and performance meetings
with the providers which is chaired by a CCG senior manager and which jointly review quality,
performance and financial standards and the CCGs use these meetings to hold providers to
account using the full levers of the NHS standard contract. Where performance is not at agreed
standards in terms of quality of care or constitutional standards then the CCGs will issue Contract
Performance Notices to the relevant provider which then requires the providers to implement
action plans in order to bring the performance up to the required standards.
 As mentioned above, if the contract meeting is unable to resolve the particular issue then it is
escalated to the Contract System Meeting for Executive Directors to support a resolution.

1.2.9

Engaging People and Communities

Our commitment to engagement
Our partnership with people and communities is central to achieving our ambition of a high-quality,
joined-up healthcare system that is safe, affordable and meets the needs of the local population. We
want to ensure local people have a strong voice in shaping and influencing health and care services.
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For that reason, we take seriously our responsibilities to effectively communicate and engage with
our patient population, public and carers. We know that good communications and effective
engagement is the key to building and maintaining positive relationships.
We receive a significant amount of public funding annually so how we spend this money and the
health outcomes we achieve is rightfully of great interest to the population we serve. It is essential,
therefore, that we explain our decisions and involve people in reaching those decisions. We strive to
involve people in decisions about their own care. Evidence tells us that supporting patients to be
actively involved in their own care can improve their outcomes and experience.
Working Together As Cheshire
In May and June 2019, the four Cheshire CCGs conducted a dedicated period of public engagement
on proposals to establish a single strategic commissioning organisation for the county. The merging
of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS West
Cheshire CCG was seen by the partners as the best way to support the delivery of more consistent,
joined-up care across the county and to give Cheshire a more powerful voice in championing the
needs of local people at regional and national level.
The main mechanism for public engagement was an online survey promoted by advertisements and
news releases in print, broadcast and online media; social media posts including an explanatory
video by Clare Watson, Accountable Officer of the CCGs; and face-to-face presentations at CCG
forums and stakeholder meetings. In addition, the CCGs wrote letters inviting comment from
partners and stakeholders.
Promotion of the engagement period reached an audience of more than 250,000 people while the
survey was completed by 376 respondents. More than 76 per cent of respondents supported
proposals for the creation of a single strategic commissioner in April 2020 while more than 70 per
cent agreed that it should happen alongside the development of Integrated Care Partnerships
providing joined-up health and social care services in Cheshire East and Cheshire West
respectively.
More than 85 per cent of respondents agreed that the CCGs should identify new opportunities to
plan and buy services together during 2019-20 while more than 80 per cent said that the CCGs
should introduce shared decision-making processes. In a subsequent ballot of all GP practices in
Cheshire, 86 per cent supported the proposed merger. The proposal was approved by NHS England
in October 2019, enabling the CCGs to become NHS Cheshire CCG on 1 April 2020.
The development and delivery of the public engagement programme was one of numerous ways in
which the CCGs’ Communications and Engagement Teams worked as one in 2019-20 to:
 Share best practice and resources
 Ensure consistent, impactful messaging
 Improve efficiency and effectiveness in the use of systems and processes
 Prepare for the anticipated creation of a single commissioning organisation.
Our Plan 2019-20
For the first time, the four CCGs published a joint plan to bring together the planning, buying and
monitoring of health services across the county. The single operational plan for Cheshire aligned
proposals to create a single Cheshire CCG with the development of local plans to improve patient
care consistent with the NHS Long Term Plan.
The Communications and Engagement Team published a user-friendly, 16-page summary, entitled
Our Plan, to encourage the involvement of local patients in the work of the CCGs.
Our Plan was informed by a series of Cheshire Chat events developed as an approach by NHS
South Cheshire and Vale Royal CCGs, and subsequently adopted by Eastern Cheshire and West
Cheshire. These regular, facilitated sessions give patients and carers an opportunity to say what is
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working well for them, what needs improving and what the NHS in Cheshire might do to provide
outstanding care. As with other engagement opportunities offered by the CCGs, Cheshire Chat is
promoted extensively across traditional and online media, and via direct communications with
patient and carer forums, partners and stakeholders.
Our Plan set out the commissioning intentions of the four CCGs in accordance with a
Commissioning Cycle adopted to ensure that the patient voice is heard at all critical stages of the
planning and buying of healthcare, and that the Communications and Engagement Team guides the
approaches used to involve people.

You Said, We Did
The four CCGs have adopted a “You Said, We Did, We Will” framework to ensure that the outcomes
of public engagement are reported back to participants. This approach encourages the continued
involvement of patients, carers and others by demonstrating the value of their input and thanking
them for their commitment.
Examples include NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG working with
Cheshire East Council to commission the award-winning CATCH app to provide readily-accessible
information to parents whose pre-school children fall ill. In another example, NHS West Cheshire
CCG established a task-and-finish group to develop an approach to the promotion of GP Extended
Hours after patients said it was the area’s “best kept secret.”
The “You Said, We Did” approach is informed by insights captured through engagement
mechanisms including Cheshire Chat, the Eastern Cheshire HealthVoice patient and carer reference
group, South Cheshire and Vale Royal’s Volunteers in Participation and West Cheshire’s Patient
Support Group Forum.
Self-care and winter communications
Patients and carers attending engagement events told the CCGs that they wanted to be empowered
to look after themselves and their loved ones when suffering from minor, self-limiting conditions such
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as coughs, colds and sore throats. Accordingly, South Cheshire and Vale Royal enlisted a large
number of volunteer self-care champions who were then trained and given resources to promote
self-care in their communities. At the same time, the two CCGs worked with schools and community
organisations to produce videos including “Caitlin’s Cold”, in which students acting as patients and
healthcare professionals illustrated responsible use of the NHS when suffering a common cold and
similar ailments.
These resources, including a series of leaflets, were supplemented by a suite of videos in which
healthcare professionals from GP practices gave advice on subjects such as fever in children, sore
throats and earache. All collateral was then shared with the other CCGs and promoted widely
across external communications channels.
Development and sharing of materials provided the basis for the first ever pan-Cheshire winter
communications plan, conceived by Eastern Cheshire for collaborative delivery by the CCGs, NHS
provider trusts and local authorities. Approved by the county’s three A&E Delivery Boards, the plan
sought to reduce avoidable demand on urgent and emergency services by promoting self-care and
informed use of the NHS.
Social media was used to target digital messaging at the cohorts shown by urgent and emergency
care dashboards to be placing the greatest avoidable demand on services:
 People with multiple long-term conditions
 Parents of pre-school and Early Years children
 Residents of postcodes with the poorest health, as defined by local authority health profiles.
The campaign, entitled Stay Well This Winter, ran from December 2019 to February 2020 inclusive.
As at 31 January 2020, it had actively engaged more than 75,000 people in terms of comments,
likes and shares. A detailed analysis was scheduled for spring 2020 to measure audience reach,
campaign awareness, effective channels, understanding of key messages and commitment to
positive behaviour change.
Annual General Meetings
Reflecting comprehensive joint working, the Cheshire CCGs took a common approach to the
promotion and content of their AGMs in September 2019. The events were used to reflect on key
achievements in 2018-19, as exemplified by a series of patient stories; and to present ambitions as
articulated in Our Plan 2019-20.
Each event closed with a 45-minute public question time which allowed the CCGs to capture patient
insights to inform shared commissioning intentions for 2020-21.
Rating of Patient and Community Engagement
NHS England carries out an annual assessment of patient and community engagement as part of its
Oversight Framework, the purpose of which is to understand the extent to which CCGs are meeting
their statutory duties and to identify opportunities for improvement.
Patient and community engagement is rated against multiple criteria under the following domains:
 Governance
 Annual reporting
 Day-to-day practice
 Feedback and evaluation
 Equalities and health inequalities.
In 2018-19, West Cheshire was rated Green Star (Outstanding) while the other three CCGs were
rated Green (Good). The ratings for 2019-20 will be published in summer 2020.
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Engagement is also a key focus of an annual 360 Degree Stakeholder Survey conducted by IPSOS
Mori for NHS England to gauge the effectiveness of CCG partnership working. The following
comments are representative of qualitative feedback from stakeholders surveyed in 2019:
 “The CCG is prepared to listen to our suggestions and to work with us on widening
engagement.”
 “The CCG has a strong culture of staff engagement, and recognises and acknowledges the
strength of local GP primary care.”
Next steps
Anticipating the formation of NHS Cheshire CCG, the four organisations have involved their patient
forums in developing a draft Engagement and Communications Strategy as a focus for public
engagement in the first quarter of 2020-21, prior to adoption by Governing Body. The principle
underpinning the draft strategy is that the CCG must engage effectively in order to plan relevant,
impactful communications. It was the view of the emerging CCG that it is only possible to
communicate effectively if the NHS understands what people need and want to know about. Without
the understanding that arises from meaningful engagement, communication is reduced to
indiscriminate broadcasting of facts.
The new strategy will consolidate existing best practice from across the four Cheshire CCGs while
introducing new approaches which have been found to work well elsewhere. For more information
on the Cheshire approach to engagement and communications please see NHS Cheshire CCG’s
website: https://www.cheshireccg.nhs.uk/people-and-communities/
Cheshire East Place Five-Year Plan
Eastern Cheshire and South Cheshire collaborated with fellow members of the Cheshire East
Partnership to contract with HealthWatch Cheshire East to manage a public engagement exercise
on a draft Cheshire East Place Five-Year Plan.
The plan’s aim was to: “enable people to live well for longer; to live independently and to enjoy the
place where they live.”
The plan was to achieve its aim by:
 Tackling health inequalities, the wider causes of ill health and the need for social care support
through a joined-up approach to reducing poverty, isolation, housing problems and debt
 Preventing ill health while focusing on early intervention, health improvement and creating
environments that support and enable people to live healthily
 Ensuring actions are centred on people, their goals and the communities in which they live, and
supporting people to help themselves
 Having shared planning and decision making with residents.
The engagement period ran from 31 July to 23 August 2019, comprising an online survey, 21 faceto-face listening events and a workshop attended by 15 HealthWatch volunteers. The process
elicited 272 responses, the vast majority of which were supportive of the draft plan.
Key to the engagement was a summary version of the plan, written by the Eastern Cheshire
Communications and Engagement Team – which also developed and delivered the communications
plan for the process.
Most people believed the plan identified the key issues facing the area’s health and care services
but they felt it needed more emphasis on preventing ill health, intervening quickly when necessary
and making services more accessible. Early intervention and prevention were seen as important to
preventing long-term ill health, including focusing on self-care, smoking, obesity and more mental
health support. It was felt that the importance of exercise was missing from the plan, including
access to gyms and community fitness programmes.
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Feedback indicated that the importance of exercise could be strengthened in the plan while some
respondents felt it lacked focus on accessibility, particularly being able to access GP appointments
quickly, and being offered appointments that were local rather than having to travel long distances.
The plan was amended accordingly and subsequently approved by Cheshire and Merseyside Health
and Care Partnership in November 2019.
The Five Year Plan will inform the priorities and activities of the Cheshire East ICP, particularly the
development of more localised Care Communities that enable more people to access the care and
support they need closer to home.
The ICP will achieve the following:
 people taking an active and full role in their own health and wellbeing
 effective access to services for local people
 listening and responding to feedback
 clinicians planning, delivering and monitoring evidence-based population health and care
 improved population health and independence through early intervention and prevention
 full use of local community support to manage the wider determinants of health
 services that are clinically and financially sustainable.
Common Approach to Children’s Health
The Communications and Engagement Teams have visited a number of pre-school nurseries,
parent and toddler groups and primary schools to promote the award-winning CATCH app
(Common Approach to Children’s Health). The app was commissioned by the two CCGs and
Cheshire East Council to reduce avoidable demand on urgent and emergency care by supporting
parents of pre-school and Early Years children to make informed choices when their toddlers fall ill.
The app was inspired by research by the council’s public health team which found that the number
of parents being sent home with their children from the area’s A&E departments was significantly
above the national average.
National recognition for CATCH has included its selection as an NHS Innovation Accelerator
recommended by NHS England for widespread adoption.
HealthVoice
The Communications and Engagement Team has continued to organise, promote and facilitate
quarterly open meetings of the HealthVoice patient and carer reference group. HealthVoice uses
lived patient experience to advise the CCG on its commissioning intentions. It acts as an important
mechanism for engagement and consultation activity while supporters who are experts by
experience offer advice on service design, redesign and development of requirements
specifications.
NHS Cheshire CCG will continue to engage with HealthVoice in 2020-21.
Communications and Engagement Advisory Panel
The CCG has met regularly with a Communication and Engagement Advisory Panel comprising
HealthVoice supporters. The panel uses its expertise and experience to advise the CCG on its
strategic, tactical and operational approach to all consultation and engagement activity. Guided by
terms of reference co-produced with the CCG, the panel also works with the Communications and
Engagement Team to develop the agenda for HealthVoice meetings.
The panel’s other functions include advising the CCG on discharging its duties under the Equalities
Act 2010 by making its meetings and events accessible to people with protected characteristics.
Subjects on which the panel has advised the CCG include the use of hearing loops and sound
engineering systems.
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Similarly, panel members have worked with the area’s Disability Information Bureau to audit venues
used by the CCG against accessibility standards.
Enhancing access to services for people with Special Educational Needs and Disability
(SEND)
The Communications and Engagement Team has worked closely with Macclesfield-based charity
Speaking Up Speaking Out (SUSO) to promote access to healthcare services. Outputs of this
collaboration have included the production and screening of a video explaining the importance of
people with SEND having their annual NHS Health Check. The film was one of many factors that
enabled Eastern Cheshire to record England’s highest uptake of health checks by people with
SEND in 2019-20.
The CCG is also working with SUSO to co-produce an engagement toolkit that healthcare providers
including GP practices will use to ensure that people with learning disabilities are fully involved in
conversations about their healthcare. This is one of several examples of the CCG supporting
partners to engage effectively, thereby helping the relatively small Communications and
Engagement Team to punch above its weight.
Pride in Practice
The CCG’s comprehensive engagement with the LGBTQ+ community in partnership with
organisations including the LGBT Foundation and Stonewall has resulted in the CCG being invited
to work with its GP practices to secure the Pride in Practice accreditation.
To achieve the standard, practices have to undertake various prescribed actions to maximise
service accessibility for LGBTQ+ people. Practices will work towards the status in partnership with
the Communications Team and LGBTQ+ patients and advocacy groups.
NHS Cheshire CCG intends to encourage GP practices across Cheshire to pursue the standard in
2020-21.
New roles in general practice
The CCG’s Locality Forum of GP practices asked the Communications and Engagement Team to
support it in promoting new roles recommended for adoption by NHS England to address staffing
shortages arising from difficulties in recruiting GPs.
Accordingly, the team worked with practices in Bollington, Congleton, Disley and Poynton to
produce videos in which an advanced nurse practitioner and physician associate discussed their
jobs. The videos have since been used by practices for recruitment purposes.

1.2.10

Reducing Health Inequality

Our commitment to equality
Promoting equality and addressing health inequalities are at the heart of the CCG’s values. We play
a key role in addressing equality and health inequalities as a commissioner, employer and local
system leader in order to create high quality care for all. Avoidable health inequalities are, by
definition, unfair and socially unjust. A person’s chance of enjoying good health and a longer life is
determined by the social and economic conditions in which they are born, grow, work, live and age.
These conditions also affect the way in which people look after their own health and use services
throughout their life.
Addressing such avoidable inequalities and moving towards a fairer distribution of good health
requires a life-course approach and action. The CCG understands that, by working to tackle health
inequalities, we can help secure improved health outcomes for our local population by giving due
regard to the need to:
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity and to
foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic (as cited
under the Equality Act 2010) and those who do not share it
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 Reduce inequalities between patients in access to, and outcomes from, healthcare services and
to ensure services are provided in an integrated way where this might reduce health inequalities.
We commission a diverse range of services in different locations to help address health inequalities.
We also recognise that, only by working in partnership across the whole health and social care
economy, will the greatest success in reducing health inequalities be achieved.
We know that people’s health, access to services and experiences can be affected by factors such
as their age, gender, disability, race, sex, sexual orientation and religion/beliefs. As commissioners
we are committed to planning and buying services that meet the needs of everyone in our
communities and we strive to continue to improve access for patients, in part by meeting our Public
Sector Equality Duty and our obligations under the Equality Act 2010.
Mechanisms used to help improve access and outcomes include:
 Making fair and transparent commissioning decisions using equality analyses, considering our
Public Sector Equality Duty and using quality schedules to improve the equality performance of
our providers
 A strong emphasis on patient and public involvement in care commissioning to provide greater
opportunity to influence commissioning and help address health inequalities
 Partnership working with the local authority and the community, voluntary and faith sector and
working closely with Public Health colleagues to affect positive change
 Undertaking Equality Delivery System self-assessment
 Promoting the implementation of reasonable adjustments.
Identifying and tackling health inequality
The general health and wellbeing of people living in Cheshire is good. People are living longer, with
a growing proportion of people aged over 65. However, more people than ever are also living with
multiple health conditions.
Pockets of deprivation mean there are also areas of significant health inequalities. Life expectancy is
11 years lower for men and 13 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Cheshire East
and 10 years lower for men and eight years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Cheshire
West. Cancer and heart disease are the main causes of death in those under 75.
Ill health is often linked to people’s lifestyle choices and personal circumstances:
 Smoking prevalence is higher than the national average in Cheshire East while the number of
Cheshire 15 year olds who have tried alcohol, are regular drinkers or have been drunk in the last
four weeks is comparable to the national figures. Rates of alcohol-related admissions among
under 18s are higher in Cheshire East.
 Thirty per cent of adults across Cheshire are classed as physically inactive and one in four as
overweight or obese. One in five children are classed as overweight or obese at the start of
primary school, rising to one in three when they leave.
 Feeling lonely is often linked to early deaths and increased risk of heart disease, stroke,
depression, cognitive decline and Alzheimer's.
To tackle these inequalities while improving the effectiveness and efficiency of healthcare across the
board, the Cheshire CCGs developed joint commissioning intentions for the first time in 2019-20.
Informed by public engagement and the CCGs’ rich understanding of the population’s health needs,
Our Plan 2019-20 identified four key objectives including: “Reducing variation in the quality of care
from one area to another.”
To address health inequalities across the entire system, the CCGs committed to measurable
improvements to reduce unwarranted variations in care against 10 priority areas as follows.
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Service area
Urgent & emergency
care (blue light
ambulances, A&E,
NHS 111, GP out-ofhours service

Planned care (e.g.
outpatient
appointments, nonemergency surgery)
Cancer

Long-term conditions
(e.g. diabetes,
cardiovascular
disease and chronic
obstructive
pulmonary disease)

Women & children’s
services (e.g.
maternity services &
services for young
carers, disabled
children & young
people)
Mental health (e.g.
perinatal, talking
therapies & early
intervention in
psychosis)
Learning disabilities,
autism & Special
Educational Needs &
Disability (SEND)

Primary care &
community health

Actions
Work with the three A&E Delivery
Boards & two Local Authorities to
improve performance, e.g. countywide
winter communications plan to reduce
avoidable demand, initiatives with
Countess of Chester Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust, East Cheshire NHS
Trust & Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust to support timely
patient discharge from acute hospitals
Work together across Cheshire to
share examples of best practice &
support each other to help manage
demand, e.g. sharing caseloads
Develop & implement a Cheshire
Cancer Strategy which includes
screening programmes & empowers
people to present earlier with cancer
signs and symptoms
Ensure services are available to
support early detection & ongoing
management

Results
More than 75,000 people actively
engaged by social media element
of winter communications plan,
fewer than one in 10 visits to A&E
at Macclesfield District General
Hospital considered avoidable,
fewer acute hospital beds occupied
by patients ready to go home

Work with Cheshire & Merseyside
Health & Care Partnership & local
partners to improve health & care
services for people with a learning
disability &/or autism, develop &
implement a Cheshire Learning
Disability & Autism Strategy, improve
diagnostic services & ensure
increasingly holistic care for children
and young people with autism
Support GP practices to come
together as Primary Care Networks to

A single Cheshire approach to
“STOMP” – Stopping the Over
Medication of People with a
Learning Disability, Autism or both
– embedded within Care
Communities, annual physical
health checks for at least 75 per
cent of people with a learning
disability

Reduction in cancelled
appointments & procedures
Increase in early detection &
treatment of cancer, increase in
one-year survival rates

More people completing diabetes
education programmes, more
patients with diabetes receiving
annual health checks & accessing
related services such as foot and
eye care, more patients screened
for high blood pressure & heart
conditions. Better community
services for patients with heart
failure
Work with partners to implement
Contribution to NHS Long Term
recommendations of the National
Plan commitment to halve
Maternity Review, continue to focus on stillbirths, maternal mortality, neoPublic Health outcomes such as
natal mortality & serious brain
smoking, obesity and breastfeeding as injury
part of ongoing “fit for pregnancy”
work. Cheshire-wide roll out of “top
tips” for general practice, developed
by young carers
Continue to support the development
Better access to high-quality care
of community services which offer
with a particular focus on talking
care & support closer to home
therapies

Better access & a wider range of
services offered in primary care, a
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Service area
primary care

Continuing
Healthcare &
Complex Care (NHSfunded care for some
of the most
vulnerable people in
our communities)
Safeguarding
(statutory
responsibility shared
with the Local
Authorities)

Actions
explore the benefits of collaborative
working, improve access to primary
care & the range of services available
both during & outside normal opening
hours
Work with partners, including local
authority teams, to ensure all patients
are assessed, reviewed & casemanaged in line with national targets

Results
continuation of the legacy of
training & development
opportunities completed via the
national GP Forward View
programme
People’s needs responded to
without delay, a reduction in the
number of Cheshire patients cared
for out of area

Continue to provide safeguarding
leadership & advice across the local
health economies

Health & care providers playing a
full & active role in safeguarding &
promoting the welfare of children
and adults

Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership
The Cheshire CCGs are partners in the Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership
established to confront the sub-region’s health and care challenges of inequalities in population
health and quality of care, together with increasing financial pressures.
The partnership’s three prevention priorities for population health are high blood pressure, alcohol
harm and antimicrobial resistance (AMR). Led by individual boards, action plans have been
developed and implemented for all these priorities.
High blood pressure
High blood pressure is Cheshire and Merseyside’s most common condition and risk factor for cardio
vascular disease including heart attacks and stroke. Nearly 650,000 people in the sub-region have
high blood pressure. Yet it is largely preventable and, over five years, there would be 183 fewer
strokes, 118 fewer heart attacks, 256 fewer cases of heart failure and 96 fewer deaths if all
Cheshire and Merseyside GP practices performed as well as the top 25 per cent of practices
nationally for managing patients known to have high blood pressure.
The partnership has taken action by:
 Supporting general practice to empower patients to live better
 Providing resources for community engagement activities
 Backing the national “Know Your Numbers” campaign
 Strengthening the role of community pharmacies in the prevention, detection and management of
high blood pressure.
Combined with other measures, the above actions are expected to reduce the incidence of high
blood pressure while increasing detection by 9.8 per cent.
Alcohol harm
Alcohol harm has been identified as a priority by all the sub-region’s health and wellbeing boards. In
Cheshire and Merseyside, 26.5 per cent of the adult population (518,748 people) consume alcohol
at levels above the low-risk guidelines.
Actions taken by the partnership include:
 Enhanced support for high impact drinkers in hospital and community settings
 Large-scale delivery of high-impact, targeted advice.
 Effective population-level actions (e.g. campaigns) to reduce alcohol-related harms
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A common Cheshire and Merseyside Alcohol Care Pathway introduced to eliminate unwarranted
variations in service and ensure consistent, high-quality care.
Creation of a sub-regional alcohol harm reduction dashboard to measure the impact of other
actions.
Introduction of a common competency and staff training programme for alcohol harm reduction.

Anti-Microbial Resistance (AMR)
AMR is Public Health England’s highest priority and is of global importance. It happens when a
microbe mutates to the point where it is able to survive exposure to an antimicrobial agent
(antibiotic) that was previously an effective treatment. AMR is accelerated by overexposure of
microbes to antibiotics through unnecessary use. For example, antibiotics should not be used to
treat coughs, colds and most sore throats as they are ineffective against viruses.
AMR is a major problem because it may compromise our ability to treat basic infectious conditions
and to carry out surgery safely. If unchecked, it will also lead to steeper healthcare costs.
The partnership has agreed the following actions to combat AMR:
 Improving infection prevention and control practices
 Ensuring infections are diagnosed and treated quickly and effectively in all health sectors
 Improving professional education and training
 Establishing GP antibiotic champions and supporting the national Antibiotic Guardian campaign
 Working with CCGs and prescribers to prioritise the reduction of antibiotic prescribing.
The above actions will support the national Public Health England targets of tackling the most
common causes of bloodstream infections while reducing antibiotic prescribing by 10 per cent by
2020-21.
Cheshire East Place
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG are members of Cheshire East
Partnership, which published a Five Year Plan in November 2019 following extensive public
engagement and approval by Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership. The plan’s
Strategic Goals over the next five years are to:
 Develop and deliver a sustainable, integrated health and care system
 Create a financially balanced system
 Create a sustainable workforce
 Significantly reduce health inequalities.
Public Health England says: “Health inequalities are avoidable and unfair differences in health status
between groups of people or communities.”
There are some stark differences across Cheshire East that must be dealt with. There is a difference
in life expectancy of around 13 years between the lowest rates in Crewe Central and the highest in
Gawsworth for women. For men, there is an 11-year gap between the lowest rate, again in Crewe
Central, and the highest in Wilmslow East.
In general, there is more ill health in parts of Crewe and Macclesfield than in other areas. We know
that this also coincides with areas of deprivation, poorer housing, educational achievement and
employment. Smoking, alcohol consumption and obesity are all also correspondingly higher.
The partnership has identified common health issues in Cheshire East which have a significant
impact during a person’s lifetime if left unaddressed and are key factors in health inequalities. To
make a difference in these areas, the partnership will focus on avoiding inequalities from entirely
preventable conditions. The focus will be on:
 Giving children the best start in life and ensuring they are ready for school
 Supporting children’s emotional health and wellbeing and tackling adverse childhood events
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Reducing alcohol-related harms
Helping people better manage long-term conditions and disability affecting day-to-day activity
Reducing heart disease and high blood pressure
Preventing the risks from frailty and falls and improving mental health and wellbeing as we get
older.

The partnership has created eight Care Communities across Cheshire East, with staff from GP
practices, community and acute services, social care, other public sector organisations and the
community, voluntary and faith sector beginning to work together much more effectively. The Care
Communities all have a common “core offer” but they can add to that to reflect specific, local
priorities, needs and differences.
Care Communities will work closely with the Primary Care Networks established in July 2019. The
intention is to offer a truly tailored, local service which means that health and care partners can:
 Proactively identify people at high risk of needing services and then intervene early and quickly to
prevent their situation worsening
 Help people through self-care, and better support their families and carers
 Make better use of professionals working in therapies, pharmacies, social and primary care
 Recognise existing strong local relationships, skills and connections, and support them to grow
and flourish
Engagement Framework
The CCG adopted a refreshed engagement framework informed by a gap analysis to identify
seldom-heard groups and communities. The framework comprises 10 engagement channels
representing under-served communities and people with protected characteristics as defined by the
Equality Act 2010. Engagement carried out in line with the framework has enabled the CCG to better
understand the issues seen by under-served people as barriers to accessing healthcare. For
example, conversations have taken place with the LGBTQ+ community and people with SEND or
learning disabilities.
Engagement with the LGBTQ+ community has captured issues which can make patients reluctant to
access primary care. Accordingly, the CCG has identified five GP practices which are to seek a
Pride in Practice accreditation awarded by the LGBT Foundation for meeting various criteria
measuring accessibility of services to the LGBTQ+ community. Participation will take the form of a
pilot scheme, following which consideration will be given to rolling out the standard countywide.
Help Us Help You
The CCG developed a pan-Cheshire Help Us Help You campaign for winter 2019-20 to reduce
avoidable demand on urgent and emergency care by promoting self-care and informed use of the
NHS. The campaign included a schedule of social media posts that targeted a suite of self-care
videos at the post codes with the poorest health. The approach was informed by data which showed
that residents of these areas were one of three cohorts placing greatest avoidable demand on the
services in question. The campaign supported these seldom-heard communities to choose the right
service at the right time. As at 31 January 2020, the social media effort had achieved active
engagement with more than 75,000 people.
Equality and Diversity Assurance Group
The CCG maintains an Equality and Diversity Assurance Group that keeps equality and diversity
issues front and centre in the organisation. The group comprises representatives from across the
CCG’s teams, the Governing Body Lead for Equalities, and an Equalities and Inclusion Business
Partner from NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU. The group oversees the development and
implementation of the CCG’s equality and diversity action plan, an objective of which is to make
services more accessible as a means of tackling health inequality. The group advises colleagues on
equality analysis, specifically Equality Impact and Risk Assessments, and provides assurance to the
CCG Executive Team that the CCG is meeting its Public Sector Equality Duty.
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Equality Analysis Template
The CCG has developed an Equality Analysis Template mandated for use in the commissioning
cycle to capture demographic data on the anticipated impact of proposed service change, including
any potential for negative impact on service accessibility. Mitigating actions are then identified.
Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The CCG has committed to periodically reviewing its pubic engagement approach against EDS2
requirements. EDS2 is a tool to help the CCG review its equality performance and identify future
priorities and actions. Its aim is to enable the NHS to deliver better outcomes for patients and
communities.
There are four national EDS goals, one of which is: “Improved patient access and experience.” The
CCG has agreed six outcomes to achieve the goals. These include:
 Screening, vaccination and other health promotion services reach and benefit all local
communities
 People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health or primary care
services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds.
The unifying theme of the above is to ensure equitable access to services in order to tackle health
inequalities. Each year the CCG reviews its performance against its equality objectives, provides
evidence of how it is performing against the EDS goals and undertakes a self-assessment with an
independent panel.
Equality Impact and Risk Assessments (EIRAs)
The CCG carries out EIRAs on all proposals to commission new services or make significant
changes to existing ones. An EIRA is a systematic way of seeing how proposals or policies may
affect groups of people differently based on the protected characteristics of diversity. EIRAs
consider the potential for proposals to have undesirable consequences, for example by perpetuating
or exacerbating health inequalities. Actions are then taken to resolve or mitigate the issue.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
As a partner in Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board, the CCG has a duty to co-produce a
JSNA for the local authority area.
The JSNA captures health inequalities and identifies health and social care needs, including how
well they are being met and opportunities for improvement to inform decision-making. The benefits
of the JSNA include:
 Facilitating partnership working by combining data and information from a range of sources
including the public and service users
 Combining differing professional and organisational perspectives to support a holistic view of
individuals, families and communities and provide new insights.
Cheshire East Wellbeing Network
In 2019-20, the CCG and Cheshire East Council have continued to lead the Cheshire East
Wellbeing Network which uses multi-media campaigns to involve the public in activities that promote
wellbeing, healthy lifestyles and self-care.
Other partners in the network are as follows:
 NHS South Cheshire CCG
 East Cheshire NHS Trust
 Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service
 Department of Work and Pensions
 Peaks & Plains Housing Trust
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Plus Dane Housing
Everybody Sport and Recreation
HealthWatch Cheshire East
Cheshire East Council for Voluntary Services.

During 2019-20, the network developed and delivered four joint health promotion campaigns to
involve people and empower them to manage their health effectively:
 Mental Health Week – 13-19 May with a focus on body image
 Know Your Numbers Week – 9 – 15 September, offering advice on managing blood pressure
 Stay Well This Winter, a multi-media campaign running from December 2019 to January 2020 to
reduce avoidable demand on urgent and emergency care by promoting self-care and informed
use of services.
 Dry January, encouraging people to abstain from drinking for a month to reset their relationship
with alcohol after Christmas and to observe low-risk guidelines going forward.
The joint approach has strengthened the range of activities provided and the reach of the
campaigns. All campaigns have targeted the general public and staff of partner organisations and,
where appropriate, worked with Care Communities (the NHS-led work bringing together NHS and
social care services at a local community level) and Connected Communities (the Cheshire East
Council-led work building community cohesion and engagement at a neighbourhood level).
Throughout 2019-20, the CCG has continued to be an active member of the Cheshire East Health
and Wellbeing Board, influencing and contributing to the Board’s priorities in its day-to-day operation
and strategic delivery. The Chief Officer and a GP representative have been members of the
Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board, and a CCG representative has been at all meetings
held in 2019-20. The CCG regularly raises issues that relate specifically to Eastern Cheshire
residents.
The CCG was actively involved in developing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy for the
Population of Cheshire East 2018-21 and has confirmed its commitment to commission and monitor
services that meet the three priority areas of:
 Outcome One – Create a place that supports health and wellbeing for everyone living in Cheshire
East
 Outcome Two – Improve the mental health and wellbeing of people living and working in
Cheshire East
 Outcome Three – Enable more people to live well for longer.
The Chief Officer report to the Governing Body meetings of the CCG includes an overview of
discussions and decisions made at Health and Wellbeing Board meetings within that period of time.
Through its membership of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board, the CCG is jointly
responsible for the production and use of the Cheshire East Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
(JSNA).
The CCG believes that using different types of evidence supports the development of a constructive
JSNA on which to base sound strategy development and commissioning decisions. The JSNA is
considered when developing project mandates and business cases. The CCG also believes that the
Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector (VCFS) holds unique evidence about local community
assets and needs, and that VCFS knowledge can be combined with data collected by statutory
bodies such as CCGs and local authorities to offer a richer, more accurate picture of its
communities.
As such, the CCG has continued to part fund the Cheshire East VCFS Community JSNA
programme of work. The Community JSNA was commissioned to produce a project report on
Military Veterans’ Health.
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The NHS Act 2006 established a legal duty to involve current and potential service users or their
representatives in planning and changes to the provision and delivery of NHS services. Similarly, the
Health and Social Care Act 2012 outlines that CCGs must show how the views of patients, carers,
public, communities of interest and geography, health and wellbeing boards, local authorities and
practice populations “are translated into commissioning intelligence and shared decision making.”
As a CCG we consider that we meet this legal duty.
The CCG continues to work in partnership with a variety of organisations and partners in supporting
or delivering health and wellbeing messages and health service access awareness initiatives so as
to help “inspire better health and wellbeing” in line with the CCG’s Vision, and reduce inequalities
between and within our communities.
Throughout 2019-20 the CCG has, for example:
 delivered a multi-media Stay Well campaign to promote self-care and raise awareness of
appropriate access to health services in order to help manage demand effectively, especially over
the winter period
 published weekly Health Matters columns in the Congleton Chronicle, Knutsford Guardian,
Macclesfield Express and Wilmslow Guardian to promote healthy lifestyles and informed use of
services while demonstrating accountability by reporting progress against commissioning
intentions
 Canalside radio station has interviewed employees of the CCG regularly to promote current
campaigns and consultations.
The CCG believes that it works well with its member practices, local partners and the public, and
actively invests time and resources to ensure that its engagement and communication around its
priorities and decision making is inclusive, open and transparent. The CCG receives feedback about
how it is doing in meeting its statutory duties and stated strategic intentions from its partners and
public via a variety of means, including directly via Eastern Cheshire HealthVoice and HealthWatch
Cheshire.
Another key feedback route is through the effective management of complaints and concerns raised
by patients, which play an important role in ensuring that the CCG continues to improve the quality
of care services provided to patients.

1.2.11

Sustainable Development

On 23rd January 2020 the Cheshire CCGs Governing Body agreed to treat climate change as an
emergency this includes taking immediate action to:
 Identify a Governing Body Climate Change Champion – Dr Gwydion Rhys has taken on this role
 Lead good citizenship, sustainability and efforts to reduce the collective NHS in Cheshire impact
on climate change
 Prioritise sustainability and climate change throughout all the CCGs decision making and
activities in commissioning, contracting, employment, partnership working, premises and logistics
management
 Establish a staff-led movement of climate change champions initially focussing on recycling, new
technology and agile working
 Complete baseline assessments on energy use, water use, waste generation and treatment,
transport and logistic activities, procurement and information technology
 Work with Local Authorities and NHS providers to develop joint approaches to climate change
and prepare a Sustainability Development Plan for 2020 to 2025.

%Occupancy
26.62%

19/20
Elec kWh
54,868

19/20
Elec Cost
£9,411

19/20
Gas kWh
74,566

19/20
Gas Cost
£2,752

19/20
Water m³
3,088

19/20
Water
Cost
£379.90
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Across Cheshire, all four CCGs reduced their office space during 2019/20 and began to work in a
‘smarter’ and more agile way. Desk spaced reduced by 25% and overall office occupation reduced
by 40%. As a result significant savings have been made that can be better utilised elsewhere within
the health system. This work is being built upon within 2020/21 and it is expected further savings
can be made

1.2.12

Membership

Details of the CCG Membership are set out within the Accountability Report. Our Constitution states
that, as a Membership Council, we delegate authority to the Governing Body to effectively and
efficiently run the CCG on our behalf.
During 2019/20 we reviewed and amended our constitution on two occasions. In June 2019
revisions were requested in order to:
 Reflect the revised executive structure operational from June onwards. There were numerous
references to existing Executive Director posts being part of the CCG’s Governing Body. Those
sections were no longer accurate following the implementation of the revised executive structure.
 Reflect the revised Model Constitution for CCGs by:
 Amending the approval process for revising the constitution – making a distinction between
“material” changes, which would continue to be reserved for membership approval; and
“minor” revisions which could be approved at Governing Body level (though the Governing
Body would retain the ability to refer changes to the memberships if they considered it
appropriate).
 Removing certain supporting documentation from the constitutions, for inclusion in a
“Governance Handbook”. This would include the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, the
prime financial policies, the standing financial instructions, and terms of reference for “non
statutory” committees.
Further revisions were requested in December 2019 in order to allow the four Cheshire CCGs to
appoint the same individuals to their respective Governing Bodies from January onwards. The
proposed changes ensured that:
 Governing Body membership was consistent across the four CCGs;
 Governing Body member and other key roles within the CCG were described consistently;
 The appointment terms and role descriptions for Governing Body member and other key roles
within the CCGs were consistent;
 CCGs were able to appoint Governing Body members from outside their geographical footprints
(and enable “joint” appointments);
 The Governing Body and key CCG committees could operate consistently and effectively with a
“shared” Governing Body membership.
As the CCG Governing Bodies worked ever closer together, there was no longer a need to maintain
a Joint Commissioning Committee of the Cheshire CCGs. That Committee was therefore disbanded
and references to it were removed from the CCG constitution.
NHS England confirmed that the proposed changes to the constitution complied with the particular
requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006 as amended by the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 and were otherwise appropriate. The constitution can be viewed at:
https://www.cheshireccg.nhs.uk/governance/nhs-cheshire-ccg-constitution/
Our organisational structure is presented at appendix one. This illustrates our Membership Council
and Governing Body, together with its Committees and Sub Committees and therefore the lines of
reporting and communication. More information on these committees and their members can be
found in the Accountability Report.
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Anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters are covered in Governance Statement within the
Accountability Report.

Accountable Officer’s Statement
To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Performance Report presents a true and accurate
picture of NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group

Clare Watson
Clare Watson
Accountable Officer
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
24 June 2020
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2
The Accountability Report
2.1
Corporate Governance Report
The purpose of the corporate governance report is to explain the composition and organisation of
the CCG’s governance structures and how they support the achievement of our objectives.

2.1.1

The Members’ Report

The composition of our Membership during 2019/20 was:
Local Peer Group
Alderley Edge, Chelford,
Handforth, Wilmslow

Bollington, Disley, Poynton

Congleton, Holmes Chapel

Knutsford

Macclesfield

Member Practice
Alderley Edge Medical Practice
Chelford Surgery
Handforth Health Centre
Kenmore Medical Centre
Wilmslow Health Centre
Bollington Medical Centre
Mcllvride Medical Practice
Priorslegh Medical Centre
The School House Surgery
Holmes Chapel Health Centre
Lawton House Surgery
Meadowside Medical Centre
Readesmoor Group Practice
Annandale Medical Centre
Manchester Road Medical Centre
Toft Road Surgery
Broken Cross Surgery
Cumberland House
High Street Surgery
Park Green Surgery
Park Lane Surgery
South Park Surgery
Vernova Healthcare CIC
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The composition of our Governing Body, 1 April 2019 to 22 January 2020 was:
Name and Role
Date
Dr Andrew Wilson
Chair
Clare Watson
Chief Executive
Alex Mitchell
Chief Finance Officer
Lynda Risk
Director of Finance and Contracting
Dr Fari Ahmad
GP Governing Body Member
Dr Mike Clark
GP Governing Body Member
Dr Rob Thorburn
GP Governing Body Member
Dr Stuart Thomas
GP Governing Body Member
Dr Jenny Lawn
GP Governing Body Member
Dr Janet Walls
Secondary Care Representative
Sheila Hillhouse
Governing Body Nurse
Laura Beresford
GP Governing Body Member
Peter Munday
Lay Member (Governance and Audit)
Gill Boston
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement)
Jane Stephens
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement)
Fiona Reynolds
Director of Public Health, Cheshire East Council
Matt Tyrer
Acting Director of Public Health, Cheshire East
Council

1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 31 May 2019
1 June 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 30 June 2019
1 Sept 2019 – 31 Dec 2019
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – 22 January 2020
1 April 2019 – July 2019
August 219 – 22 January 2020
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The composition of our Governing Body, 23 January 2020 to 31 March 2020:
Name and Role
Date
Dr Andrew Wilson
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Clinical Chair
Clare Watson
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Chief Executive / Accountable Officer
Lynda Risk
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Director of Finance and Contracting
Dr Mike Clark
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
General Practice Representative
Dr Gwydion Rhys
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
General Practice Representative
Dr Fiona-McGregor-Smith
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
General Practice Representative
Dr Lesley Appleton
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
General Practice Representative
Peter Munday
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Lay Member, Governance
Suzanne Horrill
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Lay Member, Governance
Pam Smith
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Lay Member, Engagement, Involvement and Experience
Wendy Williams
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Lay Member, Engagement, Involvement and Experience
(and Deputy Chair)
Secondary Care Doctor
vacant
Registered Nurse
vacant
Standing Invitees:
Chris Lynch
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Co-opted Lay Member, Engagement, Involvement and
Experience
Ian Ashworth
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Director of Public Health
Matt Tyrer
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Director of Public Health
Dr Teresa Strefford
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Executive Clinical Director
Tracey Cole
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Executive Director of Strategy and Partnerships
Neil Evans
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Executive Director of Planning and Delivery
Paula Wedd
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Executive Director of Quality and Patient Experience
Matthew Cunningham
23 January 2020 – 31 March 2020
Director of Governance and Corporate Development
Governing Body members’ declarations of interests can be viewed on the CCG’s website at:
https://www.cheshireccg.nhs.uk/governance/registers-of-interest/
At 31 March 2020, our CCG had 4 male and 7 female voting members on the Governing Body.
The Governing Body met in public on 10 occasions during the year. All of those meetings were
quorate. Four of those meetings were held jointly with the Governing Bodies of NHS South
Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG, and NHS West Cheshire CCG.
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The agenda and papers for formal public meetings can be viewed at:
https://www.cheshireccg.nhs.uk/meetings/governing-body/
A short biography of our Governing Body members is included at appendix 2.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved confirms:
 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor
is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware
of it.
Audit Committee
During March to April 2019, the Audit Committee met on one occasion. The membership during that
period was:
Peter Munday - Chair
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
Jane Stephens
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
Dr Robert Thorburn
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG (to June meeting)
From June 2019 onwards, the Governance and Audit Committees of NHS Eastern Cheshire, NHS
South Cheshire, NHS Vale Royal and NHS West Cheshire CCG meet together in a “committees in
common” arrangement. There were five “Committees in Common” meetings during the year. During
the period June to November 2019, the membership and attendance at meetings was
Peter Munday - Chair
Jane Stephens
Dr Robert Thorburn
John Clough
Dr Sinead Clarke
Suzanne Horrill
Kieran Timmins
Suzanne Horrill
Alan Whittle
Pam Smith

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG (to June meeting)
NHS South Cheshire CCG (in attendance)
NHS South Cheshire CCG / NHS Vale Royal CCG (in attendance)
NHS Vale Royal CCG (in attendance)
NHS West Cheshire CCG (in attendance to July 2019)
NHS West Cheshire CCG (in attendance from September 2019)
NHS West Cheshire CCG (in attendance)
NHS West Cheshire CCG (in attendance)

Following a series of appointments to the Governing Body from 23 January 2020, the membership
of the Governance and Audit Committee was:
Peter Munday - Chair
Suzanne Horrill
Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith
Dr Gwydion Rhys
Wendy Williams
Please see our Governance Statement (section 2.1.3) for details of other committees and subcommittees. Information on the Remuneration Committee membership can be found in the
Remuneration Report.
Personal data related incidents
There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and no other
incidents that were required to be reported to the Information Commissioner.
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Modern Slavery Act
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking but does not met the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and
Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

2.1.2

Statement by the Chief Executive, Clare Watson, as the
Accountable Officer of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer
of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance
with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on
the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its
income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting
Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts;
and,
 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
 Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required
for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG’s auditors
are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the auditors are unaware.
47

I also confirm that:
 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are
unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Clare Watson
Clare Watson
Accountable Officer
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
24 June 2020

48

2.1.3

The Governance Statement

2.1.3(1)
Introduction and context
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for
persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to
arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2019, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.
2.1.3(2)
Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.
2.1.3(3)
Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and
complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
Following NHS England and Improvement’s approval of the merger application, the CCG, along with
the other three Cheshire CCGs, reviewed and aligned the CCGs’ decision making and governance
structures to enable a smooth transition to NHS Cheshire CCG by April 2020. To achieve this, a two
phased approach was implemented:
 Phase 1 - January to March 2020, operating as individual CCGs (but with a shared Governing
Body membership)
 Phase 2 - April 2020 onwards, as NHS Cheshire CCG.
The revised governance arrangements were developed following extensive engagement, including:
 Committee development workshop with Governing Body members
 Primary Care Committee development workshop with members of the four CCGs’ Primary Care
Commissioning committees
 Workshops with the CCG Memberships
 Workshops with Lay Members to ensure lay member views on a proposed decision making
structure
 Facilitated workshops and discussions with Remuneration Committees and Governance and
Audit Committees
 Regular discussion at Executive Team Meetings and with individual executives
 Regular review by the Governance Workstream that includes lay member representation.
Where new committees were created – a Quality and Safeguarding Committee; a Strategic
Commissioning and Performance Committee; and a Finance Committee – predecessor committees
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produced “close-down” reports to retain the CCGs’ corporate memory and ensure legacy issues are
addressed.
There was further engagement with the CCG memberships and others during the development of
the NHS Cheshire CCG constitution.
In the meantime, individual CCGs amended their constitutions to enable them to appoint a shared
Governing Body membership and enable the four Governing Bodies to operate via a “Committees in
Common” approach. Following a rigorous recruitment process, the CCGS appointed a shared
Governing Body membership.
Since the four Governing Bodies have been meeting in common, with the shared membership, each
meeting has ended with a (private) review of the meeting to consider the effectiveness of the
meeting and associated governance arrangements.
During 2019/20 we reviewed and amended our constitution on two occasions. All requested
revisions were approved by NHS England. In June 2019 revisions were requested in order to:
 Reflect the revised executive structure operational from June onwards. There were numerous
references to existing Executive Director posts being part of the CCG’s Governing Body. Those
sections were no longer accurate following the implementation of the revised executive structure.
 Reflect the revised Model Constitution for CCGs by:
 Amending the approval process for revising the constitution – making a distinction between
“material” changes, which would continue to be reserved for membership approval; and
“minor” revisions which could be approved at Governing Body level (though the Governing
Body would retain the ability to refer changes to the memberships if they considered it
appropriate).
 Removing certain supporting documentation from the constitutions, for inclusion in a
“Governance Handbook”. This would include the scheme of reservation and delegation, the
prime financial policies, the standing financial instructions, and terms of reference for “non
statutory” committees.
Further revisions were requested in December 2019 in order to allow the four Cheshire CCGs to
appoint the same individuals to their respective Governing Bodies from January onwards. The
proposed changes ensured that:
 Governing Body membership was consistent across the four CCGs;
 Governing Body member and other key roles within the CCG were described consistently;
 The appointment terms and role descriptions for Governing Body member and other key roles
within the CCGs were consistent;
 CCGs were able to appoint Governing Body members from outside their geographical footprints
(and enable “joint” appointments);
 The Governing Body and key CCG committees could operate consistently and effectively with a
“shared” Governing Body membership.
Information about the composition of our Membership Council, Governing Body and Governance
and Audit Committee can be found in the Members’ Report. Information on the Remuneration
Committee membership can be found in the Remuneration Report. Please see appendix one for a
diagram of our organisational structure.
Information on the roles and responsibilities of the Governing Body and its Committees is outlined
below. Lay Members play a key role in providing additional scrutiny, challenge and an independent
voice in support of robust and transparent decision-making on both the Governing Body and its
Committees.
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Governing Body
The Governing Body’s overall responsibilities are to:
a) Ensure that the group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the groups principles of
good governance (its main function);
b) Determine the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to governing body
members, employees or other persons providing services to the group, including
nominated practice representatives, and the allowances payable under a pension scheme
it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by
Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act;
c) Approve any functions of the group that are specified in regulations;
d) With the exception of those functions reserved to the group’s Membership, to discharge all of
the groups remaining statutory functions including:
 to lead and approve the setting of the group’s vision and strategy and its annual
commissioning and financial plans;
 securing continuous improvement in the standards, quality and outcomes of care, and
regularly discussing and monitoring quality issues;
 financial and risk management;
 jointly publishing, with the group’s Membership Council, the group’s annual report and
annual accounts;
 where not specified in the terms of reference of the Governing Body committees,
receiving the minutes of meetings of joint or collaborative
 arrangements between the group and another statutory body(ies).
During the year the Governing Body considered regular patient stories, finance updates, Chief
Executive’s updates, performance reports, and quality and safeguarding reports. Additional
Information on the work of the Governing Body during the year is included within the Performance
Report.
Formal Governing Body papers are available on the CCG’s website.
https://www.cheshireccg.nhs.uk/meetings/governing-body/
The CCG maintained three statutory committees during the year.
Remuneration Committee - The Remuneration Committee makes:
 Recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about the terms and conditions,
remuneration, fees and other allowances for governing body members, employees of the
CCG (including GPs performing roles within the CCG) and for people who provide services to
the group.
 Recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about allowances under any
pension scheme that the group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.
 Recommendations to the Governing Body on the arrangements for recruiting the group’s
accountable officer.
Governance and Audit Committee – The Governance and Audit Committee provides:
 The Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the group’s financial
systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions
governing the group in so far as they relate to finance.
 The Membership Council and the Governing Body have also delegated to the Governance
and Audit Committee the responsibility for:
 reviewing the effectiveness of the system of governance, risk management and internal
control, incorporating the arrangements for the Membership Council
 the arrangements made by the group for managing conflicts of interest, whistle blowing
and fraud (both clinical and non-clinical)
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee - The Primary Care Commissioning Committee
undertakes the function of commissioning a common approach to primary medical care services for
the population of Eastern Cheshire. The Committee makes recommendation towards the
commissioning of primary medical services that:
 Reflect the local requirements and population health needs for NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG.
 Strengthen a collaborative approach towards primary care commissioning across the CCGs.
 Support the strategic ambitions of the CCGs within the Connecting Care Programme.
 Support a developmental approach of co commissioning in line with the strategic vision of the
CCGs.
Governance Review
As described above, the CCG reviewed and revised its committee structure during the year.
Between 1 April 2019 and the end of the calendar year the following committee was in
operation:
 Clinical Quality and Performance Committee
The Joint Commissioning Committee of the Cheshire CCGs (the JCC) was in operation between
April and September 2019. The JCC was a joint committee of NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale
Royal CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS West Cheshire CCG.
Following the governance review these committees were disbanded and the following committees
were created to support the CCG to deliver its statutory duties:
 Quality and Safeguarding Committee
 Strategic Commissioning and Performance Committee
 Finance Committee
Membership performance and assessment of effectiveness
The CCG Membership has continued to help shape the priority areas for the CCG during 2019/20 to
focus on the needs of our patients within our locality, based on the priority areas of the CCG and the
national health agendas and guidance. We have contributed active debate and discussion to the
ongoing development of our CCG. We are aware of the significant challenges and opportunities
ahead and are confident that, with our partners, we can commission patient centred, high quality
services for our patient population that will improve health outcomes locally.
Governing Body performance and assessment of effectiveness
Our Governing Body, on behalf of the CCG Membership, has ensured the CCG is well managed
and has met its statutory duties during this year. The Governing Body has a good working
relationship with the Membership in order to shape the future vision for the CCG.
Our Governing Body has ensured the delivery of clinical leadership and involvement which means
that the patient remains at the heart of everything we do and that patient services remain at a high
quality. The Governing Body has received regular update reports regarding the CCG’s financial
performance during the course of the financial year. Discussions have involved both clinicians and
Lay Members who have provided constructive challenge and debate in the continuous monitoring of
the CCG’s financial position.
Through scrutiny of quality and performance data Governing Body have challenged outcomes for
the population. Governing Body Lay Members and clinicians have worked jointly with CCG staff and
providers to focus on the patient journey, quality, experience and outcomes.
The Governing Body has had a comprehensive programme of reports on agreed priorities
throughout the year. This work has focused on strategic priorities and key issues identified within the
Board Assurance Framework. As described in the Performance Report, over the last 12 months the
four CCGs have worked together collaboratively on a shared organisational development (OD)
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agenda to pool available resources and to begin the process of shaping the new health and care
system in Cheshire.
The Governing Body has had a comprehensive programme of reports on agreed priorities
throughout the year. This work has focused on strategic priorities and key issues identified within the
Board Assurance Framework.
The Governing Body has had a good working relationship with both internal and external auditors
throughout the year and both attend the Governance and Audit Committee on a regular basis.
Incidents and Complaints are monitored via a dedicated (I&C) group which reports to the CCG’s
Quality Committee. Exceptions are reported to the I&C Group on a monthly basis. A quarterly
report is also discussed which considers trends and appropriate actions. The I&C Group also has a
remit to review and approve closure of serious untoward incidents with the commissioned provider in
attendance.
The CCG strengthened cross-working arrangements across the four Cheshire CCGs during the year
so complaints and issues are dealt with and analysed across CCGs. This aids the identification of
trends and emerging issues among the CCGs’ services and providers.
2.1.3(4)
Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. Our Corporate
Governance arrangements are set out at section 2.1.3(3) this report.
2.1.3(5)
Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the Corporate
Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to ensure
compliance with the all-relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for
Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of recommendation of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory
duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other
associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directors have
confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the
clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
2.1.3(6)
Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
The CCG has in place a policy for the management of risk as part of its overall governance
arrangements. The policy provides a comprehensive guide to the CCG’s approach to risk
management, outlining committee and individual responsibilities. Key to this strategy is setting out
processes to identify risks to the organisation’s objectives and develop plans and actions to address
them. This is then driven forward by ensuring that there is continued and objective monitoring both
internally and via the CCG committee structure.
The aim is not to create a risk free environment, but one where risk is identified and managed as a
matter of course within the risk appetite of the CCG and where risk management is embedded in all
aspects of the work of the CCG.
There is a full suite of Risk Management and Board Assurance documents which are reviewed at
least bi-monthly. Risks and issues facing the CCG during the year were captured in the Governing
Body Assurance Framework (GBAF). This assurance framework was developed jointly across the
four CCGS in Cheshire and was reviewed at the formal meetings of each respective Governing
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Body meeting. The Governing Body agenda is cross referenced to the GBAF to ensure that all risks
which could impact on the key objectives of the CCG are being addressed. The risks outlined in the
GBAF were developed and agreed by the Governing Bodies of each of the four Cheshire CCGs at a
dedicated workshop and at subsequent meetings.
The programme management office approach has helped to solidify the risk management process
and ensure it is considered by staff at all levels in their day-to-day work. Quality impact
assessments, equality impact assessments, data protection impact assessments and risk logs are a
standard part of all projects and pieces of work and risks identified at a project level are escalated,
when appropriate, through the directorates to the corporate risk register. Where risks are identified
in the planning of service developments that may impact on the public and users of services
consultations are carried out.
Risks can be identified from a number of sources including staff identifying risks; via committees;
incidents; patient, public and stakeholder feedback; complaints and incidents; external assessments
and audits; programme and project management and general operation activity.
All risks are assigned a relevant Executive owner who has overall accountability, with an operational
manager responsible for overseeing the effective management of each risk. CCG committees have
oversight over risks within their remit.
Policies are in place around health and safety, emergency planning, whistleblowing, information
governance and incident reporting, all of which contribute to the overall management of risk within
the organisation. Training has taken place during the year around privacy impact assessments,
quality impact assessments and equality impact assessments, public engagement and consultation
and risk management.
The CCG has local counter-fraud services in place provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency.
2.1.3(7)
Capacity to Handle Risk
The following key areas describe our approach:
 Leadership is given to the risk management process – The CCG has ensured that risk
management processes have been embedded throughout the CGG, with clear direction and
oversight from the Governing Body and the Executive Team. The responsibility for risk
management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from governing body members, directors
and to all managers and staff. Risks are regularly reported to CCG committees and escalated as
appropriate to Governing Body. Our Executives have clear responsibilities and understand their
role in implementing the effective approach towards how the CCG handles risk. Risks are
regularly reviewed by senior managers and Executives, with risks being escalated as appropriate.
The Programme Management Office has given additional clarity to risk management, with clear
reporting lines from project and programme level through to senior management, CCG
committees and ultimately Governing Body.
 Our Staff – Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their
authority and duties. Training has been provided to staff as an integral part of the establishment
of the programme management office, with additional support and advice being provided
internally to anyone who requires it. Role specific training has been provided to the members of
the risk management team to ensure they are fully up-to-date with current best practice and
equipped to offer advice and guidance throughout the CCG.
2.1.3(8)
Risk Assessment
The CCG’s risk management framework, including the role of the Governing Body, is described
above. The key strategic risks on the GBAF as presented to the Governing Body in March 2020
were:
 Delivering financial balance
 Quality and sustainability of services
 Commissioning
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Statutory Duties
Learning Disabilities, Transforming Care
Adults and Children’s Safeguarding
Engagement and partnership working

The highest rated risk relates to delivering financial balance - the agreed financial plans present
considerable challenge across the local system because of increasing demand and costs compared
to the resources available. As a result we did not meet our agreed system-wide control total in year
and the overall financial trajectory will not be complied with, meaning statutory financial duties will
not be met.
2.1.3(9)

Other Sources of Assurance

The Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should
they be realised. The CCG recognises that it is not possible, or on occasion appropriate, to entirely
eliminate risk. On this basis the Risk Management Framework provides a process to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Committee structure of the CCG ensures clear lines of accountability and defined
responsibilities in order to provide assurance to the Governing Body and our Membership that the
CCG is discharging its duties effectively. All committees have terms of reference to define their remit
and accountability.
Control mechanisms include:
 The scheme of reservation and delegation (SORD) which sets out the responsibilities of the
Membership, Governing Body and its sub-committees. This makes clear where responsibilities
lie and where assurance can be sought that these responsibilities are being carried out
effectively.
 CCG Assurance Framework and Risk Management Framework which support the delivery of the
CCG’s objectives by establishing processes to identify and effectively manage risk, identifying
gaps in control and providing assurance on the delivery of the objectives.
 Financial controls which includes financial policies, standing orders, standing financial
instructions and delegated limits which are reviewed annually.
 CCG Policies and Procedures.
The Governance and Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal controls on
behalf of the Governing Body. Assurances are received from a range of sources including internal
audit, external audit, local counter fraud services, management reports and committee reports.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2017)
requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support
CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
An audit of arrangements for managing conflicts of interest was undertaken by Mersey Internal Audit
Agency in Quarter in Quarter 4 of 2019/20. The overall ratings for the 5 areas in scope were:
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System Design
Scope Area

Operational
Effectiveness

Compliance Level / Compliance Level /
RAG rating
RAG rating

1. Governance Arrangements

PC / AMBER

PC / AMBER

2. Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality

PC / AMBER

PC / AMBER

3. Register of interests, gifts and hospitality and
procurement decisions

FC / GREEN

PC / AMBER

4. Decision making
monitoring

FC / GREEN

FC / GREEN

PC / AMBER

N/A
(no breaches to
report)

processes

and

contract

5. Reporting concerns and identifying and managing
breaches / non compliance



Fully Compliant (FC)



Partially Compliant (PC)



Non Complaint (NC)

Data Quality
The Governing Body receives a monthly Performance report which includes information on
performance against the NHS Constitutional targets and the CCG’s agreed planned activity with key
providers.
The Governing Body finds the quality of data they receive acceptable however, the CCG is
committed to maintaining high standards in its management of data, working in accordance with
best practice to provide appropriate assurance regarding data quality, so continually works with
partners to maintain and improve data received. The CCG recognises its statutory responsibilities in
relation to the quality and management of data under the Data Protection Act 2018, the Freedom of
Information Act 2000, and associated legislation. The underlining principles to our data quality are
as follows:
 Accuracy – Data should be sufficiently detailed for the purposes for which it is collected.
 Validity – Data will be collected and used in compliance with internal and external requirements,
to ensure consistency and it reflects the intended requirements.
 Reliability – Data is collected and processed consistently and in accordance with our defined
processes to ensure that any changes in data are genuinely reflective of the activities
represented.
 Timeliness – Data is collected as promptly as possible after the associated activity and be
available for use within a reasonable timeframe.
 Relevance – Data collected should be relevant for the purposes for which they are obtained.
 Completeness – Data should be complete and as comprehensive as necessary to provide an
accurate representation of the activity concerned and meet the information needs of the
customer.
All of the organisation’s main providers are required under their contract to have good quality data
that is compliant with national standards and the CCG undertakes validation processes to ensure
data is complete, accurate, relevant and timely. This is undertaken by the Business Intelligence
Team, who are part of the Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (CSU).
Regular reports are also provided on the CCG’s performance against the NHS Oversight
Framework.
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Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the
NHS handles information about patients, the public and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data
Security and Protection Toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the
clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. The CCG completed the Data Security and
Protection Toolkit and has met all standards required as part of this assessment, with the exception
of training compliance, which was impacted by the emergency response in March 2020.
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems and
processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have established an
information governance management framework and have developed information governance
policies and procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. We have implemented
a staff information governance handbook to ensure employees are aware of their roles and
responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. With the
support of the CSU IG team, an information risk culture has been embedded throughout the
organisation.
Business Critical Models
The CCG has business critical models for planning, forecasting expenditure and commitments and
financial evaluation of projects. Forecasting and financial planning systems are based on systems
provided by NHS England and therefore are not subjected to specific assurance processes by the
CCG. All business critical models are considered as part of the internal audit planning process and
assurance as needed is gained through that process.
Pension Obligations
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures
are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme regulations are complied
with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into
the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension scheme records are
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with the
required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010.
Third Party Assurances
Assurance on Information Governance and Counter Fraud arrangements are sought from
Healthcare providers. We have received risk stratification assurance statements from Midlands and
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU), who provide our business intelligence and HR
support services, and Arden & Greater East Midlands (GEM) Commissioning Support Unit, who
provide our data services. These assurance statements have been submitted to NHS England.
2.1.3(10)
Control Issues
At March 2020 there were a number of key areas where targets were being missed. The issues and
mitigations in place to improve performance at that point were:
Quality and Performance - Accident and Emergency
Work is being carried out within East Cheshire NHS Trust (the “Trust”) and with system partners to
develop and agree actions to address identified issues each day and forward plan for the week
ahead. The Trust has a zero tolerance of minors breaches. Each breach of patients attending with
a “Minor” presentation is reviewed on a daily basis to establish any themes, issues and whether the
person was truly a minor and PAS (Patient Administration System) amended accordingly.
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Quality and Performance – Referral to Treatment (RTT)/52 week wait
The common specialties that are failing at all local providers remain General Surgery, T&O, ENT,
Gynaecology and Rheumatology.
At East Cheshire NHS Trust, specialty level action plans and trajectories are in place and are
reviewed regularly with the Trust. Significant improvements have been made during the last few
months in Cardiology and Gastroenterology. There are some specialities that may fail the 92%
standard - Thoracic Medicine (although currently on the internal trajectory), T&O (under the internal
trajectory) and ENT (under of the internal trajectory). Looking ahead, the deferral of non-emergency
and non-urgent elective procedures as part of the Covid-19 national response will inevitably result in
increasing numbers of 52 week breaches.
At Manchester University Foundation Trust (MFT), there has been significant under-achievement
against plan. This is due to increased referrals and limited capacity within certain specialties.
Extensive work with specialties to improve performance continues and each failing specialty has an
action plan in place. The knock-on effect of increased cancer referrals is reducing RTT capacity.
MFT have undertaken additional validation work to reduce waiting list sizes. On a positive note,
MFT has achieved the trajectory set from April for the number of RTT incomplete pathways. To
monitor the position further, MFT has a weekly task force group to review progress against the
action plans
At Stockport NHS Foundation Trust several specialties are forecasting achievement of 92% or
above by March 2020 with some already achieving. The current focus on reducing the waiting list
size will impact on performance.
There is continued monitoring of specialties against trajectories and recovery plans; a focus on data
quality, training and validation. Furthermore, each Business Group is undertaking intensive
validation within their respective areas on a weekly basis, above the business as usual validation.
Challenge continues to be offered to those specialties who have already achieved the 92%
standard, and the opportunity to share learning across specialties will be utilised.
Quality and Performance - Ambulance Services
Product Improvement plan (PIP) in place regionally that will deliver all targets with the exception of
C1s by the end of March 2020. The PIP is scrutinised and monitored at a regional level.
2.1.3(11)
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
To ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and with effectiveness:
• The Governing Body provides active leadership of the organisation within a framework of prudent
and effective controls that enable risk to be assessed and managed.
• The Audit Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body, is pivotal in advising the Governing
Body on the effectiveness of the system of internal control and use of resources. Any significant
issues would be reported to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee report after each Audit
Committee meeting.
• The Finance, Performance & Commissioning Committee (FPCC) responsibilities include
overseeing the development and review of: strategy and commissioning plans, annual
commissioning intentions, financial plans (including delivery), undertaking detailed scrutiny of
performance, contract monitoring and financial management on behalf of the CCG, and also
review and monitor the organisational improvement plan. FPCC review performance on a regular
basis, escalating any issues to the CCG’s Governing Body.
• Directors' roles and responsibilities are aligned to ensure systems of internal control are in place
and implemented effectively throughout the organisation.
• Internal Audit provides reports to each meeting of the Audit Committee and full reports to the
Chief Finance Officer. The Audit Committee also receives details of any actions that remain
outstanding from the follow up of previous audit work. The Chief Finance Officer also meets
regularly with the Audit Manager.
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• External Audit provides external audit annual management letter and progress reports to the
Audit Committee.
• The Governing Body receive regular reports on the CCG’s performance against the NHS
Oversight Framework (previously known as the Improvement and Assessment Framework). The
most recently published assessment of the CCG’s Quality of Leadership in “Green”. One of the
elements considered as part of this assessment is whether “the CCG matches the characteristics
of an organisation with strong financial leadership”. The 2019/20 year-end results will be issued
later in the year.
2.1.3(12)
Delegation of functions
The CCG established a Joint Commissioning Committee (JCC) of NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS
Vale Royal CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS West Cheshire CCG. It was set up to
manage, to the extent permitted under s.14Z3 NHS Act 2006 (as amended), the activities of the four
CCGs as within its delegated responsibilities. As described at the Governance Arrangements and
Effectiveness section of this report, the JCC only operated for part of the year and was subsequently
disbanded. The responsibilities of the Committee were subsequently delivered by the Cheshire
CCGs’ governing bodies which have met together with a shared agenda since January 2020.
The Committee had the primary purpose of enabling the CCG members to work effectively together
to collaborate and take joint decisions in the areas of work they agree. Individual CCGs that
constitute the membership of the Committee will still always remain accountable for meeting their
statutory duties.
The Committee was responsible for exercising the following functions:
 Delegated decision making authority for recommendations made by the Cheshire and
Merseyside Five Year Forward View leadership board, and Cheshire and Wirral Local Delivery
System recommendations for adoption across Cheshire.
 Strategic oversight and development of the workplan for the establishment of unified health
commissioning across Cheshire, providing recommendations for adoption to CCG Governing
Bodies and endorsement by Health and Wellbeing Boards.
 Delegated decision making authority on commissioning services at scale, as outlined with the
Committees Annual Workplan and CCG Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
Each CCG had equal representation, with the individual CCG membership on the Committee being:
 Clinical representation: CCG GP Chair and one other GP Representative.
 Executive representation: Accountable Officer and one other Executive Director.
 Independent Representation: CCG Lay Member.
The Committee operated in accordance with an Annual Workplan agreed and reviewed by each
CCG member of the Joint Committee on an annual basis.
2.1.3(13)
Counter Fraud Arrangements
The CCG is committed to reducing the level of fraud, corruption and bribery within the NHS to an
absolute minimum and keeping it at that level, freeing up public resources for better patient care.
The organisation policies relates to all forms of fraud, bribery and corruption and is intended to
provide direction and help to employees, office holders and all other staff who work for and with the
CCG who may identify suspected fraud which comply with NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards
for NHS Commissioners 2019-20 - Fraud, bribery and corruption.
The CCG’s constitution states that the Lay Member whose role is to oversee the key elements of
governance, Chairs the Governing Body’s Governance and Audit Committee and acts as the
Conflicts of Interest Guardian has a lead role in ensuring that appropriate and effective
whistleblowing and counter fraud systems are in place. The Executive Lead responsible for on
tackling fraud, bribery and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer (CFO).
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Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption services are provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA).
MIAA’s Anti-Fraud Specialists are all fully accredited and adhere to national legislative and best
practice guidance, including supporting the CCG to comply with the requirements in the NHS CFA
Standards for Commissioners.
 The CCG Audit Committee received reports from the MIAA counter fraud team and takes
appropriate action to address recommendations.
 The Committee will receive MIAA’s Anti-Fraud Services Annual Report
 There is executive support and direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to address
identified risks.
 The Committee considered and approved an updated “Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
Policy” in September 2019.
 The CCG submitted an overall ‘green’ rating to the formal self-review tool for the Standards for
Commissioners.
2.1.3(14)
Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical commissioning
group, the Director of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk management, governance
and internal control. The Director of Internal Audit concluded that:
Substantial Assurance can be given that that there is a good system of internal control designed to
meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently.
The following opinions were issues in relation to the CCG’s Assurance Framework (AF):
Structure
The organisation’s AF is structured to meet the NHS requirements.
Engagement
The AF is visibly used by the organisation.
Quality &
The AF clearly reflects the risks discussed by the Governing Body.
Alignment
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following risk based and mandated audit reports:
Area of Audit
Level of Assurance Given
Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting
Financial Systems and Reporting
Stakeholder Engagement and Impact
Data Protection and Security Toolkit

Full Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Moderate Assurance

The audit assignment element of the Opinion is limited to the scope and objective of each of the
individual reviews. Detailed information on the limitations to the reviews has been provided within
the individual audit reports and through the Audit Committee Progress reports throughout the year.
During the year, Internal Audit raised no critical recommendations and no high risk
recommendations in respect of the above assignments.
2.1.3(15)

Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal
Control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning
group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by
comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
Our Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal objectives have been
reviewed.
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The Governing Body and the Governance and Audit Committee have advised me on the
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. Where
appropriate they have provided advice and a plan to address weaknesses and to ensure that
continuous improvement of the system is in place.
2.1.3(16)
Conclusion
Mitigating actions are in place to address the key risks facing the CCG to ensure that continuous
improvements of the system are in place. These risks and the mitigating actions are outlined within
this Accountability Report. The CCG continues to face financial challenges and has agreed a deficit
budget with NHS England in 2020/21. The CCG continues to be in financial recovery and, as part of
the wider system, will look to build on delivery of savings achieved in 2019/20. All future plans align
with the Cheshire and Merseyside Five Year Forward View and the Local Delivery System plans.
The CCG has identified the “Impact of Covid-19 pandemic response” as a major risk and has noted
that it needs to consider a number of impacts on the services it commissions, the population served,
its stakeholders, its staff, its ability to deliver strategic objectives and its financial position and the
potential adverse impact on other health and care provision. Some of these impacts are short term,
but there will be ongoing effects that will impact on the CCG’s ability to meet some of its strategic
objectives along with ongoing impacts for the health and wellbeing of the Cheshire population. An
Incident Management Team was established to manage the CCG’s response in late 2019/20.
During 2020/21, a Recovery and Reset Programme will progress a number of programme areas
within the CCG’s executive management directorates to address the current and future risks and
opportunities associated with the lasting impact of the pandemic response and management.

Clare Watson
Clare Watson
Accountable Officer
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
24 June 2020
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2.2

Remuneration Report

The remuneration and staff report sets out the CCG’s remuneration policy for directors and senior
managers, reports on how that policy has been implemented and sets out the amounts awarded to
directors and senior managers and where relevant the link between performance and remuneration.

2.2.1

Remuneration Committee and Policy

The core responsibility of a CCG remuneration committee is to make recommendations to the
Governing Body on:
 determinations about the terms and conditions, remuneration, fees and other allowances for
governing body members (other than lay members), employees of the CCG (including GPs
performing roles within the CCG) and for people who provide services to the group;
 determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the group may establish as an
alternative to the NHS pension scheme; and
 arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual arrangements.
The four Cheshire CCGs retained separate committees during 2019/20 though they met together on
a number of occasions during the year.
The CCG’s Remuneration Committee was made up of lay and GP members. The Committee was
chaired by a lay member. An HR adviser was always in attendance at meetings of the committees
and other officers were present to advise where appropriate. When the membership of CCG
Governing Bodies changed from January 2020 the members of CCG Remuneration Committees
changed to reflect that.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG Remuneration Committee met on three occasions:
Members
8.11.19*
9.12.19**
6.3.20*


Peter Munday - Chair


Gill Boston


Laura Beresford


Jane Stephens

Pam Smith - Chair

Wendy Williams

Fiona McGregor-Smith
*Meeting with Remuneration Committees of NHS South Cheshire, NHS Vale Royal and NHS West
Cheshire CCGs
** Meeting with Remuneration Committee of NHS West Cheshire CCG
HR advisors that attended Remuneration Committee meetings during the year were:
 Adam Burgess-Evans, MLCSU – Head of People Services
 Gareth James, MLCSU – Senior HR Business Partner
 Lynne Gibson, MLCSU – HR Business Partner
Other officers/advisers that have attended Remuneration Committee meetings during the year were:
 Clare Watson, Accountable Officer
 Lynda Risk, Chief Finance Officer
 Matthew Cunningham, Director of Governance and Corporate Development
Remuneration of Senior Managers
‘Senior manager’ is defined as “those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility
for directing or controlling major activities of the CCG”. This means those who influence the
decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.
Our Remuneration Committee determined the salaries of Governing Body members, including the
Chair, Chief Executive / Accountable Officer and Chief Finance Officer as well as the Executive
Directors of the CCG. The remuneration packages for senior posts were determined following
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specialist HR advice and in accordance with relevant NHS England guidance, including: “Clinical
commissioning group guidance on senior appointments, including accountable officer” and “Clinical
commissioning group governing body members: Role outlines, attributes and skills”.
The NHS England guidance details a number of allowances that can be applied for differing
circumstances. These include a percentage increase for complexity and a percentage increase
where joint management arrangements exist. Both of these were applied as per the Remuneration
Committee’s recommendations for the Chief Executive / Accountable Officer and the Chief Finance
Officer. The percentage allowance relating to complexity has been applied for the GP Clinical Chair
salary.
Pensions
All salaried Governing Body members had access to the NHS Pension Scheme, except for our Lay
Members. Details of each pension scheme can be found at: https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/memberhub (see note 4.5 of the Annual Accounts for further information).
Performance Management
Our CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all its employees which assesses individuals’
performance in relation to the delivery of organisational objectives. The CCG also maintains a suite
of associated policies including a Performance Management Policy.

63

2.2.2

Governing Body and Senior Manager Salary Disclosure 2019/20
(Subject to Audit)
Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Taxable
Benefits
(rounded to
nearest
£100) *2
£

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500) *1
£000

Total (bands
of £5,000)
£000

Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair

45 - 50

-

-

45 - 50

Clare Watson - Chief Executive
Alex Mitchell - Chief Finance Officer
to 31 May 2019 *3
Lynda Risk - Director of Finance and
Contracting from 1 June 2019
Dr Fari Ahmad - GP Governing
Body Member to 22 January 2020
Dr Mike Clark - GP Governing
Body Member
Dr Rob Thorburn - GP Governing
Body Member to 30 June 2019
Dr Stuart Thomas - GP Governing
Body Member from 1 Sept 2019 – 31
Dec 2019
Dr Jenny Lawn - GP Governing Body
Member to 22 January 2020
Dr Janet Walls - Secondary Care
Representative to 22 January 2020
Sheila Hillhouse - Governing Body
Nurse to 22 January 2020
Laura Beresford - GP Governing Body
Member to 22 January 2020
Peter Munday - Lay Member
(Governance and Audit)
Gill Boston - Lay Member (Patient and
Public Engagement) to 22 January
2020
Jane Stephens - Lay Member (Patient
and Public Engagement) to 22
January 2020
Fiona Reynolds - Director of Public
Health, Cheshire East Council to 31
July 2019 *5
Matt Tyrer - Acting Director of Public
Health, Cheshire East Council from
1 August 2019 *5
Dr Gwydion Rhys -General Practice
Representative from 23 January 2020
Dr Fiona-McGregor-Smith - General
Practice Representative from 23
January 2020
Dr Lesley Appleton - General Practice
Representative from 23 January 2020

35 - 40

100

32.5 - 35

70 - 75

15 - 20

600

25 – 27.5

40 - 45

25 - 30

-

20 – 22.5

45 - 50

20 - 25

-

-

20 - 25

15 - 20

-

-

15 - 20

5 - 10

-

-

5 - 10

5 - 10

-

-

5 - 10

20 - 25

-

-

20 - 25

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

5 - 10

-

-

5 - 10

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

5 - 10

-

-

5 - 10

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0–5

-

-

0–5

0–5

-

-

0–5

0–5

-

-

0–5

Name and Role of Governing body
member or senior manager
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Name and Role of Governing body
member or senior manager

Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member,
Governance from 23 January 2020
Pam Smith - Lay Member,
Engagement, Involvement and
Experience from 23 January 2020
Wendy Williams - Lay Member,
Engagement, Involvement and
Experience (and Deputy Chair) from
23 January 2020
Chris Lynch - Co-opted Lay Member,
Engagement, Involvement and
Experience from 23 January 2020
Ian Ashworth - Director of Public
Health from 23 January 2020 *5
Dr Teresa Strefford - Executive
Clinical Director from 23 January 2020
Tracey Cole - Executive Director of
Strategy and Partnerships from 1
June 2019
Neil Evans - Executive Director of
Planning and Delivery
Paula Wedd - Executive Director of
Quality and Patient Experience from 1
June 2019
Matthew Cunningham - Director of
Governance and Corporate
Development from 1 June 2019

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Taxable
Benefits
(rounded to
nearest
£100) *2
£

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500) *1
£000

Total (bands
of £5,000)
£000

0–5

-

-

0–5

0–5

-

-

0–5

0–5

-

-

0–5

0–5

-

-

0–5

-

-

-

-

0–5

-

-

0–5

25 - 30

100

7.5 - 10

30 - 35

35 - 40

-

22.5 - 25

60 - 65

20 - 25

100

12.5 - 15

35 - 40

15 - 20

1,800

17.5 - 20

40 - 45

Notes to Statements
*1 Pension related benefit relates to in year benefits from participating pension schemes
The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension
multiplied by 20, less the contributions made by the individual. The real increase excludes
increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value
does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is
intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member
of the pension scheme could provide. The pension benefit table provides further information on the
pension benefits accruing to the individual.
*2 Benefits relate to the taxable benefit on the provision of cars and taxable mileage
*3 Alex Mitchell continued to be employed by the CCG after standing down from the Governing
body. His salary for that period was in the range £80k to £85k
*4 These individuals are seconded for £Nil
*5 A number of roles are shared between four CCGs and NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG paid its
share of their remuneration as disclosed in the table above. The total remuneration for those
individuals, funded by the four CCG’s is set out below:
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Overall remuneration of shared
Governing body member or senior
manager (funded by four CCGs)

Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
Clare Watson - Chief Executive
Lynda Risk - Director of Finance and
Contracting
Dr Mike Clark - GP Governing
Body Member
Sheila Hillhouse - Governing Body
Nurse
Peter Munday - Lay Member
(Governance and Audit)
Dr Gwydion Rhys -General Practice
Representative from 23 January 2020
Dr Fiona-McGregor-Smith - General
Practice Representative
Dr Lesley Appleton - General Practice
Representative
Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member,
Governance
Pam Smith - Lay Member,
Engagement, Involvement and
Experience
Wendy Williams - Lay Member,
Engagement, Involvement and
Experience (and Deputy Chair)
Chris Lynch - Co-opted Lay Member,
Engagement, Involvement and
Experience
Dr Teresa Strefford - Executive
Clinical Director from 23 January 2020
Tracey Cole - Executive Director of
Strategy and Partnerships
Neil Evans - Executive Director of
Planning and Delivery
Paula Wedd - Executive Director of
Quality and Patient Experience
Matthew Cunningham - Director of
Governance and Corporate
Development from 1 June 2019

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
100 - 105
140 - 145

Taxable
Benefits
(rounded to
nearest
£100)
£
300

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
130 – 132.5

Total (bands
of £5,000)
£000
100 - 105
270 - 275

115 - 120

100

97.5 – 100

210 - 215

20 - 25

-

-

20 - 25

15 - 20

-

-

15 - 20

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

15 – 20

-

-

15 – 20

15 – 20

-

-

15 – 20

5 – 10

-

-

5 – 10

10 – 15

200

-

10 – 15

5 – 10

200

-

10 – 15

0–5

-

-

0–5

0–5

-

-

0–5

75 – 80

-

7.5 – 10

80 – 85

100 - 105

300

35 – 37.5

135 - 140

100 - 105

-

62.5 - 65

165 - 170

105 - 110

500

62.5 - 65

170 - 175

70 - 75

6,700

70 - 72.5

150 - 155
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2.2.2

Governing Body and Senior Manager Salary Disclosure 2018/19
(Subject to Audit)

Name and Role of Governing body
member or senior manager

Dr Paul Bowen, Chair
Jerry Hawker – Chief Officer to 7
September 2018
Clare Watson – Chief Officer from 1
January 2019 *3
Alex Mitchell - Chief Finance Officer*4
Dr Mike Clark - GP Governing
Body Member
Sheila Hillhouse - Governing Body
Nurse
Peter Munday - Lay Member
(Governance and Audit)
Gill Boston - Lay Member (Patient and
Public Engagement)
Jane Stephens - Lay Member (Patient
and Public Engagement)
Dr Fari Ahmad - GP Governing Body
Member
Dr Jenny Lawn - GP Governing Body
Member
Dr Rob Thorburn - GP Governing
Body Member
Laura Beresford - GP Governing Body
Member to 22 January 2020
Dr Janet Walls - Secondary Care
Representative
David Gilburt (Acting CFO) from 1
September to 31 January
Fiona Reynolds - Director of Public
Health, Cheshire East Council

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
90 - 95

Taxable
Benefits
(rounded to
nearest
£100) *2
£
-

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500) *1
£000
17.5 – 20

Total (bands
of £5,000)
£000
105 - 110

50 - 55

2,700

2.5 – 5.0

55 - 60

5.0 – 7.5

15 - 20

5 - 10
105 - 110

2,400

60 – 62.5

170 - 175

15 - 20

-

-

15 - 20

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

25 - 30

-

-

25 - 30

30 - 35

-

-

30 - 35

20 - 25

-

-

20 - 25

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

10 - 15

-

-

10 - 15

25 - 30

-

-

25 – 30

-

-

-

-

*1 All pension related benefits are calculated by a formula that calculates the increase in the year by deducting
the sum of 20 times the member’s pension entitlement at retirement age plus lump sum entitlement at 31 March
2017 as adjusted for inflation from the sum of 20 times the member’s pension entitlement at retirement age plus
the real increase in lump sum entitlement at 31 March 2018. Employee contributions in the year towards these
benefits are deducted.
*2 Benefits relate to the taxable benefit on the provision of cars.
.*3 Clare Watson’s role is shared between four CCGs and NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG paid its share of her
remuneration from her appointment on 1 January 2019 as disclosed above. Clare Watson’s total remuneration for
the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019 for the four CCGs was in the region £35k to £40k.
*4 During the period from September to 31 December, Alex Mitchell was Acting Chief Officer and Acting
Accountable Officer and the additional remuneration is included in these figures. The figures for pension related
benefits are based on the remuneration level at that time.
*5 David Gilburt acted as Chief Finance Officer from September to 31 December.
*6 Seconded from another body for £nil.
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2.2.3

Name

Governing Body and Senior Manager Pension Disclosure
2019/20 (Subject to Audit)
(d) Lump
sum at
(a) Real
(c) Total pension
increase
accrued
age
in
(b) Real
pension
at
related
to
pension increase
(e) Cash
pension
accrued
at
in pension
(f) Real (g) Cash
(h)
pension lump sum age at pension at Equivalent Increase Equivalent Employers
age at pension 31 March 31 March Transfer in Cash Transfer contribution
Value at
(bands
2020
2020
age
Equivalent Value at
to
of
(bands of (bands of (bands of 1 April
Transfer 31 March partnership
£2,500) £2,500) £5,000)
£5,000
2019
Value
2020
pension
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Neil Evans

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

15 - 20

25 - 30

205

59

269

-

Matthew
Cunningham

2.5 - 5

7.5 - 10

15 - 20

30 - 35

188

72

265

-

Alex Mitchell

-

-

35 - 40

85 - 90

697

-

707

-

*1 The scheme is a final salary scheme and scheme benefits are estimated using salaries. Therefore
temporary changes in salaries can impact estimates of accrued pension.
* 2 Pensions relating to joint appointments are recorded in the Remuneration and Staff reports of the
CCG which employees the individual.

2.2.3

Name

Dr Paul
Bowen
Jerry
Hawker
Clare
Watson
Alex Mitchell

Governing Body and Senior Manager Pension Disclosure
2018/19 (Subject to Audit)
(d) Lump
sum at
(a) Real
(c) Total pension
(b)
increase
accrued
age
in
Real
pension at related to
pension increase
pension accrued (e) Cash
at
in pension
(f) Real (g) Cash
(h)
age at pension at
pension lump sum
Equivalent Increase Equivalent Employers
31 March
age at pension 31 March
Transfer in Cash Transfer contribution
2019
2019 Value at 1
(bands
age
Equivalent Value at
to
of
(bands of (bands of (bands of
April
Transfer 31 March partnership
£2,500) £2,500) £5,000)
£5,000
2018
Value
2019
pension
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

15 - 20

30 - 35

195

52

251

-

0 – 2.5

-

20 -25

45 - 50

350

67

424

-

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

40 - 45

95 - 100

535

181

725

-

2.5–5.0 7.5 – 10

35 – 40

90 - 95

536

152

697
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer
the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the
individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just
their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in
accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office
There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination of Governing Body
members’ contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy or, ‘in the interests of the efficiency of
the service’ is subject to the provisions of the Agenda for Change NHS Terms and Conditions
Handbook.
Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination by
reason of early retirement, are subject to the normal provisions of the NHS Pension
Scheme.
Payments to past directors
Alex Mitchell continued to be employed by the CCG in his substantive post as Deputy Chief
Finance Officer following standing down from the Governing Body in May 2019. There were
no other payments of this nature.
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2.2.4

Pay Multiples (Subject to Audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
in the financial year was in the band £185k-£190k (2018-19: £180k-£185k). This was 4.8
times (2018-19: 4.9 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £38,765
(2018-19: £6,547).
No employee received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director/Member in 2019-20.
Staff remuneration, including Governing Body Members, on a full time equivalent basis ranged
from £Nil to £185-£190 (2018-19: £Nil to £180- £185k).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. It is pro rata the contracted hours and not the
actual amounts paid. The workforce comprises executive directors and staff excluding nonexecutives.
There is no significant variance in the year on year multiples.
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2.3

Staff Report

2.3.1

Our Team

As described in the Performance Report, close relationships exist between the four Cheshire CCGs,
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale
Royal CCG, and NHS West Cheshire CCG which share a management team and a common
Governing Body membership. Over the last 12 months the four CCGs worked together
collaboratively on a shared organisational development (OD) agenda to pool available resources and
to begin the process of shaping the new health and care system in Cheshire.

2.3.2

Staff Numbers and Composition

Staff analysis by band
Pay Band

Headcount

Apprentice
Band 1
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8 - Range A
Band 8 - Range B
Band 8 - Range C
Band 8 - Range D
Band 9
Medical
VSM
Governing Body (off payroll)

0
0
4
0
7
3
6
8
8
6
3
0
2
6
13
2

Grand Total
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This table is on a head count basis which means that individuals working part time are included as a
whole number, it includes Governing Body lay members but does not include staff hosted by other
CCGs. The table sets out the number as at 31 March 2020.
*Governing Body (off payroll) pertains to Governing Body Members without a pay record in the CCG
Electronic Staff Record (ESR) system.
Analysis by gender
Headcount by Gender
Staff Grouping
Female
Male
Unknown
Totals
Governing Body*, Executive Directors and
17
Director of Governance and Corporate
10
7
Development
7
Other Senior Management (Band 8C+)
3
4
42
All Other Employees
29
13
Grand Total
42
24
66
*Minus the two Director of Public Health who are “ex officio” attendees at Governing Body meetings
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% by Gender
Female
Male
Unknown*

Staff Grouping
Governing Body*, Executive Directors and
Director of Governance and Corporate
58.8%
41.2%
0.0%
Development
Other Senior Management (Band 8C+)
42.9%
57.1%
0.0%
All Other Employees
69.0%
31.0%
0.0%
Grand Total
63.64%
36.36%
0.00%
*Minus the two Director of Public Health who are “ex officio” attendees at Governing Body meetings
Gender Profile of Governing Body
The gender breakdown of the voting Governing Body membership at 31 March 2020, as described in
the Members’ Report, was:
 64% female (7 members);
 36% male (4 members)
Staff numbers (subject to audit)
The table below shows the average number of staff, on a full time equivalent basis, employed by the
CCG during the year.
Average Staff over the year by Staff
Group (Excluding Lay Members)
Administrative and Clerical
Medical and Dental
Total

Permanent
Staff WTE

Other
Staff WTE

Total WTE

60
1
61

2
-

62
1
63

Cost
£000
3,514
134
3,648
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Employee benefits 2019-20 (subject to audit)
Employee benefits

Administration
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

2019-20

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2,031
221
393
2,644

117
117

2,148
221
393
2,761

1,029
28
37
1,094

-

1,029
28
37
1,094

3,060
249
430
3,738

117
117

3,177
249
430
3,855

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net employee benefits

(167)
2,477

117

(167)
2,594

(40)
1,054

-

(40)
1,054

(207)
3,531

117

(207)
3,648

Employee benefits 2018-19
Employee benefits

Admininstration
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total

Other
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2,566
266
308
3,141

118
118

2,685
266
308
3,259

679
12
21
712

-

679
12
21
712

3,246
279
329
3,853

118
118

3,364
279
329
3,971

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net employee benefits including capitalised costs

(537)
2,604

118

(537)
2,722

(38)
674

-

(38)
674

(575)
3,278

118

(575)
3,396
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2.3.3

Sickness Absence

The CCG has a robust Attendance Management policy and procedure in place designed to establish
a positive attendance culture and support its managers and staff with attendance issues by ensuring
that these are managed consistently in a fair and equitable way.
The CCG proactively managed both short-term and long-term sickness absence in line with this
policy, with sickness absence being monitored on a monthly basis and reported on a quarterly basis
to the Governance and Audit Committee, which is a subcommittee of the Governing Body.
For the period January to December 2019, the CCG had a cumulative sickness absence rate of
2.08% The total number of days lost to sickness absence for the same period was 394 days.

2.3.4

Staff Policies Applied and Other Employee Matters

Equality, diversity and human rights
Promoting equality, diversity, human rights and inclusion is at the heart of our values, this leads us to
ensure that we commission, redesign and decommission services fairly and that no community or
protected group is left behind in Cheshire.
We continue to work in partnership with our providers, voluntary and community sector agencies and
other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of opportunity and meet the requirements
of the Equality Act 2010. We embrace equality, diversity and inclusion because it is the ethical thing to
do and because it allows us to harness a wide range of experience, ideas and creativity while
complying with anti-discrimination legislation.
One of the key principles of the NHS Constitution is that:
“The NHS provides a comprehensive service, available to all irrespective of gender, race, disability,
age, sexual orientation, religion, belief, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity or marital or
civil partnership status. The service is designed to improve, prevent, diagnose and treat both physical
and mental health problems with equal regard. It has a duty to each and every individual that it serves
and must respect their human rights. At the same time, it has a wider social duty to promote equality
through the services it provides and to pay particular attention to groups or sections of society where
improvements in health and life expectancy are not keeping pace with the rest of the population.”
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 states that each CCG must, in the exercise of its functions,
have regard to the need to:
 reduce inequalities between patients with respect to their ability to access health services
 reduce inequalities between patients with respect to the outcomes achieved for them by provision
of health services
 promote the involvement of patients and their carers in decisions about provision of health services
to them
 enable patients to make choices with respect to aspects of health services provided to them.
The Cheshire CCGs are committed to eliminating unlawful discrimination and promoting equality of
opportunity for all. We do this in the way we commission healthcare services and by aiming to
develop a diverse and well-supported workforce which reflects the population we serve.
The Equality Act (updated 2011) and the NHS Constitution help set the standard for CCGs to follow.
This means we should:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
 promote equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic, as well as
those who do not. Protected characteristics include age, disability, gender reassignment, race,
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership and pregnancy and
maternity
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
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We do this by:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are different
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities where
their participation is disproportionately low.
As a commissioner of services the CCG is committed to making sure equality and diversity is a
priority when we plan and commission local healthcare services. To do this we work closely with our
communities to understand their needs and how best to commission the most appropriate services to
meet those needs.
As an employer we are committed to ensuring we have a diverse workforce by providing fair and
equal access to all job opportunities, including access to career development and training
opportunities for existing and future staff. To do this we aim to recruit the best talent that we can and
remove any barriers to ensure that we have the widest possible pool of talent to draw from.
Section 149 of the Equality Act sets out the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) - a duty on public
bodies and others carrying out public functions. It ensures that public bodies consider the needs of all
individuals in their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation to their
own employees.
The PSED supports good decision-making – it encourages public bodies to understand how different
people will be affected by their activities so that policies and services are appropriate and accessible
to all and meet different people's needs. By understanding the effect of their activities on different
people, and how inclusive public services can support and open up people's opportunities, public
bodies are better placed to deliver policies and services that are efficient and effective. The PSED
therefore helps public bodies to deliver the government’s overall objectives for public services.
The PSED has three aims. It requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by
the act
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people
who do not share it
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not
share it.
In compliance with the PSED, we:
 set equality objectives every four years
 publish equality data (patient data, workforce data) on an annual basis
 ensure all providers complete the Equality Delivery System (EDS) and that EDS is written into
contracts
 complete Equality Analysis Assessments (EIAs)
 ensure the corporate website includes equality and diversity and is fully accessible.
EDS2
The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) is a tool to help the CCG review its equality performance and
to identify future priorities and actions. Its aim is to enable the NHS to deliver better outcomes for
patients and communities and staff working environments which are personal, fair and diverse.
At the heart of the EDS is a set of 18 outcomes grouped into four goals. These outcomes focus on the
issues of most concern to patients, carers, communities and staff. It is worth noting that, while the
EDS2 tool is mandated for commissioning and provider organisations, not all 18 outcomes contained
within it are directly applicable to CCGs. The CCG has identified and focuses its efforts on achieving
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six key outcomes. The outcomes were identified based on availability of evidence so as to enable the
ability to demonstrate progress.
It is against these outcomes that performance is analysed, graded and action determined. The
grading of the CCG is carried out annually by local people who form an independent stakeholder
panel.
The four national EDS goals are:
1. Better health outcomes
2. Improved patient access and experience
3. A representative and supported workforce
4. Inclusive leadership
The six CCG outcomes are:
 Services are commissioned, designed and procured to meet the health needs of local communities
(Link to Goal - Better Health Outcomes)
 When people use NHS services their safety is prioritised and they are free from mistakes,
mistreatment and abuse (Link to Goal - Better Health Outcomes)
 Screening, vaccination and other health promotion services reach and benefit all local communities
(Link to Goal - Better Health Outcomes)
 People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health or primary care
services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds (Link to Goal - Improved
Patient Access and Experience)
 People report positive experiences of the NHS (Link to Goal - Improved Patient Access and
Experience
 People’s complaints about services are handled respectfully and efficiently. (Link to Goal Improved Patient Access and Experience).
Each year the CCG reviews its performance against its equality objectives, provides evidence of how
it is performing against the EDS goals and undertakes a self-assessment with an independent panel.
This is reported to the Governing Body.
EIA
An Equality Impact Risk Assessment (EIRA) is a systematic way of seeing how any policies may
affect groups of people differently, based on the protected characteristics of diversity. EIAs are similar
to risk assessments. In the same way a risk assessment would be taken forward, an EIA allows the
assessor to identify potential problems and resolve or minimise them where possible. EIAs make sure
that the services provided in Cheshire work well for everyone.
WRES
NHS England introduced the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) following a number of
national reports which highlighted disparities in the number of black and minority ethnic (BME) people
in senior leadership positions across the NHS, as well as lower levels of wellbeing among the BME
population.
In April 2015 the WRES became a mandatory requirement and requires NHS organisations to
demonstrate progress against nine indicators of workforce equality, including a specific indicator to
address the low levels of BME Board representation.
The WRES now forms part of the CCG Assurance Framework, the NHS standard contract and the
Care Quality Commission inspection regime. It is expected that, year on year, all NHS organisations
will improve workforce race equality and that these improvements will be measured and demonstrated
through the annual publication of data for each of the WRES indicators
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The Cheshire CCGs welcome the introduction of the WRES and see it as a useful tool to identify and
reduce any disparities in experience and outcomes for NHS staff and job applicants of different
ethnicities.
The Cheshire CCGs work closely to bring people and local organisations together to help ensure a
personal, fair and diverse health and care system. The CCGs believe that equality and diversity
include addressing health inequalities and should be embedded in all their commissioning activity.
Our Annual Equality, Diversity and Inclusion report September 2018 sets out how we will continue to
deliver on our Equality and Inclusion Strategy 2018-21 and our agreed EDS2 framework-linked
Equality Objectives. The report also evidences how the CCG is meeting its PSED in all planning and
decision making. This is a requirement of the Equality Act 2010 and the PSED 2011.
Equality and Human Rights Plan
Our Equality and Human Rights Plan outlines our approach to equality, diversity and human rights.
This plan outlines the assurance that the strategic direction of the CCG is towards promoting equality
and challenging and eliminating unlawful discrimination, not just through the services that it is
responsible for commissioning but also through its day-to-day practices across the organisation. It
sets out the commitment of the CCG to adhere to its statutory obligations, ensuring compliance with
the PSED and Human Rights Act. It also highlights the national and local drivers that will shape and
influence our approach and commitment to valuing the diversity of service users and employees.
Along with our Organisational Development Plan and Engagement and Communications Strategy,
this plan is one of our enabling documents that will guide us in the delivery of our organisational
vision, values and principles. This includes ensuring that our local services are transformed through
meaningful engagement and partnership working with our patients, carers, local communities, local
authorities, the voluntary, charity and faith sector and provider organisations.
Staff Partnership Forum
The CCG acknowledges that the effective and productive conduct of employee relations benefits
significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role in partnership
working. In support of this the CCG has a recognition agreement with trade unions and staff side
representatives and actively participates in the Cheshire & Merseyside’s Staff Partnership Forum
which aims to identify and facilitate the workforce and employment aspects of the NHS locally in
developing arrangements to implement required changes which may affect the workforce.
The Staff Partnership Forum is the CCG’s main body for actively engaging, consulting and negotiating
with key staff side stakeholders. The forum is authorised to agree, revise and review policies and
procedures which may relate to changes in employment legislation and regulation and the terms and
conditions of employment affecting CCG staff covered by the national Agenda for Change Terms and
Conditions.
Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum during this period were subsequently ratified by
the CCG’s Governance and Audit Committee or Governing Body (as appropriate).
Staff Support
During the year the CCG continued to remain fully committed to the health and positive wellbeing of
its employees and understands that the health and wellbeing of the workforce is crucial to the delivery
of the improvements in patient care outlined in the CCG’s strategic commissioning plan. All staff have
access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Service including support for Visual Unit Display
(VDU) users and confidential counselling services. Managers are supported by the Human
Resources team to make appropriate referrals to support any health concerns raised by an employee
in a bid to ensure health and wellbeing remains a priority for the organisation.
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Personal Development Reviews
The CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all of its employees in order to manage the
performance and development of its staff. The CCG has adopted the stance that the current
organisation’s objectives and appraisal system are the method by which performance and
achievement of corporate objectives would be measured. Further work is currently being undertaken
to develop the PDR process in line with the CCG’s Organisational Development Plan and priorities.
Employee Consultation (Staff Well Being and Engagement)
The CCG recognises that its staff are its greatest asset, as it is through staff that the CCG is able to
achieve the fundamental positive outcomes in clinical commissioning required as part of the
organisation’s corporate strategy and objectives. In support of this the CCG places a high importance
on the delivery of effective communications, involvement and engagement with all of its employees
and discharges these duties through a variety of means including:
 Staff engagement champions – the Staff Engagement Champion Group oversees the monitoring
and implementation of the CCGs staff survey action plans. The group’s vision is to support the
organisation in driving forward effective engagement and health and wellbeing of all staff across
the CCG
 A regular ‘team briefing’ which provides a valuable opportunity for the Chief Officer and senior
managers to brief staff on important matters concerning the business and operations of the
organisation, including specific employee matters to which all CCG staff are invited and
encouraged to attend
 A weekly electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible summary of
key internal and external issues of relevance to the staff and CCG
 A dedicated email address for staff to provide feedback or raise queries.
Human Resources and Organisational Development Strategy
During the year, the four CCGs worked together collaboratively on a shared organisational
development (OD) agenda to pool available resources and to begin the process of shaping the new
health and care system in Cheshire.
We have delivered a Leading Change in Cheshire Programme for senior leaders which has evaluated
extremely well so far – the programme brought together senior leaders from all 4 CCGs at the
beginning of the change process and this has enabled a very positive and inclusive approach for
those leaders to support the new executive team to deliver a challenging agenda. These system
leaders will act together as a leadership community to integrate more pragmatically staff engagement
and sustainable organisational development moving into 2020/21. The strategic model developed for
the next two years aims to integrate these elements to create a learning culture.
Clinical and System Leadership will be an important priority for 2020/21 and the appointment of our
Executive Medical Director who is a local GP provides direct investment in the professionals who
provide clinical leadership in our system. It is our intention to develop a Clinical Leadership
Programme using complimentary offers from our membership of the North West Leadership Academy
(NWLA) and the Advancing Quality Alliance (AQuA) together with other system resources. The
programme aims to provide insight and experience of clinical leadership supported by formal
leadership education and training in a blended approach.
During the year, the four CCGs worked together collaboratively across the OD agenda to pool
available resources and to begin the process of shaping the new health and care system in Cheshire.
Our OD Business Partner has shaped a new OD Offer for 2019/20 for all CCG staff, including our
Governing Body members and Clinical Leads, using a mix of internal resources; membership
organisation resources; system and partner resources. External resources were commissioned to
support the single CCG executive team and new governing body
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The plan identifies a range of interventions that will develop CCG staff for their current and future
roles across the system. The CCG have engaged with staff in developing the OD Prospectus for this
year which will follow through as the CCG moves into its new system structure.
The focus of organisational development over the next two years is fourfold:
• Developing a strong System Leadership Community
• Preparing the staff and organisation for change
• Integrating Staff Engagement with Organisational Development
• Building in-house capacity and capability for sustainable OD across the Cheshire system
In 2019 the Leading Change in Cheshire Programme took all 34 of our senior leaders through a
blended programme of Coaching, Action Learning and Master Classes and have now established a
leadership community that will operate across the CCG and two Integrated Care Partnerships in
Cheshire East and West. This includes six training facilitators in Action Learning techniques and a 3
day ‘preparing for change’ programme open to all CCG staff
In 2020/21 the focus will shift to Clinical Leadership supporting the newly appointed Executive Clinical
Director role at the CCGs. Working with colleagues in the ICPs and local system the CCG will be
creating a programme using resources from its Member organisations at North West Leadership
Academy and AQuA supported by an OD Business Partner; Healthskills. In addition the CCG will be
supporting the development of the new Primary Care Networks through the NWLA membership offer
for PCN Leadership which will be further developed with the planned Clinical leadership offers in
2020-21
The six action learning set facilitators are available to the Cheshire System to promote integrated
learning. This has been supplemented with the offer of small coaching contracts from Mid Cheshire
Hospitals NHSFT and the Coaching and Mentoring Hub at NWLA.
In addition training will be provided for a small group of staff in QI Methodologies and a second group
in general facilitation skills and the CCGs PMO will roll out a programme of sessions that support a
single approach to Project Management for the whole organisation. This will foster stronger
networking across our CCG sites and build working relationships. This pool of internal providers will
be support a move to sustained and self-sufficient OD providing a programme of skills sessions for
the whole organisation (and potentially system partners) in 2020/21.
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience & Response
In 2015 NHS England issued revised core standards for Emergency Planning, Resilience and
Response (EPRR). The CCG conducted a gap analysis against the standards and the CCG Incident
Response and Business Continuity Plans were reviewed at the same time.
Following a self-assessment process during 2019/20 NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG demonstrated
“Partial Compliance”. This means that “The organisation’s EPRR work programme demonstrates
sufficient evidence of progress and an action plan to achieve full compliance within the next 12
months”
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG maintained an on call managers system to ensure a 24/7 response.
The CCG invoked its business continuity plans to continue to deliver its operations via remote working
arrangements in compliance with social distancing guidance/requirements during March 2020. The
CCG continued to play a full part in the Local Health Resilience Partnership and relevant sub groups.
Trade Union Facility Time
The CCG has no employees currently acting as trade union representatives.
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2.3.5

Expenditure on consultancy

Note 5 to the accounts shows that expenditure on consultancy has increased from £173,000 to
£294,000. Consultancy services are used to provide professional insight into plans to improve
services and to assist with shaping potential transformation of services in the future. NHS Eastern
Cheshire received and spent funding on behalf of the Cheshire East place to plan services for that
place.

2.3.6

Off Payroll Engagements

Off payroll engagements are payments made by the CCG to employees outside of their payroll
system that are for more than £245 per day and that last for longer than six months.
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020
5
Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
0
for between one and two years at the time of reporting
0
for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting
0
for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting
0
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting
5
There were no off-payroll engagements of Board members / senior officials with significant financial
responsibility between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. All engagements were subject to an IR35
consistency review and this did not change the status of any of the engagements.
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
Nil
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
24
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure must
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements (2)
(1) There should only be a very small number of off-payroll engagements of board members and/or
senior officials with significant financial responsibility, permitted only in exceptional circumstances and
for no more than six months
(2) As both on payroll and off-payroll engagements are included in the total figure, no entries here
should be blank or zero

2.3.7

Exit Packages (Subject to Audit)

There were no exit packages, redundancies or special (non-contractual) payments between 1 April
2019 and 31 March 2020.

2.3.8

Executive Team Restructuring

During the year the CCG restructured its Executive Team so that it has a joint executive team working
across four CCGs, which are NHS Vale Royal CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS West
Cheshire CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG. As a consequence a new Joint Executive team was
recruited from the existing pool of Executives of the four CCGs and certain posts were been
advertised nationally. Now that this structure is in place, the CCGs are putting structures in place for
the rest of the organisation. The financial statements include a provision for restructuring on the
shared basis agreed, whilst recognising that any restructuring costs will be met from the resources of
the newly merged CCG.
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2.4

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at Section 2.5.

Accountable Officer’s Statement
To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Accountability Report presents a true and accurate
picture of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG.

Clare Watson
Clare Watson
Accountable Officer
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
24 June 2020
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2.5

Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Governing Body
2019/20
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Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of
NHS Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group in respect of NHS Eastern
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (the
‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2019 to 2020.
In our opinion, the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended; and



have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and



have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the
CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit
Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties,
including those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid19 and Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the
Accountable Officer and the related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of
preparation of the financial statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future economic
environment and future operational arrangements.
Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at
the date of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range
of possible outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in
response to these uncertainties when assessing the future operational arrangements. However, no audit
should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for an entity
associated with these particular events.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require
us to report to you where:


the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or



the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set
out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the
CCG’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks
associated with operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as
Covid-19 and Brexit. We analysed how those risks might affect continuation of operations over the
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. In
accordance with the above, we have nothing to report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the services
of the CCG will continue in operation.
Emphasis of matter – Demise of the organisation
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we draw attention to note 21 to
the financial statements, which indicates that NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG merged with NHS West
Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG to become NHS Cheshire CCG
on 1st April 2020. NHS Cheshire CCG took over the services and functions of NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the
Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board or
is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not
required to consider whether the Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks
are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:


the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and



based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our
knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published
together with the financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial
statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:


we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or



we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to
make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or



we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the
financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities set out on pages 47 to
48, the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and
on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national
body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector
entity.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the
financial statements.
The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with
Governance are responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the
financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have not been
able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's
resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been
able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered,
whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to
whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers
and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us
to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, except for the
arrangements in place for the sustainable resource deployment, due to the fact the CCG delivered a
deficit outturn in 2019/20 and has set a deficit budget for 2020/21.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of
Audit Practice.
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Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group, as a body, in respect of NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report, in respect of
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than NHS Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group and NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and the members of
the Governing Bodies of both Clinical Commissioning Groups, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Michael Green
Michael Green, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
Manchester
25 June 2020
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NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020

Note

2018-19
£'000

2019-20
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(657)
(657)

(1,054)
(1,054)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

3,855
314,081
67
10
202
318,215

3,972
298,538
67
168
287
303,032

Net Operating Expenditure

317,558

301,978

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year

317,558

301,978

-

-

317,558

301,978

Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year
The notes on pages 98 to 121 form part of this statement
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NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

2019-20

2018-19

£'000

£'000

9

149
149

184
184

10
11

3,092
0
3,092

1,599
115
1,714

3,241

1,898

(19,433)
(2,063)
(157)
(21,653)

(22,263)
(168)
(22,431)

(18,412)

(20,533)

-

-

Assets less Liabilities

(18,412)

(20,533)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(18,412)
(18,412)

(20,533)
(20,533)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

13
14
15

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

The notes on pages 98 to 121 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 94 to 121 were approved by the Governing Body on 25 June 2020 and
signed on its behalf by:

Clare Watson
Accountable Officer
Clare Watson
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 01 April 2019
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(20,533)

(20,533)

(317,558)
(317,558)
319,679
(18,412)

(317,558)
(317,558)
319,679
(18,412)

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

The notes on pages 98 to 121 form part of this statement
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(17,685)

(17,685)

(2)
(301,978)
(301,980)
299,132
(20,533)

(2)
(301,978)
(301,980)
299,132
(20,533)

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
10
13
15
15

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
11

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 98 to 121 form part of this statement
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2018-19
£'000

2019-20
£'000
(317,558)
67
0
(1,494)
(2,861)
(21)
10
(321,857)

(301,978)
67
(2)
4,569
(1,956)
0
168
(299,132)

0
0

(28)
(28)

(321,857)

(299,160)

319,679
319,679

299,132
299,132

(2,178)

(28)

115
(2,063)

143
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Notes to the financial statements
1

1.1

Accounting Policies
NHS England/ has directed that the financial statements of NHS Eastern Cheshire clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting
policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the
Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by
the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.
Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of
the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue
to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having joined with NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group, NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group to establish NHS Cheshire CCG with
effect from 1 April 2020. This followed approval at the NHS England Assurance and Development Committee meeting of 10 March 2020.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group
As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social Care
Group are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department of Health
and Social Care GAM requires the application of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give
rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.4

Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exist where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the agreement.
Where the clinical commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
Joint ventures are recognises as an investment and accounted for using the equity method.

1.5

Pooled Budgets
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Cheshire East Council and NHS South Cheshire CCG. Under the
arrangement, funds are pooled for Cheshire East Better Care Fund and note 19 provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pool is hosted by Cheshire East Council under a section 75 agreement between the parties. That agreement requires that plans are jointly agreed
and that services under the agreement are jointly commissioned. Regular meetings are held to monitor plans and commissioning arrangements.
Consequently this is a joint arrangement and NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure
arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

1.6

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the clinical
commissioning group.

1.7

Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding
is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.8
1.8.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
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1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.

1.10

Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning
group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.11
1.11.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
· It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
· It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
· It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
· The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
· The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
· Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial
control; or,
· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.11.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most
recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the
reporting date
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined
at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
· Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
· Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued
and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.11.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating expenses.

1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current
assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held
under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment
assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from
a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial
impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to
the revaluation reserve.
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1.13

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.13.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.

1.13.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical commissioning group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms. All
general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position
date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the
Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from
the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised
a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those
affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those
amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
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1.19

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
· Financial assets at amortised cost;
· Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
· Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.

1.19.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After
initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

1.19.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1.19.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.19.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance
representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as
the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.20

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.20.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1.20.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or
loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.20.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.21

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.22

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning group
has no beneficial interest in them.

1.23

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).
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1.24

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.

1.24.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
· ensuring that appropriate estimates are made for areas of estimation uncertainty as set out below
· ensuring that appropriate policies are in place for recognising contractual liabilities; contract providers record activities levels on databases which the
CCG is able to access and also in SLA Management spreadsheets. This allows the CCG to monitor activity and informs the CCG of the estimated
financial performance based on activity levels. This is used to estimate and agree estimates of unbilled amounts on contracts
· ensuring that appropriate policies are in place for considering any claims legal or for continuing health care.

1.24.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
· Data in respect of prescribing costs are usually received two months in arrears and it is necessary to estimate the amount that will be payable for the
last two months of the year. This estimate is based on a prescribing spend profile issued by NHS England. The amount estimated at the year end is
£5,319,000 (2018/19 - £5,142,000).
· Partially completed spells are periods of care for which the provider of those services has not billed their costs. The providers provide an estimate of
the costs that need to be billed and this estimate is checked to ensure it is reasonable in the light of data in relation to stays. The amount is agreed
between the provider and the CCG. The total amount accrued at the year end is £694,000 (2018/19 - £1,031,000).

1.25

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically
equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below
market value.

1.26

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21, and the government implementation
date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
· IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
· IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
· IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services

11
440
207
657

25
454
575
1,054

Total Operating Income

657

1,054
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3 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)
Education,
training and
research
£'000
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
11
11

Education,
training and
research
£'000
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

440
440

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
11
11

440
440
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Recoveries in
respect of
employee benefits
£'000
207
207

Recoveries in
respect of
employee benefits
£'000
207
207
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2019-20
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,060
248
430
3,738

117
117

3,177
248
430
3,855

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.3)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(207)
3,531

117

(207)
3,648

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

3,531

117

3,648

4.1.2 Employee benefits

2018-19
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,246
278
329
3,853

118
118

3,364
278
329
3,971

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.3)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(575)
3,278

118

(575)
3,396

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

3,278

118

3,396

4.1.3 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2019-20
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(207)
(207)
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2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000
-

(207)
(207)

Total
£'000
(575)
(575)
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2019-20
Permanently
employed
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

2018-19

Other
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

61

2

63

58

2

60

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
There were no exit packages in 2019-20 (2018-19 - £Nil). During the year the CCG agreed to put a joint management structure in place with
three other CCGs and it was further agreed that should any redundancies arise, these would be funded jointly. One individual at another CCG
was made redundant and disclosures in relation to that event are included in NHS Vale Royal CCG's financial statements. NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG's share of this of the cost of this exit package is £19,807.
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4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group
of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four
years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020 is based on valuation data as 31 March 2019 updated to 31 March
2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2016. The
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended
accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2016. The
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have
recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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5. Operating expenses
2018-19
Total
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total Purchase of goods and services

1,177
70,711
121,546
52,779
4,260
32,875
28,706
341
32
294
109
11
643
43

1,409
67,968
111,643
52,443
4,078
30,300
27,780
397
52
173
767
12
787
38

2
186
236
130
314,081

10
286
133
262
298,538

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges

67
67

67
67

Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense

10
10

168
168

201
1
202

286
1
(0)
287

314,360

299,060

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Expected credit loss on receivables
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

External audit fees for the year were £46,000 (2018-19 £46,000) inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.
The auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2019-20 is limited to £2m.
Other professional fees include internal audit fees of £38,000 (2018-19 £38,000) provided by an NHS organisation.
Chair and Non Executive Members costs in 2019-20 include employer’s pension and national insurance costs of
£16,000 (2018-19 £24,000 included within staff costs).
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6 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

9,889
9,803
99.13%

92,823
92,319
99.46%

9,390
9,314
99.19%

93,254
92,741
99.45%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,946
2,923
99.22%

195,048
194,922
99.94%

2,744
2,723
99.23%

182,260
181,952
99.83%

7. Finance costs
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG had no finance costs in 2019-20 (2018-19 £0)
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8. Operating Leases
8.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

184
184

Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments

2019-20
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
-

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
759
759

184
184

5
5

765
765

Arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases although a
lease has not been signed. Rental charges are cancellable at one years notice and the annual rent
commitment in respect of property occupied by the CCG is £86k (2019 - £86k).
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9. Property, plant and equipment
Information
technology
£'000
326

2019-20
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019

Furniture &
fittings
£'000

Total
£'000
-

326

Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020

32
358

-

32
358

Depreciation 01 April 2019
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2020

142
67
209

-

142
67
209

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

149

-

149

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2020

149
149

-

149
149

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2020

149
149

-

149
149

Minimum Life
(years)
3

Maximum Life
(Years)
5

9.1 Economic lives

Information technology
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10.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2019-20
£'000

Current
2018-19
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Total Trade & other receivables

787
374
245
1,270
316
(2)
102
3,092

594
599
40
25
323
(2)
20
1,599

Total current and non current

3,092

1,599

2019-20
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
750
60
810

2019-20
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
263
240
683
1,186

10.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

10.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 01 April 2019
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2
Balance as at 31 March 2020

Trade and other
receivables - Non
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
(2)
(2)

112

Other financial
assets

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
27
3
9
39

Total

£'000

£'000
-

(2)
(2)

2018-19
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
3
14
17
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11. Cash and cash equivalents
2019-20
£'000
115
(2,178)
(2,063)

2018-19
£'000
143
(28)
115

0

115
115

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Total bank overdrafts

(2,063)
(2,063)

-

Balance at 31 March 2020

(2,063)

115

Balance at 01 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2020
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

12. Analysis of impairments and reversals
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG had no impairments and reversals in 2019-20 (2018-19 £0)
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Current
2019-20
£'000

13. Trade and other payables

Current
2018-19
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS payables: Capital
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

2,104
32
4,955
1,503
10,280
36
28
495
19,433

2,006
2,760
3,819
12,980
38
46
614
22,263

Total current and non-current

19,433

22,263
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14. Borrowings

Current
2019-20
£'000

Current
2018-19
£'000

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

Bank overdrafts:
·
Government banking service
Total overdrafts

2,063
2,063

-

-

-

Total Borrowings

2,063

-

-

-

Total current and non-current

2,063

-

14.1 Repayment of principal falling due

Within one year
Total

Department of
Health
2019-20
£'000
2,063
2,063

115

Other
2019-20
£'000
-

Total
2019-20
£'000
2,063
2,063
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15. Provisions

Redundancy
Continuing care
Total

157
157

Current
2018-19
£'000
168
168

Total current and non-current

157

168

Current
2019-20
£'000

Redundancy
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2019
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2020

Continuing
Care
£'000

Total
£'000

168

-

168

112
(21)
(102)
157

-

112
(21)
(102)
157

157
157

-

157
157

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2020

During the year the CCG agreed to restructure four CCGs, which are NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS
West Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG. As a result it is considered likely that there will be a cost to this restructuring including
potential payment of some exit packages. The CCGs have calculated the potential likelihood and costs of the restructure by comparing
the number of posts in the agreed new structure with the number of existing posts and estimating the likely number of exit packages
required factoring in potential uncertainties around redeployment of roles affected. There is an agreement that any restructuring costs
will be shared across the partner CCGs on the basis of weighted population and the provision represents this CCGs share of the
estimated provision.

16. Contingencies
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG had no contingencies in 2019-20 (2018-19 £0)
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17. Financial instruments
17.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating
or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical
of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being
held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS
clinical commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject
to review by the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
17.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical
commissioning group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
17.1.2 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
17.1.3 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need
arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
17.1.4 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in
creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to
buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore
exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.
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17. Financial instruments cont'd
17.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Financial assets

Equity Instruments
designated at
FVOCI
2019-20
£'000

961
71
1,270
0
2,302

Total
2018-19
£'000

Total
2019-20
£'000
961
71
1,270
0
2,302

-

586
47
25
115
773

17.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total Financial liabilities

479
12,100
6,791
2,063
21,433

Other
2019-20
£'000

Total
2019-20
£'000

-

479
12,100
6,791
2,063
21,433

Total
2018-19
£'000
1,206
9,043
11,315
614
22,178

18. Operating Segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a single operating segment; Commissioning of Healthcare. All expenditure for the Clinical Commissioning Group
relates to this and the CCG's internal reports to senior management and the Governing Body are based on one segment.

118

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
19. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
19.1 Interests in joint operations
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group is part of a Better Care Fund along with NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and
Cheshire East Council. The memorandum account below shows expenditure for NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group:

Amounts
recognised in
Entities books ONLY
Name of
arrangement

Parties to the arrangement

Description of principal activities

2019-20

2018-19

Expenditure

Expenditure

£'000
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire
CCG and Cheshire East Council
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire
CCG and Cheshire East Council
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire
CCG and Cheshire East Council
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS South Cheshire
CCG and Cheshire East Council

Amounts
recognised in
Entities books
ONLY

£'000

Community Equipment Store

415

394

ECCCG Contribution to BCF

3,845

3,684

116

114

8,916

8,539

Contribution to Carers
BCF Home First Schemes
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20. Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2019/20
Bollington Medical Centre - Laura Beresford - Clinical Quality and Research Manager at Bollington
Medical Centre
High Street Surgery - Dr Mike Clark - Partner at High Street Surgery
Toft Road Surgery - Dr Jennifer Lawn - Partner at Toft Road Surgery
Annandale Medical Centre - Dr Jennifer Lawn - Spouse is Partner at Annandale Medical Centre
Holmes Chapel Health Centre - Dr Robert Thorburn - Partner at Holmes Chapel Health Centre
Wilmslow Health Centre - Dr Farhat Ahmed - Spouse is a Partner at Wilmslow Health Centre
Readesmoor Medical Centre - Dr Victoria Buckley - Partner at Readesmoor Medical Centre
Broken Cross Surgery - Dr Daniel Harle - Partner at Broken Cross Surgery
Vernova Healthcare - Joint Venture of Member Practices
South Cheshire & Vale Royal GP Alliance - Member practices include Ashfields Primary Care Centre
(Dr Andrew Wilson) , Merepark Medical Centre (Dr Gwydion Rhys) & Danebridge Medical Practice (Dr
Fiona McGregor-Smith)

2018/19
McIlvride Medical Practice - Dr Paul Bowen - Partner at McIlvride Medical Practice
Cumberland House Surgery - Dr Paul Bowen - Spouse is Partner at Cumberland House Surgery
Bollington Medical Centre - Laura Beresford - Clinical Quality and Research Manager at Bollington
Medical Centre
High Street Surgery - Dr Mike Clark - Partner at High Street Surgery
Toft Road Surgery - Dr Jennifer Lawn - Partner at Toft Road Surgery
Annandale Medical Centre - Dr Jennifer Lawn - Spouse is Partner at Annandale Medical Centre
Holmes Chapel Health Centre - Dr Robert Thorburn - Partner at Holmes Chapel Health Centre
Chelford Surgery - Dr Farhat Ahmed - Employee of Chelford Surgery
Wilmslow Health Centre - Dr Farhat Ahmed - Spouse is a Partner at Wilmslow Health Centre
Readesmoor Medical Centre - Dr Victoria Buckley - Partner at Readesmoor Medical Centre
Broken Cross Surgery - Dr Daniel Harle - Partner at Broken Cross Surgery
East Cheshire Hospice - Jane Stephens - Trustee at East Cheshire Hospice
Just Drop In - Jane Stephens - Spouse is a Trustee at Just Drop In
Vernova Healthcare - Joint Venture of Member Practices
Handforth Health Centre - Dr James Milligan - Partner at Handforth Health Centre
Kenmore Medical Practice - Dr Julia Huddard - Partner at Kenmore Medical Practice

2019/20
NHS England
East Cheshire NHS Trust
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust
North West Ambulance Service
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU

2018/19
NHS England
East Cheshire NHS Trust
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust
North West Ambulance Service
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU
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Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Payments to Related
Related Related
Related Party
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
5,287
1,208
1,547
1,268
2,515
1,851
1,998
820
4,378

-

375
4
120
70
111
123
81
160

(3)
-

110

-

-

-

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Payments to Related
Related Related
Related Party
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
942
45
2,336
10
1,510
1,200
1,417
1,256
2,530
1,317
1,737
1,980
767
596
82
3,268
1,488
1,762

-

74
13
72
60
125
59
83
109
13
230
68
110

-

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
110,522
16,568
20,442
13,466
7,324
9,072
1,060

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Related
Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
(318,008)
(709)
2,987
688
721
329
20
32
147
-

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
101,389
15,587
19,958
13,240
6,818
8,626
1,395

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Related
Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
(302,048)
1,898
(365)
151
96
(155)
(3)
(47)
80
(47)
356
-
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period
Non Adjusting events subsequent to the year end.
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having joined with NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group, NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group to establish NHS Cheshire
CCG with effect from 1 April 2020. This followed approval at the NHS England Assurance and Development Committee meeting of 10 March 2020.
Consequently, all the assets, liabilities as set out in the Statement of Financial Activities and all the undertakings of the Clinical Commissioning
Group were transferred to NHS Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group on 1 April 2020. As the services provided by the Clinical Commissioning
Group continue, no adjustments have been made in these accounts in respect of this transfer.
In the period from April 2020 to July 2020, NHS Cheshire CCG has been operating in accordance with a budget set by NHS England as part of the
response to Covid 19. NHS England have not yet confirmed the financial framework that will be put in place from August 2020. If the CCG were
operating based on the published allocation for 2020-21, which amounts to £1,184M, based on previous performance, the CCG would expect
expenditure to exceed this allocation. Due to the COVID 19 national emergency, it is unclear what the financial position of the CCG will be for
2020-21. The CCG will continue its work with other health care organisations to ensure that the healthcare system in Cheshire achieves value for
money for the taxpayer. The CCG has the continued support of NHS England and hence the going concern basis of accounting continues to be
appropriate.

22. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
Performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2019-20
Target
318,264
32
317,578
32
4,504

NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group achieved the 2019-20 financial performance targets.
23. Losses and special payments
23.1 Losses
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG had no losses and special payments in 2019-20 (2018-19 £Nil)
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2019-20
Performance
318,244
32
317,558
32
3,848

2018-19
Target
303,102
302,048
4,356

2018-19
Performance
303,032
301,978
4,302
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Appendix 1 Governance Structure (at 31 March 2020)
“Statutory”
Committees
(meeting in common
across the four
Cheshire CCGs)

“Discretionary”
Committees (joint
committees of the
four Cheshire CCGs)

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee(s)

Provides
information /
intelligence to

Governance, Audit
& Risk
Committee(s)

Governing Body
(Meeting in Common across the four
Cheshire CCGs)

Membership

Quality &
Safeguarding
Committee

Strategic
Commissioning and
Performance
Committee
123

Remuneration
Committee(s)

Executive Team

Finance
Committee

Formally reports
into / is
accountable to
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Appendix 2 - Governing Body Biographies
Dr Andrew Wilson - Clinical Chair
Dr Wilson trained as a pharmacist and completed an MPhil in
pharmacology before training in medicine and graduating from
the University of Birmingham in 1996. He worked as a hospital
doctor at both Leighton and Macclesfield Hospitals before
completing his training at a GP practice in Sandbach. After time
as a locum GP, salaried GP and then GP partner in Crewe, he
returned to Sandbach where he's been a partner for the last 13
years. As well as his varied clinical interests which include
musculoskeletal medicine and holistic approaches, he is
interested in quality improvement and leadership. He is particularly passionate about the
value of generalists such as district nurses, practice nurses and GPs, and the use of the
frontline care professional voice alongside those that use services in the redesign and
improvement of services.
Clare Watson - Accountable Officer
Clare started her role as Accountable Officer for the four
Cheshire CCGs on January 1st 2019 and became the
Accountable Officer of NHS Cheshire CCG on April 1st
2020. Working in the NHS for more than 25 years, Clare
has a clear focus on integration and partnership working.
Bringing her experience of transformation in Greater
Manchester to commissioning in Cheshire, Clare has a
passion for commissioning based on holistic health and wellbeing, making a real
difference to local populations. Clare brings her experience and passion for delivering
place based integrated care and sustainability to her new role as Accountable Officer for
Cheshire CCG. She will support the improvement of outcomes through developing
Integrated Care Partnerships as well as leading the Working Together As Cheshire
programme in order to make a real difference to the patients and public of Cheshire.
Lynda Risk - Executive Director of Finance and Contracts
Lynda is a chartered accountant by profession and has worked
in the NHS for over 25 years. After qualifying as a chartered
accountant, Lynda moved into the NHS in North Wales initially in
audit and then as Associate Director of Finance, looking after the
financial accounts, a number of secondary care contracts and
GP fund holding. After a period of 4 years Lynda moved to the
North West Regional Office as the primary care finance lead for
the North West Region, and became the North West Primary
Care Red Book expert. Feeling the need to get back to the coal
face, Lynda moved to South Cheshire and became the Head of Finance for the Central
Cheshire and Crewe and District PCGs, this involved managing the PCG financial
budgets and a contracting portfolio including Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust. After
the advent of PCTs, Lynda moved into the commissioning team, taking on performance,
information and contracting including their related management accounting functions.
This ultimately involved the development and implementation of payment by results. As
the contracting function became more complex and the PCTs in East and Central
Cheshire merged, Lynda became more focussed on the contracting agenda. When
CCGs were established Lynda decided to move back into mainstream finance and
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became the Chief Finance Officer for NHS Vale Royal and NHS South Cheshire CCGs.
In 2019, Lynda interviewed for and was appointed to the Executive Director for Finance
and Contracting for NHS Cheshire CCG. This is a role Lynda feels very privileged to
have been awarded and hopes to help improve the health outcomes of the population of
Cheshire
Dr Mike Clark - General Practice Representative
Dr Mike Clark MB ChB MRCS MRCGP graduated from
Manchester University in 1995. Mike has been a GP partner in
High Street Surgery, Macclesfield since 2005, and is the practice’s
prescribing lead. Alongside his work in practice, Mike is a GP with
a specialist interest in urology, vasectomy and minor surgery. His
work in the CCG focuses on the Empowered Person, shared
decision making and supported self-management, as well as
leading on several clinical areas including ophthalmology and
gastroenterology (two areas that have seen significant capacity
and demand issues in recent years). He is a strong advocate of supporting people to
take more responsibility for their own care.
Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith - General Practice Representative
Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith BSc MB ChB MRCGP graduated
from St Andrew’s University in 1983 and Manchester
University in 1986. Fiona has been a GP partner with
Danebridge Medical Practice, Northwich since 1991. Currently
executive partner, she has a particular interest in women's
health. She has previously held clinical auditing and medical
advisory roles with NHS organisations. She has most
recently been the prescribing lead for the Vale Royal area,
working with the medicines management teams in the
community and local hospitals. Fiona is looking forward to
helping the Governing Body develop a strategic approach to commissioning across the
wider Cheshire footprint.
Dr Gwydion Rhys - General Practice Representative
Originally from Aberystwyth in Wales, Dr Gwydion Rhys trained in
Warwickshire and Staffordshire, and is currently doing research
on musculoskeletal pain at Keele University. Gwydion has a
variety of medical interests, particularly dermatology. At weekends
he enjoys gardening, woodworking and playing badminton.
Gwydion is currently enjoying looking after a new brood of
chickens.
Dr Lesley Appleton - General Practice Representative
Lesley has been a GP in Cheshire GP for nine years following
completion of her training in South Wales. Currently, she is a
salaried GP in Neston.
Clinical lead for planned care in West Cheshire for eight years,
she was voted by the West Cheshire GP membership to become
one of the Governing Body GPs for NHS Cheshire CCG in
December 2019. She is also an educational lead for Health
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Education Northwest, teaching GP trainees in Liverpool. Lesley is passionate about
leadership and education. Through her role on the Governing Body, she looks forward to
improving care for patients across Cheshire.
Suzanne Horrill - Independent Lay Member (Governance)
Suzanne graduated as a Chartered Accountant in 1996, having
trained at Price Waterhouse first in Liverpool then in Manchester
before working for several years in internal audit at Airtours
plc. From there Suzanne moved back into practice at Ernst &
Young as a senior manager in its Business Risk Services division
in Manchester. In 2007 Suzanne moved into the public sector and
joined Transport for Greater Manchester as its Head of Risk and
Assurance. Other current roles include being an independent
audit committee member for a social housing organisation in
Lancashire, and Lay Member for NHS England’s pharmaceutical
regulatory committee.
Peter Munday - Independent Lay Member (Governance)
Peter is a qualified accountant living in Macclesfield. He works as
a management consultant, coach and lecturer/trainer,
predominantly in the healthcare sector. He has 25 years’
experience of working with NHS organisations and also has
experience of the healthcare systems in Ireland and the US. He
operates mainly in service development and change roles, with a
particular interest in health economics and new capital
investment. Peter has extensive experience of delivering
business cases for new schemes in primary, community and
acute care - including mental health. He also has a strong interest in leadership and
management development. Peter is fully committed to the aims and values of the NHS,
and recognises the enormous effort made by its dedicated and professional staff. Given
the huge challenges faced by the NHS, he is also committed to helping ensure that the
people of Cheshire have continued access to first-class healthcare services. Peter also
teaches part time at Lymm High School, as part of a Manchester University outreach
scheme. He is active in the local community as Welfare Officer at Tytherington Juniors’
Football Club and as a coach at Macclesfield Boys’ Boxing Club. He is married with four
children.
Wendy Williams - Independent Lay Member (Engagement, Involvement and
Experience)
Wendy’s commitment to the NHS over the last 20 years has been
extensive and she recently completed her term of office as Chair of
the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre. She has held three previous nonexecutive director positions in the NHS at Liverpool Heart and Chest
NHS Foundation Trust, Countess of Chester Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust and the Walton Centre NHS Foundation
Trust. Other NHS activities include assessing for the Clinical
Excellence Awards, coaching doctors in difficulty and being a
voluntary mentor for a wide range of NHS staff. Wendy is also in her fifth year as a
member of the Board of Governors for Liverpool John Moores University. As a result of
her experience as a change director in both the public and private sector, Wendy was
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brought in to lead large-scale change projects in several UK central government
departments as well as private sector organisations in France, Germany and the US. She
continues to coach executives on handling change. Wendy has always lived in the North
West and has an honours degree in Psychology / Communication Studies from Liverpool
University. Wendy is married and has two children, four grandchildren and two dogs. She
is an enthusiastic skier, walker and cook.
Pam Smith - Independent Lay Member (Engagement, Involvement and Experience)
Pam is an occupational therapist by profession. She worked in
local government for 32 years in social care, during which time
she managed care homes, inspected and redesigned services
and worked in various management positions. Her last role was
executive director for Warrington Borough Council where she
managed adult social care; environmental health; trading
standards; libraries; culture, sport and leisure services; and
neighbourhood development. She was also a member of the
Primary Care Trust Board and Professional Executive
Committee. Pam has her own consultancy company advising health, local government
and housing associations; is an Advancing Quality Alliance associate; a non-executive
director of a housing association and has a history of undertaking work in order to
improve the quality of social care services. She has worked with the Care Quality
Commission as a professional advisor and worked to produce the Department of Health
document “Homes are for Living In” and the National Dementia Strategy. Pam has been
responsible for working in partnership to deliver large housing-with-care services in the
North West and has worked with many health and local authorities to encourage Dignity
in Care. She lives with her husband on a Cheshire farm, and likes travelling, cooking and
gardening.
Chris Lynch - Co-opted Independent Lay Member (non-voting attendee)
After graduating with a business degree and with 10 years’
experience in the restaurant industry, Chris returned to university to
study psychology at the University of Chester and graduated in
2012. Having used mental health services on and off for more than
30 years, Chris is passionate about peer support and has helped
run a small user-led organisation in Chester for the last decade
(Chester PLUS). In that time, he has also helped set up a number
of peer support groups across Cheshire and has been involved
with the running of both West Cheshire Mental Health Forum and
West Cheshire Mental Health Partnership Board. Chris has been a service user,
involvement representative and service user governor of Cheshire and Wirral Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust. He has served as a trustee of Rethink Mental Illness, is currently
a trustee of the British Psychological Society and a member of Time to Change’s Senior
Management Group. Chris is a member of the National Institute for Health Research
Mental Health Policy Research Unit’s Lived Experience Working Group and sits on
University College London’s Institute of Mental Health Advisory Board. He is also a Lived
Experience Advisor for Mind and Equally Well UK. He has also been involved as a
national advisor in several pieces of work featured in the NHS Long Term Plan including
the community mental health framework for adults and older adults and the mental health
safety improvement programme. Chris is passionate about peer support, co-production,
patient leadership, asset-based community development and reducing inequalities.
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